
CITY OF WEST BEND 

BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKSAGENDA 

MEETING: MAY 6, 2024 AT  6:25 PM 

  Council Chambers  

  1115 S. Main Street, West Bend, WI 53095 

 

City of West Bend Page 1 Updated 5/2/2024 4:44 PM  

 

The following matters may be discussed and possible action taken: 

 

Call to Order 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Board of Public Works - Regular Meeting - Apr 15, 2024 6:25 PM 

Agenda Items for Consideration 

2. Approval of Storm Water Management Practices Maintenance Agreement - W24-01 - N Dulge 

3. Award C24-09 Crack and joint filling of pavements 

4. Ridge Run Jim and Anne White Family Cabin Renovations - Permission to Bid 

5. Water Utility Rate Review 

6. Sewer Utility Rate Review 

7. Relocation Order (Revised Plat) - Safety Improvement at 3 signalized intersections along STH 

"33" 

Adjourn 
 

Persons with disabilities requiring special accommodations for attendance at the meeting should contact the City Clerk at 

least (1) business day prior to the meeting. 

 

NOTICE OF COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

Members of the Common Council may attend the above meeting.  Pursuant to State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village 

Board, 173 Wis.2d 553, 494 N. W. 2d 408 (1993) such attendance may be considered a meeting of the Common 

Council.  This notice is given so that members of the Common Council may attend the meeting without violating the 

open meeting law. 



CITY OF WEST BEND 

BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKSMINUTES 

MEETING: APRIL 15, 2024 AT  6:25 PM 

  Council Chambers  

  1115 S. Main Street, West Bend, WI 53095 

 

City of West Bend Page 1 Updated 5/1/2024 9:47 AM  

 

Call to Order 

The Board of Public Works was called to order.  Alderman Jed Dolnick presiding. 
 

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 

John Butschlick Chariman/Alderman Excused  

Mark Allen Alderman Present  

Brett Bergquist Alderman Present  

Matt Sternig Alderman Present  

Jed Dolnick Alderman Present  

John Spartz Aldernan Present  

Justice Madl Alderman Present  

Aaron Zingsheim Alderman Present  

 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Board of Public Works - Regular Meeting - Apr 1, 2024 6:25 PM 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Mark Allen, Alderman 

SECONDER: Justice Madl, Alderman 

AYES: Allen, Bergquist, Sternig, Dolnick, Spartz, Madl, Zingsheim 

EXCUSED: Butschlick 

Agenda Items for Consideration 

2. Award Contract 24-03 Butternut Street (Main to Eder) and Maplewynde Street (Eder to Sylvan) 

Reconstruction 

City Engineer Max Marechal summarized the details of the bids received for the reconstruction of 

Butternut Street and Maplewynde St.  He noted that Engineering's cost estimate was around $1.5 

million.  The low bidder, Advance Construction, came in at $1,130,062.65.  He also requested a 

contingency amount of $61,937.35, for a total allocation not to exceed $1,192,000.00.    

1

Packet Pg. 2

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

15
, 2

02
4 

6:
25

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



Minutes Board of Public Works April 15, 2024 

City of West Bend Page 2 Updated 5/1/2024 9:47 AM  

 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Justice Madl, Alderman 

SECONDER: Matt Sternig, Alderman 

AYES: Allen, Bergquist, Sternig, Dolnick, Spartz, Madl, Zingsheim 

EXCUSED: Butschlick 

3. Award Contract 24-02 Hawthorn Drive Reconstruction (7th Avenue to 5th Avenue) 

City Engineer Max Marechal summarized the details of the bids received for the reconstruction of 

Hawthorn Drive.  He noted that Engineering's cost estimate was around $996,935.  The low bidder, 

Advance Construction, came in at $798,938.70.  He also requested a contingency amount of 

$43,861.30, for a total allocation not to exceed $842,800.00.    

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Justice Madl, Alderman 

SECONDER: Matt Sternig, Alderman 

AYES: Allen, Bergquist, Sternig, Dolnick, Spartz, Madl, Zingsheim 

EXCUSED: Butschlick 

4. Approval of Storm Water Management Practices Maintenance Agreement–W7-16 Amendment 3 

City Engineer Max Marechal summarized the Storm Water Maintenance Agreement.  He requested 

approval of this agreement.    

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Mark Allen, Alderman 

SECONDER: Matt Sternig, Alderman 

AYES: Allen, Bergquist, Sternig, Dolnick, Spartz, Madl, Zingsheim 

EXCUSED: Butschlick 

Adjourn 

The Board of Public Works was adjourned at 6:37pm 

1

Packet Pg. 3

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

15
, 2

02
4 

6:
25

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



 

 

 

Engineering 

 

 

 
DATE: April 29, 2024 

TO: Board of Public Works 

FROM: Max Marechal, City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Approval of Storm Water Management Practices Maintenance Agreement - W24-

01 - N Dulge 

 

Could you place an item on the agenda of the meetings of the Board of Public Works and 

Common Council to consider a recommendation to approve the Storm Water Management 

Practices Maintenance Agreement for a proposed development at 305 Jefferson Street (parcel 

1119-111-0111)?  A copy of the agreement is attached for your information. 

 

The proposed project consists of constructing a salon and spa on a currently empty parcel located 

at 305 Jefferson Street. The stormwater runoff will be directed to a bio-filter to comply with code 

requirement. 

 

The agreement specifies responsibilities for inspection and maintenance of the storm water 

facilities.  All facilities will be private and will be maintained by the property owner.  The owner 

of the property must annually submit their inspection reports and maintenance logs to the city 

engineer, who will retain them for 10 years.  The agreement gives the city authority to correct 

maintenance problems with the facilities if the property owner fails to do so, and to charge back 

any costs to the property. 

 

The agreement is a safeguard to assure that the storm water management facilities continue to 

operate as designed.  The agreement will be recorded at Washington County.  City Attorney, Ian 

Prust, reviewed the agreement and found it satisfactory as to form. 

 

The agreement also meets requirements of the City-wide storm water permit from the DNR.  In 

order for the city to claim credit toward water quality improvement, an agreement is required for 

storm water facilities on private properties. 

 

We recommend that the Board and Council approve the agreement.  We have provided the Clerk 

with the original document for signatures in the event that our recommendation is followed.  The 

Clerk will record the document if approved, and Engineering will invoice the owner for the 

recording fee. 

2

Packet Pg. 4



 

If you have any questions or comments, please call me at (262) 335-5130. 

2

Packet Pg. 5



2.a

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



EXHIBIT A 2.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



2.a

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

24
-0

1 
- 

S
W

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
ig

n
ed

 b
y 

O
w

n
er

  (
S

to
rm

 W
at

er
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
W

24
-0

1 
- 

N
 D

u
lg

e)



 

 

 

Engineering 

 

 

 
DATE: April 29, 2024 

TO: Board of Public Works 

FROM: Max Marechal, City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Award C24-09 Crack and joint filling of pavements 

 

Could you place an item on the agenda for the May 06, 2024, meeting of the Board of Public 

Works and Common Council to consider a recommendation to award Contract 24-09, Crack and 

Joint Sealing of Pavements at Various Locations? 

 

The project was bid with four groups of streets based on a priority system. We have been using 

this grouping method in bidding this contract for several years because of some fluctuations of 

material prices, which made it harder to predict how much work we can afford with each year’s 

budget. The alternates allow us to get some work done each year, even if prices are higher than 

expected, instead of bidding all quantities together and potentially having to reject the bids if 

they all come in over budget. 

 

Three (3) bids for Contract 24-09 were received and opened at 10:00 A.M. on Friday, April 26, 

2024, and are summarized below. 

 

Contractor Asphalt Seal and Thunder Fahrner Asphalt 

 Repair, Inc. Road LLC Sealers, LLC  

Base Bid $ 50,069.00 $ 59,660.00 $ 47,031.00 

Alternate 1 $ 17,710.00 $ 32,615.00 $ 26,896.00 

Alternate 2 $ 16,490.00 $ 22,450.00 $ 22,327.00 

Alternate 3 $ 18,430.00 $ 32,250.00 $ 78,355.00  

TOTAL $ 102,699.00 $ 146,975.00 $ 174,609.00 

 

Asphalt Seal and Repair, Inc. is the apparent low bidder. Since they have not done work under 

contract for the City in the past, we requested the provide references with other communities 

where they performed similar work in the past three years, and we are awaiting their list at the 

time this memo is being written.  We will present the results of reference check at the meetings, 

and finalize our recommendation for award. 

 

If references confirm Asphalt Seal and Repair Inc. as our recommendation for award, we would 

3

Packet Pg. 17



then recommend awarding them contract 24-09, in the amount of $102,699.00 specified in their 

bid proposal for work actually performed.  We would also recommend that a contingency fund of 

$5,301.00 (5.16 % of total bid) be established for a total allocation not to exceed $108,000.00 for 

this project. 

 

An "Award of Contract" form is attached for use by the Board of Public Works and Common 

Council in the event that they act favorably on this recommendation. 

 

If you have any questions or comments, please call me at (262) 335-5130. 

3

Packet Pg. 18



£¤45

£¤45

!(33

I

SAND

DR

SAND

DR

MONR
OE

STADAMS ST

CT

LAKERIDGE

WOODSEDGE
CIR

RAINBOW 
LAKE LN

ELDER
DR

S WALLACE

LAKE  DR

BE
CK

  L
N 

 N

TERRY DALE
CT

FO
RE

ST
VIE

W
  D

R

DALE  DRTERRY

CURTIS
LN

BE
CK

  L
N 

 S

DAVIDS  VIEW  DRDAVIDS VIEW  DR

SOUTHWOOD
TR

DR
CECILIA

BERNADINE
CIR

WINGATE

LN W

WINGATE
LN E

WINGATE
CTDAISY  DR

SU
NF

LO
WE

R 
 

AV
E

LIL
Y  

 AV
E

RO
BI

N 
 ST

VIC
TO

RI
A  

ST

MA
RC

IA 
  A

VE

HANS       ST 
ANNIE       STHA

NS

ST

SANDY

ACRE  CT

WELLING T ON
DR

E SANDY 
ACRE RD

AUBURN  RD

AVE

LE
E

LE
E 

   A
VE

MO
OR

E 
   A

VE DR

AU
TU

MN

SUMAC   DR

FIRETHORN

DR
CONIFER

AVE

ROYAL DR

TAY
LO

R
LA

AVEWILSONSUMMER
ST

STLINDEN

SHERWOOD  PL

MEADOWBROOK
DR

SHERMAN
WAY

BARBIE
DR

JU
BI

LE
E 

  A
VE

DR

SK
YL

IN
E

DR

COMMERCE  ST

SUNSET RIDGE

DR

ROOSEVELT DR

CARDINAL
DR

LN
LN MCKINLEY ST

LENORA   DR
HEMLOCK  ST
CANARY   ST

LE
NO

RA
    

   D
R

LANG ST

PO   ST

LN

DR
  (E

) 

SA
ND

Y A
CR

E
DR

S  
16

TH
   A

VE
17

TH
    

 AV
E

BIRCH TER

WE
ST

WO
OD

  T
R

LIN
DA

DR

CHEROKEE     DR

DE
NN

IS
PA

TH

ANNETTE
CT

IN
DI

AN
 LO

RE
  R

D

BA
RB

ER
CI

RGLENWAY     DR

FO
RS

ET
H

CT

TERRACE
DR

JA
ME

ST
OW

N
CT

DR
LN

OR
CHARD ST

EDEN

WOOD

5T
H

8T
H

9T
H

RD

DR

OA
K

S
RD

VO
GT

DR

DR

ST

CR
YS

TA
L

LN

REDWOOD ST

ORIOLECT

JOHN
CT

VIVIAN CT

PAMME

CT

WA
LS

H

CT
CALEB

SANDY KNOLL
CT

TOLBERT
LN

LINCOLN   DR   E

N  
RIVE

R  D
R

LENW
OOD  DR

MA
YF

LO
W

ER
  R

D

N 
 R

IVE
R 

  R
D

EA
ST

WO
OD

  T
R

KAELIN
LN

HA
RD

EG
EN

AV
E

JA
ME

ST
OW

N 
  D

R

RO
LF

S 
    

AV
E

WAY

BABALEE LN

BR
IAR

  D
R

ST
RA

TF
OR

D
RD

HI  MOUNT
RD

JACKSON  ST

CAMDEN
LN

LOCKHORN  
CIR

BL
UE

BE
LL

DRDANDELION

LARKSPUR   LN

N 
 8T

H 
 AV

E
HIGH ST

VE
RN ST

PEARTREE
CT

EA
RL

 S
TIE

R
DR AE

RI
AL

DR HA
EN DR

CH
OP

PE
R

DR

S  
    

 O
AK

    
    

   R
D

RUSCO              DR

COLLEENLN

JACQUELINE
DR

PATRICK  CT

CT

FRONTIER

WH
ISP

ER
IN

G 
PI

NE
S

RUSCO             DRHIGH   RIDGE   TR

MA
PL

E 
    

    
   R

D

PRAIRIE
DRTU

MB
LE

WE
ED

AV
E

TUMBLEWEED CIR

SA
ND

AL
WO

OD
AV

E

WATERCRESS
CIR

HOLLY
LN

SC
EN

IC

MU
NI

CI
PA

L  
  D

R

ST
OC

KH
AU

SE
N 

 LN

ENTERPRISE ST

WIN GATE ST

CREE KSIDE
DRAC

AD
IA

AV
E

FOXTAIL
CT

COUNTRY
CREEK CR

SOUTH
ST

LINWOOD
TER

JA
ME

S 
   C

T JANET  PL

SH
ER

ID
AN

    
DR

JU
DI

TH
CT

JU
NI

PE
R 

    
    

  C
THILLCREST     ST

IM
PE

RI
AL

    
 C

T

PARTRIDGE
CT

WI
NC

HE
ST

ER
DR

MA
DI

SO
N

AV
E

PL
EA

SA
NT

DR

PENNSYLVANIA   AVE

AUXILIARY  CT

EA
ST

ER
N 

 AV
E

MICHIGAN  AVE

KILBOURN  AVE
STMAPLE

PINE  DR

EDGEWOOD  LN
WILLOW   LN

EA
ST

AV
E

N 
 FO

RE
ST

    
 AV

E

WISCONSIN   ST

SYCAMORE
ST

LOCUST  ST

3R
D 

    
    

    
    

    
  A

VE
2N

D 
    

    
    

    
    

   A
VE

S  
FO

RE
ST

  A
VEWATER ST

RICHARD'S  PL

WEBSTER  PL

EA
ST

ER
N

AV
E

WE
IN

ER
T

RD

IVY
PL SUNSET   DR

BIRCHWOOD  DR

LIN
CO

LN
    

    
DR

    
 W

HAWTHORN

DR

LINCOLNDR  N

LINCOLN
DR  S

VINE          ST

BUTTERNUT     ST

GREEN VALLEY PL

GR
EE

NB
RI

AR
CT

WO
OD

RI
DG

E

LO
NG

ME
AD

OW
DR

MAPLEWYNDE RD
RD

HEATHER
DRED

ER

BITTERSWEET
DR

LN

ED
WA

RD
CT

CA
RL

A
LN

SAND DR

ME
RI

DI
AN

  A
VE

SHADOWOOD
CIR

POLARIS  ST

AV
E

IND
IAN

A

TRILLIUM
CT

HARGROVE  ST

STONEBRIDGE  CIRST
ON

EB
RI

DG
E 

   R
D

MA
RI

E
CT

MINZ

PARK

CIR

ME
TA

LC
RA

FT
RD

W   PROGRESS   DR

E  PROGRESS   DR

FRANKLIN
PL

HERON  DR

RAIL   WAYRAIL
PL

MILEVIEW   RD

JUNIPER
LN

OLD HICKORY
PL

WOODHILL
CT

JUNIPER
LN

PARKWAY
DR

CT

GA
TE

WA
Y

HEARTLAND
PL

CENTER  DR

SPAETH
ST

ESKER DR

GARDENLN

CARRIELN

CT
CL

AR
EN

CE

VOGT  DR

ASPENPL

CABRINI
CIR

DR

SCHLOEMER

VIN
E

H IGHLANDVIEW

CHAPEL
HILL PL

N 
 16

TH
  A

VE
N 

 15
TH

  A
VE

S  
16

TH
  A

VE
S  

15
TH

  A
VE

S  
 15

TH
    

   A
VE

S  
 14

TH
    

   A
VE

ST

ST

POPLAR

S  
    

  1
0T

H

ST

AV
E

AV
E

AV
E

COLUMBIA
PL

BARRINGTON
CT

ARTHUR
PL

5T
H

AV
E

FOXLAND
PL

SPRING DR

5T
H 

AV
E

S  
6T

H 

COURTLAND
PL

DR

CO
NC

OR
D

HILLTOP    DR

MILLER      ST

CEDAR ST

S S

AV
E

AV
E

S S17
TH

    
 AV

E

SU
MM

IT 
    

DR

RI
DG

E 
    

RD
HI

GH
LA

ND
VIE

W
DR

PINE DRSUMMIT
CT

N   MAIN   ST

MILL
ST

W   OAK

AV

N 
 9T

H 
 AV

E
MITTER

CIR

BEECH
ST

KUESTER 
LN N

KUESTER 
LN S

SC
HM

ID
T  

   R
D

TOWER
LN

HARRISON

CT

GRANT
PL

N 
 14

TH
  A

VE
N 

13
TH

 AV
E RD

GL
EN CT

ANGELA
CT

STALDER

PRIMROSE

N 
    

    
 10

TH
    

 AV
E

N 
    

 11
TH

    
 AV

E

FOND 
DU LAC ST

HA
RRISO

N  S
T

MONR
OE  

    S
T

KO
LL

ER
LAAV

E

BA
RT

ON

RIVER
DR

WOODLAWN

AVE

WAYNE

N
12

TH
    

 AV
E

MINT
DRBU

TT
ER

CU
P

CT

MU
LB

ER
RY

DR
  W

HOLLOW
CIR

DR
  E

MU
LB

ER
RY CHERRY

ST

WESLYNCT
TAMARACK

CT

TA
MARACK

DR

PEBBLESTONE
PL

ROCK RIDGE RD

ROAD 2A

DRSILVER  LAKE

OVERLOOKCT

DR

QUAAS               DR

OVERLOOK
CIR E

OV
ER

LO
OK

CI
R 

 W

SIL
VE

RB
RO

OK

DR

SIL
VE

RB
RO

OK
  D

R

SIL
VE

RB
RO

OK
    

  D
R

W OAK

QUIETWOOD
LN

WATER  ST

 W   WASHINGTON   ST

AV
E

SCHMIDT   RD

MA
IN

ST

E   DECORAH   RD

N 
  R

IVE
R 

  R
D

S  
  M

AIN
    

ST

PARADISE    DR

N 
  1

8T
H 

  A
VE

S  
    

    
18

TH
    

    
   A

VE

N 
    

 R
IV

ER
    

 R
D

BA

RTON AVE

E   DECORAH   RD

W   RUSCO  DR

N 
    

18
TH

    
   A

VE

E   PARADISE     DR

S  
TR

EN
TO

N 
 R

D

N   MAIN  ST

JEFFERSON      ST

PATRICIA  DR

WALLACE      LAKE     RD

MAPLEDALE RD

N 
    

 TR
EN

TO
N 

    
  R

D

BARNEYCT

RD

GR
EE

N 
TR

EE

GR
EE

N 
 TR

EE
  R

D

N

MARTIN
CT

CHESTNUTST

N 
  IN

DI
AN

A  
    

    
AV

E SC
HO

EN
HA

AR
DR

DEERFIELD            DR

RD
CREEK

S  
   R

IV
ER

    
 R

DS
INDIANA

AVE

CREEK     DR

DR
CL

EA
R 

   V
IEW

E    WASHINGTON    ST

SAND

DR

STVINE

S  
  M

AIN
    

    
ST

W  DECORAH      RD E  DECORAH      RD

1  BUCKINGHAM LN
2  HAWTHORN LN
3  WESTMINSTER CT
4  KATHRYN LN
5  COBBLESTONE PL
6  FIELDSTONE CT
7  STONEWOOD CIR

1   RIVERSHORES DR
2   SHORE LN
3   VILLAGE GREEN WAY
4   RIVERBEND DR
5   YAHR ST

1  SUNNYDALE CIR
2  OAKFIELD ST
3  SPRUCE ST
4  WHITE SANDS CT
5  RED PINE CT

1  LENORA CT
2  RAVEN  ST

6   WEST ST
7   WOLCOTT ST
8   MIDLAND AVE
9   MAYER ST
10 CENTER ST

1  BROOKS CT
2  WILLOWBROOK DR
3  MULBERRY CIR
4  MULBERRY CT

PARK   AVE

ST

KINROSS
CT

1  CLOVERVIEW  ST
2  SUMMERHILL DR
3  SAGEWOOD CIR

E   RUSCO    DR
1  HERON WAY
2  QUAIL CIR
3  KINGFISHER DR
4  EAGLES CT
5  KILDEER CT

W     PARADISE   DR

1  MORAINE CT
2  SANDUR PL

E    PARADISE    DR

LORRIN
PL

1  THEKLA LN
2  GOLDCREST CT
3  HARGROVE PL
4  LILAC LN
5  INDIANA CT
6  CROCUS CT

HIDDEN

WATERS
CIR

HIDDEN FIELDS DR

SCHLOEMER  DR PL

RHYNIE
CT

STIRLING
CT

S  
7T

H 
  A

VE

BE
ND

E R
RD

DE
CK

E R
DR

MORGAN DR

WALLACE      LAKE      RD

EA
ST

WO
OD

CT

IND
IAN

LO
RE

  R
D

VALLEY  RD1  ANNIE PL
2  WILLIAMS  CT
3  LEGION CIR

ID
L E

WO
OD

AV
E

SH
E R

ID
AN

D R

GATEWOOD
DR

6T
H

HI
GH

LA
ND

VIE
W

DR

8T
H

AV
E

S UMM IT DR

WALNUT

S 1
1T

H 
AV

E
S 1

2T
H 

AV
E

ST

PRINCETONPL

LAUREL  DR  S

SY
LV

AN
SY

LV
AN

HUMAR ST

ME
AD

OW
CT

GOLDENROD
CIR

DR
AC

RE
S

ELDERBERRY
ST

HA
ZE

LN
UT

CT

SA NDRA
LN

DR

CHESTNUT             ST

CL
OV

ER
CT

SI
LV

ER
BR

OO
K

BASIN
RD

CR
EE

KW
OO

D
DR

CRESTWOOD
DR

HA
ZE

LW
OO

D 
CT

COTTONWOOD CT

CO
NT

IN
EN

TA
L D

R

CORPORATE

TIMBERLINE
DR

WESTR
IDGE

DR

EVERGREEN

ABBY
RD BOBOLINK

HAWTHORN

LAUREL  DR N

N G L E N
WO

ODCIR

1
2

5

2

54

3
1

1
2 3

WA
Y

S  
   R

IV
ER

    
 R

D

1

2 4

WO
OD

RI
VE

R 
 C

T

STONEY

CREEK CT

31

2 4

1

4 5

2
3

8

9

7

10

FA
IR

    
  S

T

1

1

3

42

9
10

11

7
12

13 14

3 2

4
5

6 6

2

1
2

1

3
4

5

2

1

2

1

5
6

8

1

3

6

5

2

4

1

3

1  PINTAIL DR
2  EDGEWATER  DR
3  RIVER WOOD LN
4  CREEKWOOD LN
5  CREEKSIDE PL

SU
MM

IT
DR

WESTERN
PL

WESTERN
CT

Y
DR

ELM ST

HICKORY

N 
  7

TH
   A

VE

BALSAM
PL

BEVERLY  LN PARK     AVE
S  

 7T
H 

  A
VE

8    CRESTVIEW  DR
9    BADGER LANE W
10  BADGER LAND E  
11  BARBERRY PL
12  WEST HEIGHTS CT
13  CARRIAGE DR
14  RIDGEWOOD DR 

GEHL
WAY

1  E OAK ST
2  LOCUST  DR
3  RIVERVIEW PL
4  RIVERVIEW DR

SERVICE
DR

FRANKLIN
ST

NO
RT

H
ST

VETERANS  AVE

!(144
MURIEL 

LN

1  ROOSEVELT  DR  N
2  ROOSEVELT  DR  S PA

RK
FIE

LD

FAIRVIEW
  DR

SCHOOL
PL GADOW  LA

ROOSEVELT  DR

1  GLEN IVY DR
2  WOODFORD  DR
3  LOWER WOODFORD CIR
4  UPPER WOODFORD CIR
5  ACORN RD
6  NORTHWESTERN AV

6

JULEN
CIR

S  
   R

IV
ER

    
 R

D

3

3
5 6

1  WHITEWATER DR
2  ARBOR POINT DR
3  REEDS DR
4  BROOKVIEW DR
5  ARBOR VISTA DR
6  ARBOR VISTA PL

2

Forge Pl
DRAWN BY: MS
DESIGNED BY:

1" = 300'SCALE:
DATE:

SHEET:

CRACK SEAL
VARIOUS LOCATIONS

CONTRACT 24-09

Do
cu

me
nt 

Pa
th:

 G
:\P

roj
ec

ts\
ST

AN
DA

RD
PR

OD
UC

TS
\C

rea
teM

ap
s\E

ng
ine

eri
ng

\An
nu

al 
Re

pa
ir C

on
tra

ct 
Ma

ps
\20

24
\C

24
-09

.m
xd

4/9/2024

t
Legend

STREET REPAIRS

SB

M1

3.a

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

24
-0

9 
- 

M
A

P
  (

A
w

ar
d

 C
24

-0
9 

C
ra

ck
 a

n
d

 jo
in

t 
fi

lli
n

g
 o

f 
p

av
em

en
ts

)



AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 
 
 
The Board of Public Works of the City of West Bend, Washington County, Wisconsin, does hereby:  
  
1. Award Contract 24-09, Crack Sealing of Pavements at Various Locations, to Asphalt Seal and Repair 

Inc., at the unit prices specified in their bid proposal for work actually performed. 
 
2. Authorize the Mayor and Clerk to execute the contract and such other documents as may be 

necessary to proceed with the project described in the contract. 
 
3. Authorize the City Engineer to approve such change orders as he deems appropriate if the change 

orders do not substantially change the nature or scope of or increase the cost of the project 
(contract price plus contingency). 

 
 
 
 
Passed the _____ day of _______________, 2024, by the Board of Public Works. 
 
 
 
 
 ______________________________ 
 Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 Secretary 
 
 
 

3.b

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

24
-0

9 
- 

A
w

ar
d

 -
 F

O
R

M
  (

A
w

ar
d

 C
24

-0
9 

C
ra

ck
 a

n
d

 jo
in

t 
fi

lli
n

g
 o

f 
p

av
em

en
ts

)



 

 

 

Parks, Recreation & 

Forestry 

 

 

 
DATE: April 29, 2024 

TO: Board of Public Works 

FROM: Rick Fox, Parks Project Manager 

SUBJECT: Ridge Run Jim and Anne White Family Cabin Renovations - Permission to Bid 

 

The Parks, Recreation & Forestry Department is requesting permission to advertise for Contract 

24-11. This contract will include costs for materials and labor for interior and exterior renovation 

of the Jim and Anne White Family Cabin, located in Ridge Run Park.  

 

The contract will be written as a lump sum base bid for interior improvements including door 

and window replacement, interior finishes, lighting, and electrical upgrades; exterior 

improvements include a new entry portico, wood deck, siding repairs, and painting.  An add- 

alternate lump sum bid for the addition of a sink with cabinetry and counter space for food 

preparation and serving is also included.  Parks staff will assist with demolition of the existing 

interior space, site prep and restoration.  

 

Final plans for the renovation were presented to the Parks & Recreation Commission on April 

25, 2024, and approved unanimously. 

 

The preliminary estimate for the project is: 

Base Bid: $84,950.00 

Alternate Bid: $10,580.00 

 

Funding for the renovation has been pledged from an anonymous donor. 

 

Construction is scheduled to begin in late September 2024 and conclude March 1, 2024. 

4

Packet Pg. 21



 

 

 

Water Utility 

 

 

 
DATE: May 1, 2024 

TO: Board of Public Works 

FROM: Ruth Mueller, Utility Director 

SUBJECT: Water Utility Rate Review 

 

Baker Tilly recently completed a financial forecast for the Water Utility to determine the 

adequacy of the current rates.  The forecast has determined that a rate increase of 21.85% is 

necessary to meet both operational and capital needs.  This memo outlines the key factors 

contributing to the need for this increase: 

 

• Construction of a Water Treatment Facility:  A critical project to address PFAS  

 contamination requires an investment of $7.2 million in the construction of a Water  

 Treatment Facility.  This project is the primary driving force behind the proposed  

 rate increase.   

• Construction of Well #5 Well House. 

•       Infrastructure Maintenance:  Costs associated with maintaining and upgrading aging  

 infrastructure, such as watermain replacement projects, which include watermains,  

services and hydrants, are essential to ensure system reliability.  Recent projects 

include Laurel Drive South, Pennsylvania Avenue and Main Street Reconstruction 

(Downtown).  Upcoming projects include Maplewynde Road, Butternut Street and 

Hawthorn Drive.  

•      Operating Costs:  Anticipated increases in operating costs, driven by factors such as     

inflation, increased regulatory requirements, well rehabilitation, and labor/benefits. 

•      City Hall Administrative and General Costs:  City Hall administrative and general  

     costs due to operational and health care costs have increased dramatically over the    

     past few years. 

 

The Water Utility received a grant in the form of principal forgiveness in the amount of $3.5 

million to aid in the funding of the Water Treatment Facility.  Of this amount, $2.73 million is 

allocated to test year 2024, as indicated in the financial forecast.  Without this grant amount, the 

proposed rate increase would have been 26.89%. 

 

The last rate increase occurred on April 1, 2021, with an increase of 9.5%.  Prior to that increase, 

rates were increased by 9% in April, 2011.  We expect that this proposed rate increase will be 

5

Packet Pg. 22



implemented in the next 4 - 6 months, pending review and approval of the Public Service 

Commission.  At this time, we are requesting authorization to file the Rate Increase Application 

with the Public Service Commission. 

5

Packet Pg. 23



West Bend Water Utility
Test Year 2024 Water Rate Application Summary

 - Forecast/rate study based on historical trends.
 - 2024 and 2025 based on management's capital and operating budgets and best estimates.
 - Rates last changed in 2021, based on the 2020 test year.

TY2020 TY2024 Change

Plant in service 32,310,295$     42,831,486$     33%
Materials & supplies 102,311            149,271            
Accumulated depreciation (13,156,003)      (16,499,343)      
Regulatory liability (262,321)           (37,500)             

Net rate base 18,994,282$     26,443,914$     39%

Operating revenues 5,095,385$       5,532,319$       9%

Operating expenses
O&M 2,625,048         3,156,412         20%
Depreciation 796,795            977,621            23%
Taxes 742,822            813,798            10%

Total 4,164,665         4,947,831         

Operating income 930,720$          584,488$          

Rate of return 4.90% 2.21%

Benchmark rate of return 6.2%

Increase needed ($) 1,055,035        

Increase needed (%) 21.85%

Quarterly 
Volume CCF Meter Size Amount Change

2,250 5/8' 87.82                15.75$    21.85%

Average Residential Customer Impact per Quarter

Summary of Revenue Requirement Increase

Background

Key Factors
 - Several large upcoming projects, including the construction of Well #5, construction of the PFAS 
facility, routine watermain projects.
 - The PFAS facility will be funded with Safe Drinking Water Loans from the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources, a portion of which will be principal forgiveness.
 - Increase in on-going operating and maintenance costs.

 - Without the $2,730,000 in principal forgiveness from the Wisconsin DNR Safe Drinking Water Loan 
Program, the increase would jump from 21.85% to 26.89%. 

5.a

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
H

an
d

o
u

t 
4.

24
.2

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



5.a

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
H

an
d

o
u

t 
4.

24
.2

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



West Bend Water Utility 

Forecasted Revenue Requirement 

Test Year 2024 

Prepared as of 

May 6, 2024 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



West Bend Water Utility 
Table of Contents 

Page 

Accountants’ Compilation Report 1 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Assumptions 2 

Application to Increase Rates 

Ratemaking Goals 5 

Telephonic Hearing Information 6 

Attachments 

1 Listing of Largest Customers Billed During the Latest 12 Months 7 

2A Volume Sales - Quarterly Billings 9 

2B Service Charges - Quarterly Billings 12 

2C Test Year 2024 14 

3A Test Year Volume Sales - Quarterly Billings 16 

3B Water Utility Consumer Analysis - Quarterly Billings 19 

3W Test Year 2024 - Wholesale Revenues 21 

4 Public Fire Protection Revenue Test Year (Summary) 22 

5 Public Fire Protection Revenue Test Year (Detail) 23 

6 Private Fire Protection Revenue Test Year 24 

7 Operating Revenues Test Year (Summary) 25 

8 Taxes Test Year Summary 26 

9 Property Tax Equivalent Computation 27 

 10 Operating Expenses 28 

11 Utility Plant in Service 30 

 11a Contributed Plant 32 

12 Depreciation Accrual and Expenses 34 

13 Accumulated Depreciation, Materials and Supplies, 
  and Regulatory Liability and Other Adjustments 36 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



West Bend Water Utility 
Table of Contents 

Page 

Attachments (cont.) 

14 Estimated Rate Base and Increase Requested 37 

 15 Financing 40 

 16 Impact Fees 41 

 17 Miscellaneous 42 

 18 Conservation Spending 45 

 19 Notes 46 

19a Required Supplemental Information 47 

19b Credit Card Fees 49 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



1 

Accountants' Compilation Report 

To the Common Council 
West Bend, Wisconsin 

Management is responsible for the accompanying forecasted Attachments 1 through 19 (Attachments) as 
identified in the table of contents of West Bend Water Utility, an enterprise fund of the City of West Bend for 
the years ending December 31, 2023 and 2024, including the related summaries of significant assumptions 
and accounting policies in accordance with guidelines for the presentation of a forecast established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). We have performed a compilation engagement in 
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the 
Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not examine or review the forecasted 
Attachments nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide 
any form of assurance on this forecasted Attachments. 

The forecasted results may not be achieved, as there will usually be differences between the forecasted and 
actual results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and these differences 
may be material. We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after 
the date of this report. 

The accompanying supplementary information, identified as historical financial information for the years 
ended December 31, 2019 through 2022 and non-financial information, contained in the Attachments is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the forecast. Such information is the 
responsibility of management. The supplementary information was subject to our compilation engagement. 
We have not examined or reviewed the supplementary information and do not express an opinion, a 
conclusion nor provide any assurance on such information. 

Madison, Wisconsin 
May 6, 2024 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

2 

West Bend Water Utility 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Assumptions 

Nature of Forecast 

This financial forecast presents, to the best of management's knowledge and belief, West Bend Water 
Utility's (Utility’s) expected results of operations for the forecast period. Accordingly, the forecast reflects 
its judgment as of May 6, 2024, the date of this forecast, of the expected conditions and its expected 
course of action. The assumptions disclosed herein are those that management believes are significant 
to the forecast. There will usually be differences between the forecasted and actual results, because 
events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material. 

Nature of Operations 

The Utility is a separate enterprise fund of the City of West Bend. The Utility is managed by the City 
Council. The Utility is subject to regulation by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW) in 
matters of rates, financial reporting, and other procedures. 

Revenue Recognition 

Water revenues are recorded for service rendered based on water meter readings, with billings made to 
customers quarterly.  

Expenses 

Historical operation and maintenance expenses are reported on the accrual basis. Forecasted 2023 and 
2024 expenses are also generally reported on the accrual basis with the exception of certain non-
recurring major expenses which are normalized for rate-making purposes. This accounting for non-
recurring expenses differs from generally accepted accounting principles. 

Plant 

Additions to and replacements of Utility plant are recorded at original cost, which includes material, labor, 
overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction when significant. The cost of 
renewals and betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property 
replaced, retired or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with 
removal costs less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation. 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

3 

West Bend Water Utility 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Assumptions 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is computed using straight line rates authorized by the PSCW applied to the average plant 
investment balances for the calendar year.  

Accumulated Depreciation 

Salvage and cost of removal are projected based on historical trends and estimates from Utility 
management. A summary of forecasted salvage and cost of removal is shown on Attachment 13. 

Depreciation expense charged to sewer is determined based on 1/2 of meters depreciation computed on 
Attachment 12. 

Materials and Supplies 

Materials and supplies are generally used for construction and for operation and maintenance work – not 
for resale. They are valued at lower of cost or market based on average prices and charged to 
construction or operation and maintenance expense when used. 

Contributions in Aid of Construction 

Contributions in aid of construction represent contributions received from customers for construction of 
plant. These amounts are not subject to repayment. Contributions are based on historical trends and 
estimates provided by Utility management on Attachment 11a.  

Increased depreciation expense resulting from contributed plant cannot be recovered through user fees 
due to changes in the accounting and ratemaking treatment of contributions in aid of construction 
approved by the PSCW as of January 1, 2003.  

Taxes 

Taxes included in the forecast include the Utility tax equivalent, PSCW remainder assessment and social 
security taxes. Municipal utilities are exempt from income taxes and therefore no income tax liability is 
recorded by the Utility. 

Property tax equivalent is based on the 2022 taxes, increased by the annual 2 percent allowed by state 
statute for taxing jurisdictions (mill rate) and the assessment ratio was kept consistent. Social security 
expenses in 2024 are increased by inflation. The PSCW remainder assessment tax is based on the 
percent change of total operating revenues. 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

4 

West Bend Water Utility 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Assumptions 

Financing 

Forecasted debt issues were determined by management and management’s registered municipal 
advisor. 

Operating Revenues 

The following assumptions are based on discussions with Utility management, analysis of historical data 
for 2019 through year to date 2023, and expected changes for 2024. 

Metered Sales 

Forecasted metered sales are based on average consumption per customer times the number of 
customers. The number of customers is forecasted based on current levels and analysis of prior years. 
Total consumption is distributed to the rate blocks based on percentages determined from the most 
recent historical consumer analysis. Please refer to Attachments 3A and 3B for a summary of forecasted 
volume and customer changes. 

Public Fire Protection 

Public fire protection is forecasted based on the number of customers forecasted on Attachment 3. The 
public fire protection computation is shown on Attachment 5. 

Private Fire Protection 

Private fire protection was forecasted based on actual 2022 connections. The calculation is shown on 
Attachment 6. 

Other Water Revenues 

Refer to Attachment 7 for expected changes in other water revenues. 

Operating Expenses 

Operation and maintenance expenses are forecasted based on the following: 

1. Actual costs incurred from December 1, 2022 through November 31, 2023.

2. Historical trends from 2020 – 2022.

3. Specific knowledge of expenses the Utility will incur as outlined on Attachment 19.

4. Significant non-routine maintenance and other costs are normalized for rate making purposes.

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



A T T A C H M E N T S 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



3024 (1-1-2014)
(Filling this form out is in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 196.25)

Name of Utility:

Type of rate increase requested:

Utility Consultant

City of West Bend Water Utility Baker Tilly US, LLP

Ruth Mueller Ryan O'Donnell

Travis Thull

West Bend WI, 53095 Madison WI, 53718

Washington

Telephone Number (1) 262-335-5040 608-240-2606

608-240-2429

E-Mail Address muellerr@ci.west-bend.wi.us ryan.o'donnell@bakertilly.com

n/a n/a

8 am - 4 pm 8 am - 4 pm

M - F M - F

251 Municipal Drive

County or Counties

Application to Increase Rates
Public Service Commission of Wisconsin 
Division of Water Utility Regulation and Analysis
Hill Farms State Office Building - 6th Floor
4822 Madison Yards Way  

The Public Service Commission of Wisconsin does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the provision of programs, services, or 
employment.  If you are speech, hearing, or visually impaired and need assistance, call (608) 266-5481 or TTY (608)267-1479.  We will try to 
find another way to get the information to you in a usable form.

City of West Bend Water Utility

Contact Personnel Information

Name

Contact Person (1)

Contact Person (2)

Street or P.O. Box 4807 Innovate Ln, Madison, WI 53718

City and Zip Code

Telephone Number (2)

Fax Number

Best Hours between 7:30 am & 5:00 pm

Days Available

BothSewerWater

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year

Reason for Rate increase: Please select the reasons for requesting a rate increase from the drop down and provide additional 

information such as project information, debt service schedules, and other relevant information

supporting the request for a rate increase:

Please describe any goals the utility would like to see addressed as part of this rate proceeding. 

Affordability

Conservation

Particular Customer Class (provide detail)
Change to block rate structure

Change to PFP
Other 

Required approvals: Please describe what governing body the utility must recieve approval from in order to request 
this rate proceeding.  Has the utility recieved such approval?  Please provide documentation to 

demonstrate the approvals and any specific changes approved (amount of increase, PFP change, specific ROR, etc.)

Public Involvement:  Please describe the measures taken to date to inform customers of the rate increase you are 
applying for.  Please detail how the utility informed them, if the utility provided an estimated rate increase 
and any other information the utility has provided to the customer regarding the need for a rate increase.

Affordability:  Does the utility anticipate there will be customers with  affordability concerns as a result of the rate increase?

If yes, please describe any conversations the utility may have had with customers and/or local decision

makers about this issue.

Has the utility considered requesting reductions to its PILOT payment, shifting a portion of PFP to 

municipal charge, or altering its rate structure to try to address affordability. 

To date, no public notification has taken place.  This again relates to the fact that we do not have final results from 
the rate study that is being completed, therefore we have no information to disseminate.

No.

No.

Goals for rate proceeding: 

City of West Bend Water Utility
Ratemaking Goals

Several large projects are being completed in 2023 and 2024 that are driving the proposed increase.  They are as 
follows:  Construction of Well #5 - This is a replacement well house ($1.66 million); Construction of a PFAS 
Treatment Facility ($6.2 million) and associated on-going O&M costs;  Main Street (Downtown) Road 
Reconstruction Project -Watermain Replacement ($1.2 million).

The Utility wants to insure that we have the rates in place that allow us to cover costs of operating and 
maintaining the Utility as well as addressing infrastructure issues.

The Utility gets approval from the City Council to request filing the rate application with the PSC.  Currently we are 
in the early stages of completing a rate study with the assistance of Baker Tilly and do not expect the results of 
this study for several months.  Upon receiving the final draft of the study, we will be presenting it to the Board and 
asking for approval to file the application.

Recent Construction
Debt Service Coverage
Increasing O&M Costs

Other

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year

Phone Number:
262-306-2026

Yes, the utility can arrange a site for a telephonic hearing, either at the utility or at an alternate site.  
(Please specify the site including building name, address, room number, and telephone number for the 
room in the space below.)

City of West Bend Water Utility

Telephonic Hearing Information

Please check one of the following:

No, it is not feasible for our utility to host a telephonic hearing.  We request that the hearing be 
scheduled in Madison.  (Please provide your specific reasons in the space  below.)

Requests to increase rates require Commission approval.  Pursuant to state statutes, a rate increase can only be 
authorized after public hearing.  Municipal utilities are encouraged to hold telephonic hearings.  A telephonic hearing is 
much like a hearing held in Madison except that the utility, Commission staff, the utility's consultant (if applicable), and 
customers participate via speaker phone from their respective locations.  Telephonic hearings are advantageous for both 
the utility and its customers.  Customers have an opportunity to participate with greater ease than afforded by a hearing 
held at the Commission's offices in Madison.  Additionally, the time utility personnel are away from the office is 
significantly reduced.

251 Municipal Drive

In order to participate in a telephonic hearing, the utility must have a location which is handicapped accessible with a 
capacity of at least 10-15 persons.  The utility also needs a speaker phone workable in the room in which the hearing is to 
be held.  FAX and copy machines are also required.  The FAX and copiers do not need to be located in the hearing room 
or even the building in which the hearing is to be held;  however, the utility must have ready access.  More details will be 
provided concerning scheduling and administering the telephonic hearing when Commission staff has completed 
processing your application to increase rates.

West Bend Water Utility Office
Building Name:

Room Number or Name:
Conference Room #1215

Address:

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



PART 1: ATTACHMENT 1

1. List the billing units consistent with Schedule Mg-1 in your tariff sheets.

100 Cubic Feet (CCF)

3. List the meter size, billing date, and the billed consumption.

* For privacy reasons, do not list any customer names.

Customer Name Class
Meter
Size

Billing
Date

Billed 
Consumption

Specify
Units

No. of Month(s) 
of Consumption

Residential 1 Res. 1 1/2" 9/1/2023 352 CCF 3 months

Residential 2 Res. 5/8" 9/1/2023 284 CCF 3 months

Residential 3 Res. 5/8" 9/1/2023 255 CCF 3 months

Residential 4 Res. 5/8" 4/6/2023 133 CCF 3 months

Multifamily Residential 1 MF 6" 9/1/2023 3,306 CCF 3 months

Multifamily Residential 2 MF 2" 9/1/2023 1,658 CCF 3 months

Multifamily Residential 3 MF 1 1/2" 10/5/2023 1,400 CCF 3 months

Multifamily Residential 4 MF 3" 9/1/2023 1,199 CCF 3 months

Commercial 1 Com. 1 1/2" 9/1/2023 4,639 CCF 3 months

Commercial 2 Com. 4" 10/5/2023 3,636 CCF 3 months

Commercial 3 Com. 3" 9/1/2023 3,228 CCF 3 months

Commercial 4 Com. 3" 6/1/2023 2,144 CCF 3 months

Industrial 1 Ind. 4" 1/5/2023 11,677 CCF 3 months

Industrial 2 Ind. 4" 7/6/2023 5,864 CCF 3 months

Industrial 3 Ind. 2" 7/6/2023 2,813 CCF 3 months

Industrial 4 Ind. 1 1/2" 4/6/2023 1,145 CCF 3 months

Public Authority 1 P.A. 4" 3/3/2023 3,496 CCF 3 months

Public Authority 2 P.A. 4" 12/1/2023 3,480 CCF 3 months

Public Authority 3 P.A. 6" 6/1/2023 3,382 CCF 3 months

Public Authority 4 P.A. 4" 8/3/2023 2,773 CCF 3 months

Irrigation 1 Irr.

Irrigation 2 Irr.

Irrigation 3 Irr.

Irrigation 4 Irr.

City of West Bend Water Utility

Provide consumption data for the four largest customers in each customer class. 

2. During the last 12-month period, list the highest consumption billed for each of the four largest customers in
each class. Please select four different customers in each class and not multiple bills from the same
customer. A customer may be listed more than once only if they are served by more than one meter and the
meter sizes are different.

LISTING OF LARGEST CUSTOMERS BILLED 

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



PART 2:

Please answer each question about billing procedures.

1. How do you send your water bills?
Envelopes

2. What is your current billing frequency for residential customers?

Quarterly

2a. Would you prefer to change the current billing frequency? 

2b. If so, which billing frequency would be preferred?

No Change

3. How frequently do you read residential customer meters?

Quarterly

4. Which of the following best describes the manner in which you read meters each billing period?

Please explain if meters read in cycles:

Notes

Meters are read in cycle (one-third of customers are read each month).

One-third of customer meters are read the first 10 working days of the each month.

5. What is the estimated start date for reading
meters for your next billing period?

1-Aug-23

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 2A

1. Provide the authorized rates for volume consistent with Schedule Mg-1.

2. Complete Attachment 2A using actual data from the latest 12 months for each customer class.

3. Provide the actual total volume for the most recent 12 months for each class.

Billing Periods per Year: 4 Actual Latest 12 Months Ending:

Does the utility have class-based volume rates? No
Class-based rates are separate rate schedules for residential, multifamily, nonresidential (commercial, industrial, public authority) or irrigation classes
If the Utility had a rate change within the past year, be sure to use prorated rates. See instructions for more detail.

No

Volume Block Rate
First 25,000 $2.27
Next 275,000 $2.19
Next - $0.00
Next - $0.00
Over 300,000 $2.00

Residential
Multifamily 
Residential Commercial Industrial

Public 
Authority Irrigation

Units Units Units Units Units Units Total

First 25,000 649,355 41,119 73,978 7,836 8,685 0 780,973
Next 275,000 2,284 68,954 107,157 18,781 21,652 0 218,828

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Over 300,000 0 0 19,733 67,028 46,302 0 133,063

Total Units 651,639 110,073 200,868 93,645 76,639 0 1,132,864
Unit Revenues 1,479,038$         244,349$            442,070$  192,974$        159,737$       -$  2,518,168$       

November 30, 2023

Notes

City of West Bend Water Utility

VOLUME SALES

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



City of West Bend Water Utility

2024 Test Year SERVICE CHARGES ATTACHMENT 2B

1. Provide the authorized meter charges consistent with Schedule Mg-1.

2. Complete Attachment 2B using actual data from the latest 12 months for each customer class. 

4. Include Am-1 revenue(s) from additional rates on Attachment 7 - Account 474 (Other Water Revenues), not on Attachment 2B. 

Billing Periods per Year: 4 Actual Latest 12 Months Ending:

Residential
Multifamily 
Residential Commercial Industrial

Public 
Authority Irrigation

Meter Size Charge Totals

5/8" $21.00 10,261 3 401 31 13 0 10,709

3/4" $21.00 630 8 90 11 1 0 740

 1" $36.00 151 52 168 18 6 0 395

1 1/4" $48.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 1/2" $66.00 1 64 83 10 10 0 168

 2" $90.00 0 46 61 3 23 0 133

 2 1/2" $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 3" $159.00 0 14 16 3 5 0 38

 4" $231.00 0 3 2 2 6 0 13

 6" $375.00 0 1 0 0 1 0 2

 8" $540.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10" $750.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12" $999.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Meters 11,043 191 821 78 65 0 12,198
Fixed Revenues 936,852$         55,044$           121,332$         13,596$           23,184$           -$  1,150,008

Total Volume Revenue 1,479,037.81$ 244,349.39$    442,069.89$    192,974.11$    159,736.83$    -$  2,518,168$        

Surcharges, etc. $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Revenues Per Analysis $2,415,890 $299,393 $563,402 $206,570 $182,921 $0 $3,668,176

Total Actual Billed Revenues $2,406,387 $333,807 $574,402 $212,259 $153,531 $0 $3,680,386

Dollar Variance $9,503 ($34,414) ($11,000) ($5,689) $29,390 $0 ($12,210)

Percent Variance 0.39% -11.49% -1.95% -2.75% 16.07% 0.00% -0.33%

(A) The annual revenues from meter charges are based upon the number of bills issued annually.

3. Provide actual total billed revenues for the same 12 months. If variance between total revenues and actual billed revenue is greater than 3 
percent for any customer class, the variance must be explained with a reason and any corrective plan to address the variance in the Notes.

Notes

Average No. of 
Meters

November 30, 2023

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year Sales Forecast Historical Attachment 2C

Avg. #       Usage   Avg/Cust/Qtr Change in Avg. #       Usage   Avg/Cust/Qtr Change in 
  Year Customers (Ccf's) (Ccf's) Customer Ct   Year Customers (Ccf's) (Ccf's) Customer Ct
2019 10,904 615,626 14.11 0 2019 800 193,198 60.37 0
2020 10,959 649,934 14.83 55 2020 802 176,870 55.13 2
2021 11,033 653,497 14.81 74 2021 807 194,234 60.17 5
2022 11,051 629,424 14.24 18 2022 808 196,365 60.76 1
2023 11,043 651,639 14.75 -8 2023 821 200,868 61.17 13
2024 11,085 654,117 14.75 42 2024 831 203,315 61.17 10

     Averages:      Averages:
5-year avg 10,998 640,024 14.55 0.00 5-year avg 808 192,307 59.53 0.00
4-year avg 11,022 646,124 14.66 34.75 4-year avg 810 192,084 59.32 5.25
3-year avg 11,042 644,853 14.60 28.00 3-year avg 812 197,156 60.70 6.33
2-year avg 11,047 640,531 14.50 5.00 2-year avg 815 198,616 60.96 7.00

2023 11,043 651,639 14.75 -8.00 2023 821 200,868 61.17 13.00

Avg. #       Usage   Avg/Cust/Qtr Change in Avg. #       Usage   Avg/Cust/Qtr Change in 
  Year Customers (Ccf's) (Ccf's) Customer Ct   Year Customers (Ccf's) (Ccf's) Customer Ct
2019 186 117,266 157.62 0 2019 70 55,469 198.10 0
2020 186 117,632 158.11 0 2020 68 48,527 178.41 -2
2021 186 120,587 162.08 0 2021 63 52,814 209.58 -5
2022 186 122,557 164.73 0 2022 65 61,021 234.70 2
2023 191 110,073 144.07 5 2023 65 76,639 294.77 0
2024 194 111,801 144.07 3 2024 65 76,639 294.77 0

     Averages:      Averages:
5-year avg 187 117,623 157.25 0.00 5-year avg 66 58,894 222.41 0.00
4-year avg 187 117,712 157.16 1.25 4-year avg 65 59,750 228.93 -1.25
3-year avg 188 117,739 156.85 1.67 3-year avg 64 63,492 246.73 -1.00
2-year avg 189 116,315 154.26 2.50 2-year avg 65 68,830 264.73 1.00

2023 191 110,073 144.07 5.00 2023 65 76,639 294.77 0.00

Avg. #       Usage   Avg/Cust/Qtr Change in Avg. #       Usage   Avg/Cust/Qtr Change in 
  Year Customers (Ccf's) (Ccf's) Customer Ct   Year Customers (Ccf's) (Ccf's) Customer Ct
2019 0 0 #DIV/0! 0 2019 80 93,670 292.72 0
2020 0 0 #DIV/0! 0 2020 81 91,488 282.37 1
2021 0 0 #DIV/0! 0 2021 80 107,811 336.91 -1
2022 0 0 #DIV/0! 0 2022 80 102,631 320.72 0
2023 0 0 #DIV/0! 0 2023 78 93,645 300.14 -2
2024 0 0 0.00 0 2024 79 94,846 300.14 1

     Averages:      Averages:
5-year avg 0 0 #DIV/0! 0.00 5-year avg 80 97,849 306.54 0.00
4-year avg 0 0 #DIV/0! 0.00 4-year avg 80 98,894 310.01 -0.50
3-year avg 0 0 #DIV/0! 0.00 3-year avg 79 101,363 319.42 -1.00
2-year avg 0 0 #DIV/0! 0.00 2-year avg 79 98,138 310.56 -1.00

2023 0 0 #DIV/0! 0.00 2023 78 93,645 300.14 -2.00

City of West Bend Water Utility

Industrial

Public Authority

Residential Commercial

Multifamily Residential

Irrigation

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 3A

1. Provide the meter charges for the estimated test year.
2. Use the Utility's most current rates.
3. Provide complete details in Notes section concerning the gain or loss of any large customer, 20 percent change in usage from a customer class,
    or customers being reclassified to a different customer class.
4. If necessary, please describe any unusual situations in the Notes section.

Billing Periods per Year: 4

Does the utility have class-based volume rates? No

Note:  Only change these rates if there has been an SRC or adjustment for purchased water in the last 12 months

Volume Block Rate
First 25,000                  $2.27
Next 275,000                $2.19
Next -                       $0.00
Next -                       $0.00
Over 300,000                $2.00

Residential
Multifamily 
Residential Commercial Industrial

Public 
Authority Irrigation

Units Units Units Units Units Units Total

First 25,000 651,833 42,847 76,425 9,037 8,685 0 788,826
Next 275,000 2,284 68,954 107,157 18,781 21,652 0 218,828

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Over 300,000 0 0 19,733 67,028 46,302 0 133,063

Total Units 654,117 111,801 203,315 94,846 76,639 0 1,140,717
Unit Revenues 1,484,663$           248,272$              447,624$                195,699$        159,737$        -$               2,535,995$               

Estimates for Test Year

VOLUME SALES

City of West Bend Water Utility

Notes

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



City of West Bend Water Utility

WATER UTILITY CONSUMER ANALYSIS

2024 Test Year Estimates for Test Year ATTACHMENT 3B
1. Provide the meter charges for the estimated test year.
2. Use the Utility's most current rates.
3. Provide complete details in Notes section concerning the gain or loss of any large customer, 10 percent change in customer count for a customer class,
    or customers being reclassified to a different customer class

Billing Periods per Year: 4

Residential
Multifamily 
Residential Commercial Industrial

Public 
Authority Irrigation

Meter Size Charge Totals

5/8" $21.00 10,303 3 411 32 13 0 10,762

3/4" $21.00 630 8 90 11 1 0 740

 1" $36.00 151 52 168 18 6 0 395

1 1/4" $48.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 1/2" $66.00 1 67 83 10 10 0 171

 2" $90.00 0 46 61 3 23 0 133

 2 1/2" $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 3" $159.00 0 14 16 3 5 0 38

 4" $231.00 0 3 2 2 6 0 13

 6" $375.00 0 1 0 0 1 0 2

 8" $540.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10" $750.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12" $999.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Meters 11,085 194 831 79 65 0 12,254
Fixed Revenues 940,380$         55,836$           122,172$         13,680$           23,184$           -$                 1,155,252.00$ 

Total Volume Revenue 1,484,663$      248,272$         447,624$         195,699$         159,737$         -$                 2,535,995$      

Surcharges, etc. $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Estimated Revenues $2,425,043 $304,108 $569,796 $209,379 $182,921 $0 $3,691,247

Number of Meter

Customer Class Customers Sizes

Residential 42 5/8"
Multifamily 3 1 1/2"
Commercial 10 5/8"
Industrial 1 5/8"
Public Auth. 0
Irrigation 0
Total 56

Notes

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

Estimated Customer Growth 
for the Test Year:

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

Average No. of 
Meters

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



Historical data  (CCF)
2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 3W

1. List rates and billing frequency consistent with Schedule W-1 in your tariff sheet.
2. List test year consumption estimates for each wholesale customer.
3. Provide explanation in Notes section concerning any large changes in usage and/or gain or loss of a large wholesale customer.

  Year Wholesale Community --> 0 0 0 0 0 Total

2010 0 0 0 0 0 0
2011 0 0 0 0 0 0
2012 0 0 0 0 0 0
2013 0 0 0 0 0 0
2014 0 0 0 0 0 0

5-Year Average 0 0 0 0 0 0
4-Year Average 0 0 0 0 0 0
3-Year Average 0 0 0 0 0 0
2-Year Average 0 0 0 0 0 0

Enter Test Year Estimates on this Line 0 0 0 0 0 0

General Service Wholesale Community --> 0 0 0 0 0 Total
Service Charge Billing periods --> 0 0 0 0 0

Rate 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0 0 0 0 0 0

Volume Charge
CCFs (derived from above) 0 0 0 0 0

Rate 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Fire Protection 
Service Wholesale Community --> 0 0 0 0 0 Total

Service Charge Semiannual/qtrly/monthly --> 0 0 0 0 0
Rate 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0 0 0 0 0 0

City of West Bend Water Utility

Notes

NOTE: Only applies to utilities selling water at wholesale to another utilty.
Wholesale Revenues

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 4

1. This schedule is a summary of various methods of charging for Public Fire
    Protection and must be consistent with the Utility's current F-1 or Fd-1 tariff.
2. For a Municipal Charge based upon mains and/or hydrants or Direct Charges to Customers based
    upon equivalent meters or services, test year estimate is derived from Attachment 5
3. For all other charges, insert the test year estimate in the amount column. 
4. For Direct Charges to Customers based upon a method other than equivalent meters or services,
    detail must be submitted to the PSC supporting this metod.

MUNICIPAL CHARGE
Based upon Mains and Hydrants:

Estimated Test Year Revenue (Per Attachment 5) $0

MUNICIPAL CHARGE
Based upon a Flat Charge to Municipality:

Estimated Test Year Revenue $0

DIRECT CHARGE TO CUSTOMERS
Based upon Equivalent Meters or Equivalent Services:

Estimated Test Year Revenue (Per Attachment 5) $1,137,934

DIRECT CHARGE TO CUSTOMERS
Based upon a Direct Charge Method other than in number 3 above

Estimated Test Year Revenue $0
Note:  Detail Must be Submitted to PSC Supporting this Method

CHARGES TO WHOLESALE CUSTOMERS
Estimated Test Year Revenue (Per attachment 3A) $0

OTHER PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION CHARGES TO CUSTOMERS FOR FIRE PROTECTION

Estimated Test Year Revenue $0

TOTAL ESTIMATED TEST YEAR PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION REVENUE $1,137,934

TOTAL ESTIMATED TEST YEAR WHOLESALE FIRE PROTECTION REVENUE $0

City of West Bend Water Utility

PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION REVENUE (SUMMARY)

Estimated for Test Year 2024

Based upon Charges for Water Used for Fire Protection (i.e., using Tariff 
Schedules F-2 or BW-1)

Notes

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 5
1. For a Municipal Charge based upon mains and/or hydrants, complete the Municipal Charge section. 
       i. Base units and charges are obtained from the current tariff sheet, typically Schedule F-1.
       ii. Net additions for mains and hydrants units are derived from Attachment 17, Part One.

Municipal Charge
If Public Fire Protection Revenue is a Municipal Charge based upon mains and/or hydrants, complete the following.

$0
Base estimated transmission and distribution main (number of feet)

Based upon Mains and/or Hydrants: Mains Inches Number of Dollar
& Larger Hydrants Amount

Base Units and Charge (Per tariff schedule) 0 feet 0 hyd $0

Balance - 12/31/2022 0 0

2023 NET additions 0 0
1/2 of test year 2024 NET Routine units added 0 0
All of Test Year 2024 Major Units Added 0 0

Test Year Average Units 0 0

 Test Year Units Over Base Units 0 feet 0 hyd
 times Authorized Rates per Unit (per tariff schedule) $0.00 $0.00

 Increase in Revenue Over Base Amount $0 $0 $0

 Estimated Total Test Year Revenue $0

       i. The Authorized Rates are obtained from the current tariff sheet, typically Schedule F-1 or Fd-1

Direct Charge to Customers
Based upon Equivalent Meters or  Equivalent Services:

Insert Billings per Year if Different  4

Authorized
Meter Size Rate

5/8" $18.45
3/4" $18.45
 1" $46.50

1 1/4" $69.00
1 1/2" $93.00

 2" $147.00
 2 1/2" $0.00

 3" $279.00
 4" $462.00
 6" $921.00
 8" $1,479.00
10" $2,217.00
12" $2,946.00

SUBTOTALS

Surcharges or Rounding

CALCULATED ANNUAL REVENUE

Charge per foot of main over base (dollars)
Base number of hydrants
Charge per hydrant over base (dollars)

City of West Bend Water Utility
PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION REVENUE (SUPPORTING DETAIL)

Base annual charge (dollars)

Main size larger than (typically 4 or 6 inches)

Estimated for Test Year 2024

Annual Revenue
$794,236
$54,612
$73,470

$0

740
395
0

$63,612
$78,204

$0
$42,408
$24,024

133

13

0

2. For Direct Charges to Customers based upon equivalent meters or equivalent services, 
     complete Direct Charge to Customers section.

Notes

2

12,254

0

$0

$1,137,934

0

$1,137,934

$0

$7,368
$0
$0

0

Average No. of Meters
(per Attachment 3)

10,762

38

171

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



               1. To compute the test year Private Fire Protection Revenue, complete the applicable sections.
               2. The Authorized Rates are obtained from the current tariff sheet, typically Schedule Upf-1.
               3. Enter the test year Average Number of Connections based on size of the connection.

Insert Billings per Year if Different  4
Average Number 

Fire Connections: Connection of Connections Authorized Annual
Size Each Billing Annually Rates Revenue

2" or smaller 26 104 $18.00 $1,872
3" 0 0 $0.00 $0
4" 55 220 $60.00 $13,200
6" 184 736 $117.00 $86,112
8" 83 332 $186.00 $61,752

10" 6 24 $279.00 $6,696
12" 4 16 $372.00 $5,952
14" 0 0 $0.00 $0
16" 0 0 $0.00 $0

358 1432
Total Connection Revenue $175,584

Average Number 
General Service Branches Off  Meter of Meters Authorized   Annual
The Private Fire Connections  Sizes Each Billing Annually Rates Amount

    5/8" 0 0 $21.00 $0
    3/4" 0 0 $21.00 $0
    1" 0 0 $36.00 $0

  1 1/4" 0 0 $48.00 $0
  1 1/2" 0 0 $66.00 $0
    2" 0 0 $90.00 $0

  2 1/2" 0 0 $0.00 $0
    3" 0 0 $159.00 $0
    4" 0 0 $231.00 $0
    6" 0 0 $375.00 $0
    8" 0 0 $540.00 $0

0 0
Total General Branch Connection Revenues $0

If Applicable, the Authorized Credit is Usually 30% of Total General Branch Revenues.
(However, the credit may be at a different percentage or if N/A, enter zero)

      Insert Authorized Credit Percentage in this box (if applicable): 0% $0

Total Estimated Test Year Revenue (Connection Revenue less Credit Amount) $175,584

Notes

City of West Bend Water Utility

PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION REVENUE
Estimated for Test Year 2024

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 7

2. "Interim year" and other test year estimates should be based upon historical trends and other relevant information.
3. Test year revenue from additional rates or Am-1 meters should be included in Account 474 (Other Water Revenues) on this attachment, not Attachment 2B.
4. Any unusual situations that cause a variance in an account must be explained in the Notes.

Account Estimated Test Year
Number Description 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

460 Unmetered Sales to General Customers
  Residential $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
  Multifamily Residential 0 0 0 0 0
  Commercial 0 0 0 0 0
  Industrial 0 0 0 0 0
  Public Authority 0 0 0 0 0
  Irrigation 0 0 0 0 0

Total unmetered sales $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

461 Metered Sales to General Customers
  Residential $2,269,036 $2,362,029 $2,352,480 $2,406,387 $2,425,043  (A)

  Multifamily Residential 291,038 318,069 328,310 333,807 304,108  (A)

  Commercial 473,286 555,297 571,320 574,402                569,796  (A)

  Industrial 174,244 229,143 231,277 206,570                209,379  (A)

  Public Authority 113,743 138,494 142,684 159,737                182,921  (A)

  Irrigation 0 0 0 -                        0  (A)

Total metered sales $3,321,347 $3,603,032 $3,626,071 $3,680,903 $3,691,247

462 Private fire protection service $157,273 $168,255 $174,713 $174,885 $175,584  (B)

463 Public fire protection service 1,051,184 1,088,960 1,110,177 1,112,679             1,137,934  (C)

465 Other water sales 0 0 0 -                        0
466 Sales for resale 0 0 0 -                        0
467 Interdepartmental sales 0 0 0 -                        0

Total sales of water $4,529,804 $4,860,247 $4,910,961 $4,968,467 $5,004,765

Other Operating Revenues:
470 Forfeited discounts $27,036 $50,756 $56,994 $59,388 $60,932
472 Rents from water property 216,769 369,035 389,697 406,064                416,622
473 Interdepartmental rents 0 0 0 -                        0
474 Other water revenues 122,717 49,639 45,343 47,500                  50,000

Total other operating revenues $366,522 $469,430 $492,034 $512,952 $527,554

Total Operating Revenues $4,896,326 $5,329,677 $5,402,995 $5,481,419 $5,532,319

NOTE: (A)  2024 test year General Service Revenue estimates must come from ATTACHMENT 3.
(B)  2024 test year Private Fire Protection Revenue estimates must come from ATTACHMENT 6.
(C)  2024 test year Public Fire Protection Revenue estimates must come from ATTACHMENT 4.

City of West Bend Water Utility

OPERATING REVENUES
Estimated for Test Year 2024

 Notes

The increase in account 474 in 2020 was due to a large connection fee charged to a commercial customer that year. 2021 and 2022 balances reflect a normal 
year.

1. Test year revenue estimated amounts are derived for the following: 
          Metered Sales to General Customers; Private Fire Protection; and Public Fire Protection.

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 8

       i. If the meter allocation is other than 50 percent, insert the appropriate percentage in the cell formula.
3. If necessary, please describe unusual situations in the Notes.

Instructions for Taxes (Account 408)
The summary should be completed as follows:
 1)  For the years 2021 and 2022 the information is from the PSC Annual Reports, page W-6.
 2)  For Estimated 2023 and Test Year 2024, the Property Tax Equivalent must agree with the
      Property Tax Equivalent Computation on Attachment 9.
 3)  If the sewer department DOES NOT USE the meter reading of the water utility for determining
      the sewer bill, then the Meter Balance allocation should not be deducted.  Insert if other than 50%. ==> 50

Instructions Actual Actual Estimated Test Year
Description Reference 2021 2022 2023 2024

Property Tax Equivalent Payable for the 
 Year (from Attachment 9) 1) & 2) $646,952 $572,159 $604,636 $746,676

 Less:  Local and school tax equivalent
          on meters charged to sewer dept. 1) & 3) $17,715 $15,338 $16,111 $17,378

Net Property Tax Equivalent-Water Utility $629,237 $556,821 $588,525 $729,298

Social Security Taxes 1) $71,499 $74,997 $78,000 $80,000

PSC Remainder Assessment Tax 1) $10,046 $4,394 $4,500 $4,500

Other (specify): 1) $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Taxes $710,782 $636,212 $671,025 $813,798

City of West Bend Water Utility

Taxes (Account 408) 
Estimated for Test Year 2024

Notes

1. The test year and interim year amounts are derived for the Property Tax Equivalent Payable for the Year, and the Local and School Tax 
Equivalent on Meters Charged to the Sewer Department (sewer meter allocation).
2. The test year and interim year meter allocations to the sewer department are based upon 50 percent of the beginning of year meter 
balance (Attachment 11, Account 346), the assessment ratio (Attachment 9) and the current year net local and school mill rate (Attachment 
9).

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year Attachment 9

 1.  For the years 2021-2022, use actual information reported in the PSC Annual Reports.
 2.  For estimated 2023 and test year 2024:
    a) Plant - January 1 must come from Attachment 11 (Utility/Municipal Financed Plant) and Attachment 11a (Contributed Plant).
    b) Major Plant Additions (Both Utility Financed and Contributed) are included for the Test Year for rate case purposes.

    c) Construction Work In Progress (CWIP) and Plant Held for Future Use - January 1; 

        excluding any amounts included as Major Plant Additions in Test Year.
    d) Materials and Supplies - January 1 must come from Attachment 13.
    e) Plant Outside Limits-January 1 - State the basis for any change from prior year.
    f) The utility must state what assumptions it made with regard to projecting the tax rates and assessment ratio.
 3.  If the municipality has authorized an amount as allowed by Wis. Stat. § 66.0811(2) [formerly § 66.069 (1)(c)],
      then place that amount on this line.  If no authorization, leave blank.  Fully explain the circumstances in Notes.
 4.  If the municipality has authorized an amount as allowed by Wis. Stat. § 66.0811(2), then that amount is the tax
      equivalent payable for the current year.  If not, then the tax equivalent payable for the current year is the
      larger of either the tax equivalent computed for the current year or the 1994 tax equivalent payable in 1995.
 5.  The property tax equivalent is not applicable to Water Sanitary Districts.
 6. If the local government adopted a resolution to set the PILOT lower, the Utility must provide a copy of the resolution along with Notes.
 7. Describe unusual situations in the Notes.

Actual Actual Estimated Test Year
Description Instr. 2021 2022 2023 2024

Add:
   Utility Plant - January 1 1 $45,936,772 $47,203,739
   Utility/Municipal Financed Plant - January 1 2a) $34,907,182 $38,211,282
   Contributed Plant - January 1 2a) $13,267,509 $13,246,509
   Major Plant Additions in Test Year 2b) $6,740,000
   CWIP & Held for Future Use - January 1 2c) $693,252 $908,871
   Materials & Supplies - January 1 1,2d) $103,218 $115,043 $142,154 $147,355

Less:    Plant Outside Limits - January 1 1,2e) $392,475 $392,475 $392,475 $392,475
Net Taxable Plant $45,647,515 $46,926,307 $48,617,622 $58,861,542
Assessment Ratio (show as a decimal) 1,2f) 0.8429 0.7503 0.7503 0.7503
Assessed Plant Value $38,478,299 $35,207,682 $36,476,635 $44,162,402
Current Year Net Local & Schools (L&S)
    Mill Rate (Line R below) 1,2f) 16.813435 16.250967 16.575986 16.907506
Tax Equivalent Computed for the Current
     Year (Plant Value times L&S Rate/1000) 1,3 $646,952 $572,159 $604,636 $746,676
1994 Tax Equivalent Payable in 1995 1 $346,040 $346,040 $346,040 $346,040
Tax Equivalent Authorized by Municipality 1,3 $0 $0
Tax Equivalent Payable for the Current Year 1,4 $646,952 $572,159 $604,636 $746,676

Actual Actual Estimated Test Year
Line 2021 2022 2023 2024

Mill Rate Detail Ref. Total Total Total Total
State tax rate (A) 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000
County tax rate (B) 2.442552 2.388419 2.436187 2.484911
Local tax rate (C) 7.898031 8.343695 8.510569 8.680780
School tax rate (D) 9.457096 8.488162 8.657925 8.831084
Voc. school tax rate (E) 0.637281 0.635234 0.647939 0.660897
Other tax rates-Local (F1) 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000
Other tax rates-Non-Local (F2) 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000
    Total Tax Rate (G) 20.434960 19.855510 20.252620 20.657673
Less:  State Credit (H) 1.339024 1.382415 1.410063 1.438265
    Net Tax Rate (I) 19.095936 18.473095 18.842557 19.219408

Utility Utility Utility Utility
Local tax rate (Line C above) (J) 7.898031 8.343695 8.510569 8.680780
School tax rate (Line D above) (K) 9.457096 8.488162 8.657925 8.831084
Voc. school tax rate (Line E above) (L) 0.637281 0.635234 0.647939 0.660897
Other tax rates-Local (Line F1 above) (M) 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000 0.000000
Total local & schools tax rates (N) 17.992408 17.467091 17.816433 18.172761
Total tax rate (Line G above) (O) 20.434960 19.855510 20.252620 20.657673
Ratio of local & school tax rate to 
      total tax rate (Line N divided by O) (P) 88.047190% 87.971002% 87.971002% 87.971002%
Net Tax Rate ( Line I above) (Q) 19.095936 18.473095 18.842557 19.219408
Net local and school rate:  (Line P times Q) (R) 16.813435 16.250967 16.575986 16.907506

City of West Bend Water Utility

Property Tax Equivalent Computation 
Estimated for Test Year 2024

Notes

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 10

Page 1 of 2

                                       

1. A historical three-year average is provided. If expenses fluctuate from year to year, the average can be helpful determining the interim and test year estimates.
2. If either the interim or test year estimate varies from the three-year average by more than plus or minus 15 percent, the cause(s) must be explained in the Notes.
3. The Utility must describe unusual situations in the Notes.

2020, 2021, 2022

Acct. Estimated Test Year 3 Year Estimated Test Year

 No. Description 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Average 2023 2024

                          

600 Operation labor $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

601 Operation labor and expenses 0 0 0 250 250 0

602 Purchased water 0 0 0 0 0 0

603 Miscellaneous expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

604 Rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

610 Maintenance supervision and engineering 0 0 3,691 9,651 10,000 1,230 Explain Explain

611 Maintenance of structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0

612 Maint. of collecting and impounding reservoirs 0 0 0 0 0 0

613 Maintenance of lake, river, and other intakes 0 0 0 0 0 0

614 Maintenance of wells and springs 87,266 34,618 27,270 56,500 58,000 49,718 Explain

616 Maintenance of supply mains 0 0 0 0 0 0

617 Maintenance of misc. water source plant 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Source of Supply Expenses $87,266 $34,618 $30,961 $66,401 $68,250 $50,948

620 Operation supervision and engineering $70 $0 $3,692 $11,500 $12,000 $1,254 Explain Explain

621 Fuel for power production 0 0 0 0 0 0

622 Power production labor and expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

623 Fuel or power purchased for production 176,014 170,608 198,173 220,000 225,500 181,598 Explain Explain

624 Pumping labor and expenses 24,366 23,635 22,969 33,000 34,000 23,657 Explain Explain

625 Expenses transferred--credit 0 0 0 0 0 0

626 Miscellaneous expenses 44,446 35,192 47,970 47,000 48,000 42,536

627 Rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

630 Maintenance supervision and engineering 0 133 3,691 12,000 12,500 1,275 Explain Explain

631 Maintenance of structures and improvements 29,943 16,134 20,920 44,000 45,000 22,332 Explain Explain

632 Maintenance of power production equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0

633 Maintenance of pumping equipment 49,484 43,671 48,400 85,500 66,000 47,185 Explain Explain

Total Pumping Expenses $324,323 $289,373 $345,815 $453,000 $443,000 $319,837

640 Operation supervision and engineering $0 $0 $0 $9,500 $9,500 $0

641 Chemicals 93,981 98,021 110,578 119,500 122,500 100,860 Explain Explain

642 Operation labor and expenses 26,726 26,795 26,356 35,500 36,500 26,626 Explain Explain

643 Miscellaneous expenses 0 305 0 1,000 1,000 102 Explain Explain

644 Rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

650 Maintenance supervision and engineering 0 0 3,636 9,500 9,500 1,212 Explain Explain

651 Maintenance of structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0

652 Maintenance of water treatment equipment 23,367 21,207 15,018 25,500 17,500 19,864 Explain

Total Water Treatment Expenses $144,074 $146,328 $155,588 $200,500 $196,500 $148,663

NOTE: All 2023 and test year 2024 estimates that vary from the three year average by

more than (plus or minus) 15 percent must be explained in detail in the Notes.

City of West Bend Water Utility

OPERATING EXPENSES

Estimated for Test Year 2024

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 10

Page 2 of 2

0

Acct.                                        Estimated Test Year 3 Year Estimated Test Year

 No. Description 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Average 2023 2024

660 Operation supervision and engineering $18,449 $18,321 $15,271 $9,500 $9,500 $17,347 Explain Explain

661 Storage facilities expenses 16,971 14,796 19,698 19,000 19,500 17,155 #DIV/0!

662 Transmission and distribution expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

663 Meter expenses 2,970 3,831 6,155 18,000 18,500 4,319 Explain Explain

664 Customer installations expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

665 Miscellaneous expenses 28,492 29,557 27,511 37,000 31,356 28,520 Explain

666 Rents 5 0 0 0 0 2 Explain Explain

670 Maintenance supervision and engineering 18,129 18,525 15,453 12,000 12,500 17,369 Explain Explain

671 Maintenance of structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0

672 Maintenance of distr.reservoirs and standpipes 129,232 41,286 41,802 89,547 89,547 70,773 Explain Explain

673 Maintenance of transmission and distr. mains 530,079 715,775 597,307 475,000 487,500 614,387 Explain Explain

675 Maintenance of services 135,731 175,739 152,716 272,500 279,500 154,729 Explain Explain

676 Maintenance of meters 21,785 8,539 30,037 29,500 30,500 20,120 Explain Explain

677 Maintenance of hydrants 26,222 35,582 12,246 71,500 73,500 24,683 Explain Explain

678 Maintenance of miscellaneous plant 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Transmission and Distribution Expenses $928,065 $1,061,951 $918,196 $1,033,547 $1,051,903 $969,404

901 Supervision $0 $133 $165 $2,000 $2,000 $99 Explain Explain

902 Meter reading labor 19,657 20,175 19,681 23,500 24,000 19,838 Explain Explain

903 Customer records and collection expenses 80,223 79,592 86,794 91,000 93,500 82,203

904 Uncollectible accounts 0 527 (585) (20) (20) (19)

905 Miscellaneous customer accounts expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

906 Customer service and Information Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Customer Accounts Expenses $99,880 $100,427 $106,055 $116,480 $119,480 $102,121

910 Sales Expenses $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

920 Administrative and general salaries $285,213 $296,323 $296,572 $402,000 $412,500 $292,703 Explain Explain

921 Office supplies and expenses 41,865 42,862 40,284 68,500 70,500 41,670 Explain Explain

922 Administrative expenses transferred -- credit 0 0 0 0 0 0

923 Outside services employed 33,305 69,449 15,326 35,000 36,000 39,360

924 Property insurance 0 18,226 18,162 19,000 19,500 12,129 Explain Explain

925 Injuries and damages 65,035 38,138 48,012 53,500 55,000 50,395

926 Employee pensions and benefits 503,194 336,852 350,984 468,108 480,279 397,010 Explain Explain

928 Regulatory commission expenses 0 2,894 5,179 25,000 10,000 2,691 Explain Explain

929 Duplicate charges -- credit 0 0 0 0 0 0

930 Miscellaneous general expenses 59,579 67,160 80,439 99,500 102,000 69,059 Explain Explain

931 Rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

932 Maintenance of general plant 193,551 74,361 60,450 89,000 91,500 109,454 Explain Explain

Total Admin. And General Expenses $1,181,742 $946,265 $915,408 $1,259,608 $1,277,279 $1,014,472

Total Oper. And Maint. Expenses $2,765,350 $2,578,962 $2,472,023 $3,129,536 $3,156,412 $2,605,445

NOTE: All 2023 and test year 2024 estimates that vary from the three year average by

more than (plus or minus) 15 percent must be explained in detail in the Notes.

Estimated for Test Year 2024

City of West Bend Water Utility

OPERATING EXPENSES DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 11
Page 1 of 2

                                       

1. If any Plant Additions require Construction Approval by the PSC, a request for approval must be submitted to 
  the Commission for this rate increase application to be processed.  Please list the construction docket number(s):
2. Do not include Plant financed by Contributions.  Contributed Plant is shown in Attachment 11a.

Actual Estimated Estimated Test Year
Acct.                                       Balance   Balance   Balance Average
 No. Plant account 12/31/2022 Additions Retirements Adjustments 12/31/2023 Additions Retirements Additions Retirements 12/31/2024 Balance
               Notes (A,B) Note (B)            Notes (A,B) Note (B) Notes (A,B) Note (B)            

Intangible Plant
301 Organization $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
302 Franchises and consents 0 0 $0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
303 Miscellaneous intangible plant 0 0 $0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0
Total Intangible Plant $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

                                                                                                
Source of Supply

310 Land and land rights $142,270 $0 $0 $0 $142,270 $0 $0 $0 $0 $142,270 $142,270
311 Structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 930,000 0 0 0 930,000 930,000
312 Collecting and impounding reservoirs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
313 Lake, river, and other intakes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
314 Wells and springs 811,519 1,855,000 56,500 2,610,019 3,080,000 0 160,000 53,090 5,796,929 5,743,474
316 Supply mains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
317 Other water source plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Source of Supply Plant $953,789 $1,855,000 $56,500 $0 $2,752,289 $4,010,000 $0 $160,000 $53,090 $6,869,199 $6,815,744
                                                                                                

Pumping Plant
320 Land and land rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
321 Structures and improvements 1,386,388 100,000 0 0 1,486,388 0 0 0 43,735 1,442,653 1,464,521
323 Other power production equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
325 Electric pumping equipment 1,291,601 0 2,500 0 1,289,101 0 0 0 9,479 1,279,622 1,284,362
326 Diesel pumping equipment 569,794 0 0 0 569,794 0 0 0 0 569,794 569,794
328 Other pumping equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Pumping Plant $3,247,783 $100,000 $2,500 $0 $3,345,283 $0 $0 $0 $53,214 $3,292,069 $3,318,677

Water Treatment Plant
330 Land and land rights $76,102 $0 $0 $0 $76,102 $0 $0 $0 $0 $76,102 $76,102
331 Structures and improvements 373,164 100,000 0 0 473,164 0 0 0 0 473,164 $473,164
332 Sand or Other Media Filtration Equip 544,566 0 2,000 0 542,566 0 0 0 13,609 528,957 $535,762
333 Membrane Filtration Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 $0
334 Other Water Treatment Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 $0

Total Water Treatment Plant $993,832 $100,000 $2,000 $0 $1,091,832 $0 $0 $0 $13,609 $1,078,223 $1,085,028

2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 11
Page 2 of 2

                                       Estimated Test Year
Acct. Actual   Balance Estimated Average
 No. Plant account   Balance Additions Retirements Adjustments 12/31/2023 Additions Retirements Additions Retirements   Balance Balance

12/31/2022 Notes (A,B) Note (B) Notes (A,B) Note (B) Notes (A,B) Note (B) 12/31/2024

Transmission and Distribution Plant

340 Land and land rights $52,719 $0 $0 $0 $52,719 $0 $0 $0 $0 $52,719 $52,719
341 Structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
342 Distribution reservoirs and standpipes 2,450,455 0 2,500 0 2,447,955 0 0 0 0 2,447,955 2,447,955
343 Transmission and distribution mains 15,032,806 1,184,000 1,200 0 16,215,606 0 0 612,014 4,010 16,823,610 16,519,608
345 Services 1,621,406 0 8,700 0 1,612,706 0 0 252,215 15 1,864,906 1,738,806
346 Meters 2,590,931 149,000 0 0 2,739,931 0 124,000 0 2,863,931 2,801,931
348 Hydrants 3,083,692 0 10,000 0 3,073,692 0 0 35,771 16,260 3,093,203 3,083,448
349 Other transmission and distr. plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Transmission and Distr. Plant $24,832,009 $1,333,000 $22,400 $0 $26,142,609 $0 $0 $1,024,000 $20,285 $27,146,324 $26,644,467
                                                                                                            

UTILITY PLANT IN SERVICE
Estimated for Test Year 2024

Utility or Municipal Financed Transactions Only

Major Construction Routine Construction

City of West Bend Water Utility

Estimate 2024
 2023

City of West Bend Water Utility

UTILITY PLANT IN SERVICE
Estimated for Test Year 2024

Utility or Municipal Financed Transactions Only

 2023
Estimate 2024

Major Construction Routine Construction

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



General Plant
389 Land and land rights $245,950 $0 $0 $0 $245,950 $0 $0 $0 $0 $245,950 $245,950
390 Structures and improvements 974,109 35,000 0 0 1,009,109 0 0 200,000 113,298 1,095,811 1,052,460
391 Office furniture and equipment 35,933 0 0 0 35,933 0 0 0 0 35,933 35,933

391.1 Office furniture & equip - Computers 371,692 5,000 22,000 0 354,692 0 0 5,000 0 359,692 357,192
392 Transportation equipment 1,535,449 80,000 98,500 0 1,516,949 0 85,000 75,101 1,526,848 1,521,899
393 Stores equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
394 Tools, shop and garage equipment 211,755 0 0 0 211,755 0 0 0 0 211,755 211,755
395 Laboratory equipment 7,106 0 0 0 7,106 0 0 0 0 7,106 7,106
396 Power operated equipment 80,000 0 0 0 80,000 0 0 0 80,000 80,000
397 Communication equipment 168,278 0 0 0 168,278 0 0 0 0 168,278 168,278

397.1 SCADA equipment 1,055,247 0 0 0 1,055,247 0 0 75,000 0 1,130,247 1,092,747
398 Miscellaneous equipment 194,250 0 0 0 194,250 0 0 0 0 194,250 194,250

Total General Plant $4,879,769 $120,000 $120,500 $0 $4,879,269 $0 $0 $365,000 $188,399 $5,055,870 $4,967,570

                                                                                                            
Total Plant In Service $34,907,182 $3,508,000 $203,900 $0 $38,211,282 $4,010,000 $0 $1,549,000 $328,597 $43,441,685 $42,831,486

Please enter the construction docket(s) below:

Notes

Major construction additions to account 311 in 2023 are for the replacement of the building at Well No. 5 as authorized by 6380-CW-109. 
Major construction additions to account 314 in 2024 are for the installation of a new PFAS treatment system and related improvements as authorized by 6380-CW-110.

6380-CW-110
6380-CW-109

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 11a
Page 1 of 2

1. If any Plant Additions require Construction Approval by the PSC, a request for approval must be submitted to 
  the Commission for this rate increase application to be processed.  Please list the construction docket number(s):

Actual
Contributed Estimated  Estimated

Acct.                                     Plant   Balance   Balance

 No. Plant account 12/31/2022 Additions Retirements Adjustments 12/31/2023 Additions Retirements Additions Retirements 12/31/2024
               Note (A)            Note (A) Note (A)            

Intangible Plant
301 Organization $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
302 Franchises and consents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
303 Miscellaneous intangible plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Intangible Plant $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
                                                                                    

Source of Supply
310 Land and land rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
311 Structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
312 Collecting and impounding reservoirs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
313 Lake, river, and other intakes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
314 Wells and springs 0 0 0 0 0 2,730,000 0 0 0 2,730,000
316 Supply mains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
317 Other water source plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Source of Supply Plant $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,730,000 $0 $0 $0 $2,730,000
                                                                                    

Pumping Plant
320 Land and land rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
321 Structures and improvements 95,170 0 0 0 95,170 0 0 0 0 95,170
323 Other power production equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
325 Electric pumping equipment 31,157 0 0 0 31,157 0 0 0 0 31,157
326 Diesel pumping equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
328 Other pumping equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Pumping Plant $126,327 $0 $0 $0 $126,327 $0 $0 $0 $0 $126,327

Water Treatment Plant
330 Land and land rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
331 Structures and improvements 409,650 0 0 0 409,650 0 0 0 0 409,650
332 Sand and other media filtration Equip 345,350 0 0 0 345,350 0 0 0 0 345,350
333 Membrane Filtration Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
334 Other Water Treatment Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Water Treatment Plant $755,000 $0 $0 $0 $755,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $755,000

2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 11a
Page 2 of 2

Actual
                                       Contributed Estimated  Estimated

Acct. Plant   Balance   Balance
 No. Plant account 12/31/2022 Additions Retirements Adjustments 12/31/2023 Additions Retirements Additions Retirements 12/31/2024

           Note (A)            Note (A) Note (A)            

Contributed Plant
Estimated for Test Year 2024

Estimate 2024

City of West Bend Water Utility

Contributed Plant Transactions Only

Estimated 2023 Major Construction Routine Construction

Estimate 2024
Major Construction Routine Construction

City of West Bend Water Utility
Contributed Plant

Estimated for Test Year 2024
Contributed Plant Transactions Only

Estimated 2023

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



Transmission and Distribution Plant

340 Land and land rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
341 Structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
342 Distribution reservoirs and standpipes 32,658 0 0 0 32,658 0 0 0 0 32,658
343 Transmission and distribution mains 8,619,124 0 21,000 0 8,598,124 0 0 0 2,000 8,596,124
345 Services 2,697,425 0 0 0 2,697,425 0 0 0 0 2,697,425
346 Meters 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
348 Hydrants 1,036,975 0 0 0 1,036,975 0 0 0 0 1,036,975
349 Other transmission and distr. plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Transmission and Distr. Plant $12,386,182 $0 $21,000 $0 $12,365,182 $0 $0 $0 $2,000 $12,363,182
                                                                                    

General Plant
389 Land and land rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
390 Structures and improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
391 Office furniture and equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

391.1 Office furniture & equip - Computers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
392 Transportation equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
393 Stores equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
394 Tools, shop and garage equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
395 Laboratory equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
396 Power operated equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
397 Communication equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

397.1 SCADA equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
398 Miscellaneous equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total General Plant $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

                                                                                                
Total $13,267,509 $0 $21,000 $0 $13,246,509 $2,730,000 $0 $0 $2,000 $15,974,509

  Please list the construction docket(s) below:

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 12

                                       
1. The Estimated 2023 Depreciation Accrual in Column (A) is to be calculated based upon the current depreciation rates.

     i. If any rate other than the benchmark will be used for the test year, the rate should be entered. If an account is fully depreciated, a depreciation rate of 0% must be inserted.
3. Enter the appropriate adjustment information at the bottom of the schedule to reconcile the depreciation accrual to the estimated depreciation expense.
4. In the Notes, the Utility must describe unusual situations such as Miscellaneous Credits or adjustments 

Acct.
 No. Plant account Depr. Avg. Depreciable Depreciation Depr.  Average Depreciable Balance Test Year
                                        Rate (A) Balance Accrual Rate (B) Major Routine Major Routine Total

301-303 Total Intangible Plant N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
                                                            

Source of Supply
310 Land and land rights N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
311 Structures and improvements 0.00% $0 $0 3.20% $930,000 $0 $29,760 $0 $29,760
312 Collecting and impounding reservoirs 0.00% $0 0 1.70% 0 0 0 0 0
313 Lake, river, and other intakes 0.00% $0 0 1.70% 0 0 0 0 0
314 Wells and springs 2.90% $1,710,769 49,612 2.90% 3,080,000 2,663,474 89,320 77,241 166,561
316 Supply mains 0.00% $0 0 1.80% 0 0 0 0 0
317 Other water source plant 0.00% $0 0 4.50% 0 0 0 0 0

Total Source of Supply Plant $49,612 $196,321
                                                            

Pumping Plant
320 Land and land rights N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
321 Structures and improvements 3.20% $1,436,388 $45,964 3.20% $0 $1,464,521 $0 $46,865 $46,865
323 Other power production equipment 0.00% $0 0 4.40% 0 0 0 0 0
325 Electric pumping equipment 4.40% $1,290,351 56,775 4.40% 0 1,284,362 0 56,512 56,512
326 Diesel pumping equipment 4.40% $569,794 25,071 4.40% 0 569,794 0 25,071 25,071
328 Other pumping equipment 0.00% $0 0 4.40% 0 0 0 0 0

Total Pumping Plant $127,810 $128,448

Water Treatment Plant
330 Land and land rights N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
331 Structures and improvements 3.20% $423,164 $13,541 3.20% $0 $473,164 $0 $15,141 $15,141
332 Sand or Other Media Filtration Equip 3.20% $543,566 17,394 3.30% 0 535,762 0 17,680 17,680
333 Membrane Filtration Equipment 0.00% $0 0 6.00% 0 0 0 0 0
334 Other Water Treatment Equipment 0.00% $0 0 6.00% 0 0 0 0 0

Total Water Treatment Plant $30,935 $32,821

2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 12

Page 2 of 2

                                       Estimated 2023

Acct.
 No. Plant account Depr. Avg. Depreciable Depreciation Depr. Test Year

Rate (A) Balance Accrual Rate (B) Major Routine Major Routine Total

Transmission and Distribution Plant

340 Land and land rights N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
341 Structures and improvements 0.00% $0 $0 3.20% $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
342 Distribution reservoirs and standpipes 1.90% $2,449,205 46,535 1.90% 0 2,447,955 0 46,511 46,511
343 Transmission and distribution mains 1.30% $15,624,206 203,115 1.30% 0 16,519,608 0 214,755 214,755

Depreciation Accrual

Test Year 2024

Estimated for Test Year 2024

(per Attachment 11)(per Attach. 11)

City of West Bend Water Utility

DEPRECIATION ACCRUAL AND EXPENSE
Estimated for Test Year 2024

(per Attachment 11)(per Attach. 11)

2. The Test Year 2024 Depreciation Accrual in Column (B) is to be based upon the PSC Recommended Depreciation Benchmark Rates (revised 
March 2, 2000) or upon the Utility Proposed Rates for the test year.

Estimated 2023 Test Year 2024

City of West Bend Water Utility

DEPRECIATION ACCRUAL AND EXPENSE

 Average Depreciable Balance Depreciation Accrual

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



345 Services 2.90% $1,617,056 46,895 2.90% 0 1,738,806 0 50,425 50,425
346 Meters 5.50% $2,665,431 146,599 5.50% 0 2,801,931 0 154,106 154,106
348 Hydrants 2.20% $3,078,692 67,731 2.20% 0 3,083,448 0 67,836 67,836
349 Other transmission and distr. plant 0.00% $0 0 5.00% 0 0 0 0 0

Total Transmission and Distr. Plant $510,875 $533,633
                                                            

General Plant
389 Land and land rights N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
390 Structures and improvements 2.90% $991,609 $28,757 2.90% $0 $1,052,460 $0 $30,521 $30,521
391 Office furniture and equipment 5.80% $35,933 2,084 5.80% 0 35,933 0 2,084 2,084

391.1 Office furniture & equip - Computers 26.70% $363,192 96,972 26.70% 0 357,192 0 95,370 95,370
392 Transportation equipment 13.30% $1,526,199 202,984 13.30% 0 1,521,899 0 202,413 202,413
393 Stores equipment 0.00% $0 0 5.80% 0 0 0 0 0
394 Tools, shop and garage equipment 5.80% $211,755 12,282 5.80% 0 211,755 0 12,282 12,282
395 Laboratory equipment 5.80% $7,106 412 5.80% 0 7,106 0 412 412
396 Power operated equipment 7.50% $80,000 6,000 7.50% 0 80,000 0 6,000 6,000
397 Communication equipment 15.00% $168,278 25,242 15.00% 0 168,278 0 25,242 25,242

397.1 SCADA equipment 9.20% $1,055,247 97,083 9.20% 0 1,092,747 0 100,533 100,533
398 Miscellaneous equipment 5.80% $194,250 11,267 5.80% 0 194,250 0 11,267 11,267

Total General Plant $483,083 $486,124
                                                

Total $36,042,191 $1,202,315 $4,010,000 $38,304,445 $119,080 $1,258,267 $1,377,347

Miscellaneous Credits (Charges) to Accrual $0 Miscellaneous Credits (Charges) to Accrual $0

Estimated Depreciation Accrual (To Attachment 13)==> $1,202,315 (To Attachment 13)==> $1,377,347
Meter depr. allocated to sewer (deduction) 50 % <=Change if different (73,300) 50 %  <=Change if different allocation to sewer (77,053)
Adjustments & Depreciation charged clearing accounts, etc: add (deduct): 0 0
  (Specify) 2023/2024- Fully Depreciated Assets (54,791) (48,791)
  (Specify) 2023/2024 Fully Depreciated Assets w/2023 & 2024 Additions (267,881) (273,882)

Estimated Depreciation Expense $806,343 Test Year Depreciation Expense (To Attachment 14)==> $977,621

Please enter any full depreciated assets below:

Notes

2023 - Fully Depreciated: 394, 396, 397, 398
2023 -Fully Depreciated w/2023 additions: 391.1, 392

2024 - Fully Depreciated: 394, 397, 398
2024 - Fully Depreciated w/2024 Additions: 391 1 392 396

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y



2024 Test Year Estimated for Test Year 2024 ATTACHMENT 13

4. Explain adjustments in Notes section.

Test Year
Accumulated Depreciation (Account 111.1) Major Projects Routine Total Average Balance

January 1, 2023 Balance $14,917,013
   Add: Annual Accrual (A) 1,202,315

Salvage $0 0
  Less: Retirements (B) 203,900

Cost of Removal $0 0
Adjustments          increase (decrease) (C) 0 0
December 31, 2023 Balance $15,915,428 $15,915,428
   Add: Annual Accrual (A) $119,080 $1,258,267 1,377,347 748,214

Salvage 0 0 0 0
  Less: Retirements (B) 0 328,597 328,597 164,299

Cost of Removal 0 0 0 0
December 31, 2024 Balance $16,964,178

Test Year Average Balance $16,499,343

Materials and Supplies Inventory Test Year
Account Balances:    Average Balance

  December 31, 2020 (Actual) $103,218
  December 31, 2021 (Actual) 115,043
  December 31, 2022 (Actual) 142,154
  December 31, 2023 (Estimated) (D) 147,355 $73,678
  December 31, 2024 (Estimated) (D) 151,186 75,593

Test Year Average Balance $149,271

Regulatory Liability and Other Adjustments Regulatory Liab Test Year
Account Balances: (Acct 253) Total Average Balance

  December 31, 2022 (Actual) (E) $74,955 $74,955
  December 31, 2023 (Estimated) (E) $75,000 75,000 $37,500
  December 31, 2024 (Estimated) (E) 0 0 $0

Test Year Average Balance $37,500

(Estimated)
(per Attachment 12)

(Estimated)
(per Attachment 11)

City of West Bend Water Utility

1. The depreciation accrual totals for 2023 and 2024 must agree with Attachment 12. For rate case purposes, major 
construction additions are factored into the calculated accrual as if in service the entire year.
2. The plant retirements totals for 2023 and 2024 must agree with Attachment 11. If test year retirements are being retired as 
a result of major construction project, indicate that portion in the major projects column.
3. If there is a variance to the prior year balance of more or less than 15%, please state the basis used for developing the M 
& S estimates for 2023 & 2024.

Notes

Inventory has increased significantly from December 31, 2020 due to an increase in cost per unit and more inventory being held on hand as a result 
of production shortages.

(per Attachment 11)
(Estimated)
(Estimated)

(Estimated)

(Estimated)
(per Attachment 12)

(Estimated)

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 14

Part One: Total Operating Revenues (per Attachment 7) $5,532,319

Total Operation and Maintenance Expenses (per Attachment 10) $3,156,412
Depreciation Expense (per Attachment 12) 977,621
Amortization Expense--Account # 404 (specify): 0

Taxes (per Attachment 8) 813,798
Total Operating Expenses $4,947,831

         
Net Operating Income (Loss)-Test Year 2024 $584,488

         

Part Two: Utility Plant In Service--Financed by Utility or Municipality:
Test Year Average Balance   (per Attachment 11) $42,831,486

Materials and Supplies:
Test Year Average Balance   (per Attachment 13) 149,271

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation:
Test Year Average Balance   (per Attachment 13) 16,499,343

Regulatory Liability and Other:
Test Year Average Balance   (per Attachment 13) 37,500

Average Net Investment Rate Base (NIRB) $26,443,914

         

Part Three: Average Net Investment Rate Base (per Part Two above) $26,443,914
TIMES Rate of Return Requested

(Enter requested rate in this box.) 6.20% 6.20%

Return on Average Net Investment Rate Base (NIRB) $1,639,523

Total Operation and Maintenance Expenses (per Part One above) $3,156,412
TIMES allowance on O&M expenses 6.00%
Operating Allowance $189,385

Enter the larger of either:
      The Return on NIRB (A) or the Operating Allowance (B) $1,639,523

Less: Estimated Net Operating Income (Loss) (per Part One above) 584,488
         

Increase Requested-Test Year 2024 $1,055,035

Overall Percentage Increase in 
Total Sales of Water at Current Rates: 21.85%

City of West Bend Water Utility

Estimated for Test Year 2024

Notes

1. Part One calculates the Net Operating Income (loss) for the test year. All amounts are derived from other attachments 
except Amortization Expense, Account 404, which , if applicable, must be entered and the purpose specified.
2. Part Two is a calculation of Average Net Investment Rate Base for the test year. All amounts are derived from other 
attachments
3. Part Three calculates the estimated requested increase.
       i. Enter a requested rate of return (ROR) in the highlighted box and the estimated increase is calculated.
      ii. Generally, the current benchmark rate is used for most situations. If the Utility requests a different ROR, please 
describe the reasons in the Notes. An example of supporting detail would be a Cash Flows statement.

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 15
FINANCING OF PLANT ADDITIONS (Including Contributed Plant)

1. Identify the sources of financing plant additions for interim and test years. Use descriptions provided or specify other types of financing.

Estimated Test Year
Description 2023 2024

Contributed Plant by Developers $0
Contributed Plant by Customers 0
Special Assessments--Collections and Tax Roll 0
Grants for Plant Additions 0 2,730,000
Plant Paid for by Municipality 0
Plant Paid for by TIF District 0
Proceeds from Debt Issued during Year 0 3,820,000
Special Construction Funds 0
Available Cash or Invested Funds 0
Utility Earnings 3,508,000 1,739,000
Other:  (Specify) 0 0

Total 3,508,000$      8,289,000$      

Utility Financed Plant from Attachment 11 3,508,000        5,559,000        
Contributed Plant from Attachment 11a -                      2,730,000        

Total 3,508,000$      8,289,000$      

The total financing of additions should agree to the total additions to plant as forecast on Attachments 11 and 11a.

   DEBT SUMMARY

2. If necessary, please describe unusual situations in the Notes. 

Annual Outstanding Annual Outstanding Annual Outstanding
Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal

Description Expense (1) End of Year Expense (1) End of Year Expense (1) End of Year

Outstanding Debt Issues - Detailed List:

2016A General 9,850                 425,000              8,750                  370,000              7,600                  310,000              
2016C General 4,084                 260,000              2,936                  175,000              1,789                  90,000                
2017A General 8,250                 305,000              6,075                  230,000              4,181                  155,000              
2018A General 9,525                 290,000              7,875                  235,000              6,225                  180,000              
2019A' General 28,350               715,000              22,150                575,000              17,250                470,000              
2020B General 5,400                 210,000              4,800                  180,000              4,200                  150,000              
2024A General $0 $0 $18,000 $900,000 $34,200 $855,000
2024 Safe Drinking Water Loan $0 $0 $29,200 $2,920,000 $58,400 $2,920,000

Totals $65,459 $2,205,000 $99,786 $5,585,000 $133,845 $5,130,000

Note (1): Include as Interest Expense amounts which will be reported in Account 427, Interest on Long Term Debt; 
in Account 430, Interest on Debt to Municipality; and Account 431, Other Interest Charges.

City of West Bend Water Utility
FINANCING AND DEBT SUMMARY

Notes

Estimated 2023 Estimated 2024 Estimated 2025

      ii. All debt issues for all utility departments and non-utility sewer departments reported in the PSC annual report must be included, 
unless a separate balance sheet and income statement are provided.

       i. Include the corresponding annual interest, either accrued or payable, for each issue.
1. List Utility's debt issues. Use only one line for each existing and estimated new debt issue.

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 16

No

If yes, answer the following:

1) Describe the facilities to be constructed using the impact fees.

2) Provide the year the impact fees were adopted.

3) Provide the year the facilities were or will be constructed.

4) Provide a copy of the most recent impact fee study and impact fee ordinance.

Note: If more than one water utility impact fee exists, answer the above questions for each project.
If more space is needed please include an explanation in the footnotes on Attachment 19.

Is the utility currently collecting impact fees, 
capacity assessments, or other such fees?

Notes

A. This attachment requests information about impact fees. If the utility has impact 
fees, please complete the schedule and supply the impact fee study and impact 
fee ordinance as a separate file on ERF.

City of West Bend Water Utility

IMPACT FEES

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 17
Part One:

Units Units Units Units Net
Year Added Retired Added Retired Units

Feet of Main 2023 4,138 960 0 3,178 0
Feet of Main-Routine 2024 1,900 1,460 0 440 0
Feet of Main-Major Projects 2024 0 0 0 0 0

Hydrants 2023 10 10 0 0 0
Hydrants-Routine 2024 5 5 0 0 0
Hydrants-Major Projects 2024 1 1 0 0 0

Water Service Installation

Does the utility wish to revise Schedule Cz-1, the charge for installing a water service?

Late Fees

Other Charges (Schedule OC-1)

Non-Sufficient Funds Yes Amount:  $    20.00 
Is the Utility also regulated for electric and/or sewer rates?
Amount charged by your financial institution:

Special Billing Charge No  
Special Meter Reading Charge No  
Missed Appointment Charge No   
Real Estate Closing Charge No  

Reconnection Charges (Schedule R-1) Field Staff Admin Staff Vehicle

Normal Business Hours: 50.00$    # of Hours 1.00 0.25 1.00
After Hours: 75.00$    Hourly Rate 31.34$    22.00$      16.52$          

R-1 Total 31.34$    5.50$        16.52$          

Public Fire Protection Charges (Schedule F-1)

How will the utility collect the PFP charge?
Method for calculating direct charges:
 

Will direct charges also be applied to non-customers who own property in the municipality?

If your utility collects PFP through a municipal charge, please answer the following question.
1.  Does the utility have water customers that reside outside the municipal limits?    No

No

Schedule X-4: Deferred Payment Agreements (DPA)

Do you request to amend the utility's tariff related to DPA's for residential customers? No

Schedule X-4: Continued

Equivalent Meter

6"-2,085'; 8"-262; 12"-1,791"

The Wisconsin Administrative Code provides alternatives for late payment charges on delinquent bills 
for service. If the utility is also regulated by the PSC for electric and/or sewer rates, it is recommended 
that the charge be consistent for all. Please indicate which late payment charge the utility wants to be 
included in its tariff.

Indicate diameter(s) 
and length(s) of main 

added and retired

1% per month charge

 

No

-

6" - 1,460'; 8" - 440'

Attachment 11a

City of West Bend Water Utility

MISCELLANEOUS
Test Year 2024

If plant accounts in Attachment 11 and/or Attachment 11a (Utility Plant in Service) have transactions for the interim 
or test year for Account 343 (Mains) or Account 348 (Hydrants) specify the units added and/or retired for each 
account . 

Attachment 11

2.  If yes, does the utility wish to provide an outside utility rate to recover public fire 
    protection costs through a Schedule Mg-2? 

No - water rates only

No Change Requested

No

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



Yes
Select the rate option for billing excess usage due to leak:

Option 1)  the lowest volumetric rate provided in the utility’s Schedule Mg-1. Yes

Option 2)  $X.YZ per [1,000 gallons/100 cubic feet].  See your records or most recent cost study.

No

General Service Rate Design (Schedule Mg-1)

Please indicate the preferred rate design for each customer class:

General/Residential
Multifamily Residential
Non-Residential

Irrigation Rate No
Additional Meter Charge (Am-1) No

Are you interested in rate design to promote conservation goals? No

NOTE: 

Rebate Programs
No

http://psc.wi.gov/conservation/documents/wc-RebateProgram.pdf

Utilities proposing a modified rate structure should submit detailed customer billing information for the most recent 
12 months. For each billing period, include an analysis by customer class of the number of customer bills ending in 
each 1,000 gallon or 100 cubic foot increment, the total number of bills in the billing period, and the total volume of 
sales in the billing period.  For residential customers, it is suggested that the increments be in 1,000's of gallons, up
to 25,000 gallons per month (75,000 gallons per quarter), and then by 5,000 gallon increments.

Declining Block Rate

Please indicate if you would like an irrigation rate or an additional meter charge (choose one or none).

Declining Block Rate

Does the Utility wish to establish a new rebate or incentive program
for water saving fixtures and/or water efficiency process changes?  

3) Update the meter count, fixed revenues, volume revenues, and total actual billed revenues for the irrigation 
customer class as shown in Attachment 2B.  Remember that as you add a meter to the irrigation class, you must 
subtract it from one of the other customer classes. 

1) We will eliminate Schedule Am-1 from your tariff.  All existing Am-1 deduct meters will become irrigation meters 

The Public Service Commission of Wisconsin defines the irrigation customer class as “customers who have water 
service provided primarily for landscape irrigation.  For the purpose of this schedule, landscape irrigation includes the 
use of water to sustain crops, lawns, or landscapes on any residential, commercial, industrial, or public authority 
property, including water used for irrigating athletic fields, parks, and golf courses.  Irrigation customers include those 
customers that have multiple meters installed on a single lateral for the purpose of measuring water that is not 
discharged to the sanitary sewer system.  The utility shall classify each additional meter as an irrigation meter and 
treat each meter as a separate general service customer.”

2) Please identify all of your irrigation customers. This will become your new irrigation customer class that will receive 
its own unique uniform water rate.  Water for irrigation will have higher volume rates than general service volume rates

N/A

Describe any proposed modifications to the general service rates or list any other proposed tariff or schedule changes below:
Also, please indicate any tariff language the Utility currently has that is considered non-standard.  (e.g. X-1, Mg-1, F-1, etc.)

1. Do you currently offer leak credits to water customers?  If so, please provide your policy on Attach19.

2. Do you currently offer budget billing to water customers?  If so, please provide your policy on Attach19.

Declining Block Rate

4) Please identify the annual combined consumption of the irrigation meters by rate block.  Update Attachment 2A 
accordingly.  Remember that as you add consumption to the irrigation customer class, you must subtract it from some 
of the other customer classes.  The irrigation usage must be based on your customers that will be reclassified as 
irrigation customers.

If yes, the Utility must obtain PSC approval before spending additional ratepayer-generated funds on 
these efforts.  In general, the PSC allows utilities to spend one to two percent of total operating revenues 
on water conservation programs.  Please provide the PSC with an implementation plan that is consistent 
with “Implementing Toilet Rebates and Other Incentive Programs” found on our website:

If you decide to pursue an irrigation rate, then please provide the following information:

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



Once a conservation program is approved, the Utility will be required to report annually on the costs, 
gallon savings, and other supporting information about its program by completing page W-27 in the 
WEGS Annual Reporting System.  

No.

Are there any specific timing constraints that this case is depending on?  Are there any external deadlines related to
funding or other issues (DNR or safe drinking water) that Commission staff should be aware of?

Footnotes

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 18

2. If the utility has a conservation program that was authorized by the PSC, please complete
the deferred expense schedule below.

Deferred Expense Schedule:
Beginning Account 186 Account 253 End of Year

Program Year Ending Balance Expenditures Collections Expenses
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

December 31, 
December 31, 
December 31, 
December 31, 

$0
$0
$0
$0

Residential

Multifamily

Commercial

Industrial

Public Authority

Other

Additional Comments:

City of West Bend Water Utility

WATER CONSERVATION SPENDING

Test Year 2024

Total Expenses (To be Recorded in Account 906)

Net Balance of Acct. 186 (debit) and Acct. 253 (credit) Last Actual Year
Amortization Expense (Net Balance Divided by 3)

1. This attachment requests information about the utilty's water conservation 
spending. The utility only needs to complete this schedule if it has a PSC approved 
water conservation program.

Customer Class

Estimated Future Annual Expenditures

Test Year Sales
Without Conservation

Conservation Adjusted
Test Year Sales

What are the estimated effects of the utility's planned water conservation and efficiency 
program on water sales for the test year?  Estimate the reduction in volumetric sales, by 
customer class, for the test year.  Test year sales in Attachment 3 should reflect 
adjustments for conservation.

No water conservation programs are used by the utility.

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 19
City of West Bend Water Utility

2024
Additional Notes

Explanation for expense calculations - Estimated 2023
    610-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan/position reclassification.
    620-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan/position reclassification. 
    623-2023:Electricity consumed for all pumping operations, the utility industry has seen energy costs becoming volatile in FY2022 compared to prior years.
    624-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    630-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    631-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    633-2023:Increase due to Well #10, #11 maintenance.
    641-2023:The utility industry has undergone volaitle chemical costs during FY2022 and looks to be continuing in the future.
    642-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan/position reclassification.
    643-2023:Safety equipment costs.
    650-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    652-2023:Increase due to chemical system supplies/parts and airstripper generator maintenance.
    660-2023:Decrease in hours estimate for expense account
    663-2023:Increase in compensation plan and hours estimate. 
    665-2023:Increase due to printing of system maps and cross connection control program.
    670-2023:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    672-2023:Increase due to annual amortization of water tower painting.
  673-2023:Decrease due to less main breaks in the current year, compared to the prior years.
    675-2023:Increase in compensation plan and concrete replacment for service repairs
    676-2023:Increase due to increase cost of materials and 2021 costs weighing down the 3 year average.
    677-2023:Increase in compensation plan, hours, and cost of private contractor painting/lowering fire hydtrants.
    901-2023:Increase in compensation plan & expected hours.
    902-2023:Increase in compensation plan & expected hours.
    920-2023:Increase in compensation plan and increased costs for annual software.
    921-2023:Increase due to general city allocations.
    924-2023:2023 amounts consistenet with 2022 and 2021 - Average lower due to 2020 having zero costs.
    925-2023:Increase in insurance costs
    926-2023:Increase in life insurance premium and implemenation of compensation plan.
    928-2023:PSC & rate case costs.
    930-2023:Increase in alloacted costs from the city.
    932-2023:Increase in city allocations and fuel/energy costs

2024 Explanations for expense fluctuations - Test Year 2024
    610-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan/position reclassification.
    614-2024:Corporate Center Association Dues, Sampling Costs, Lead & Copper Testing Costs
    620-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan/position reclassification. 
    623-2024:Electricity consumed for all pumping operations, the utility industry has seen energy costs becoming volatile in FY2022 compared to prior years.
    624-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    630-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    631-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    633-2024:Increase due to Well #10, #11 maintenance.
    641-2024:The utility industry has undergone volaitle chemical costs during FY2022 and looks to be continuing in the future.
    642-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan/position reclassification.
    643-2024:Safety equipment costs.
    650-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
    660-2024:Decrease in hours estimate for expense account
    663-2024:Increase in compensation plan and hours estimate. 
    670-2024:Increase due to implementation of compensation plan.
   672-2024:Increase due to annual amortization of water tower painting.
   673-2024:Decrease due to less main breaks in the current year, compared to the prior years.
    675-2024:Increase in compensation plan and concrete replacment for service repairs
    676-2024:Increase due to increase cost of materials and 2021 costs weighing down the 3 year average.
    677-2024:Increase in compensation plan, hours, and cost of private contractor painting/lowering fire hydtrants.
    901-2024:Increase in compensation plan & expected hours.
    902-2024:Increase in compensation plan & expected hours.
    920-2024:Increase in compensation plan and increased costs for annual software.
    921-2024:Increase due to general city allocations.
    924-2024:2024 amounts consistenet with 2023, 2022, 2021, adn 2020 - Average lower due to 2020 having zero costs.
    925-2024:Increase in insurance costs
    926-2024:Increase in life insurance premium and implemenation of compensation plan.
    928-2024:PSC & rate case costs.
    930-2024:Increase in alloacted costs from the city.
    932-2024:Increase in city allocations and fuel/energy costs

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 19a

Pensions and Benefits Expense

b. Expense details should be provided for the test year and three prior years for Account 686 (Class D)

or Account 926 (Classes AB and C).

2021 2022 2023 2024

Pensions 64674 66880 97320 99850

Health Insurance 281157 279430 364908 374396

Life Insurance 4229 4674 5880 6033

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Total for Account 686 or 926 350,060 350,984 468108 480279

Membership Dues

Account 2023 2024

AWWA 930 1500 1539

WRWA 930 555 569

MEG - water N/A 0 0

Alliance for Water Efficiency N/A 0 0

930 175 180

930 2526 2592

Water Tower Painting

Year Last 
Painted

Next Date To 
Be Painted

Prior
Cost

Current 
Cost

Number 
of Years 
Between 
Paintings

Annual 
Normaliza-

tion

2009 2034 482414.86 500000 25 20000

2002 2023 203408.45 586000 23 25478.2609

2011 2036 155235.21 400000 25 16000

2015 2040 389861.16 400000 25 16000

1997 2024 34500 350000 29 12068.9655

Other Normalizations

See Instructions for Attachment 10.

Explain on Attachment 19.

Second Meters

Yes

b. Does the utility have rate schedule Am-1, Additional Meter Rental Charge? No

If yes, fill out the summary below.

Revenues from additional meters should be reported in Account 474, Other Water Revenue on Attachment 7.

Residential Multifamily Commercial Industrial
Public 

Authority

General Service Meters 11,043 191 821 78 65 Columns H to L on W-23

a. Does the utility have any customers with second meters to measure water not discharged to the 
sanitary sewer system?

For more information about second meters, please visit the "What are the allowable configurations and 
applicable charges for additional meters?" on the Commission's wesbite using the following link.

Last Actual
Year End Count

FAQs:  Meters

Northwest Standpipe

City of West Bend Water Utility

2024

Required Supplemental Information

Vacation/Holiday/Sick Leave

0

Hospital Tower

Description

a. Pension and Benefits Expense should include Pensions, Health Insurance, Life Insurance, and other employee benefits. It
should not include employee payroll taxes and employee reimbursement expenses such as phone and transportation. The totals 
on this schedule should equal the total Pensions and Benefits Expense listed on Attachment 10.

10th Avenue Tower

Barton Tower

University Standpipe

These totals should agree with Attach10

a. Membership Dues should include each organization the Utility belongs to as well as the account number that Membership 
Dues are recorded in.
b. For each organization the utility belongs to, identify the amount of the dues for the years noted below and indicate what
expense account is charged.

a. Water Tower Painting should include each water tower painting. Please provide an explanation on the Current Cost in the 
Notes.
b. The normalized cost of water tower painting should be included in the forecast for Account 650 (Class C&D utilities) or
Account 672 (Class AB utilities).  Also, see Instructions - Attachment 10.

APWA

Other Departments

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



Additional Meters Columns I or Q on W-23

Total 11043 191 821 78 65

The totals should agree with the meter counts reported on page W-23 of Annual Report.

Payroll Allocations

If employees perform work for more than one function, please explain how costs are assigned to the water utility.  

For example, when an employee performs work for municipal parks, sewer, water, and private lead service lines, 

describe how the salary and wages dollars are assigned to the regulated water utility.

Notes

If a Utility employee performs services for another department (General City or Sewer Utility), those hours are 
        charged to that department either by direct payroll allocation or by journal entry.

If the utility does not have Schedule Am-1 but has customers with seconds meters, how are these customers billed 
for the second meter?

Second meters that are "water only" are billed in accordance with the rates in schedule Mg-1.  
Second meters that are "sewer deduct" meters are billed in accordance with the Sewer Utility rate structure.

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2024 Test Year ATTACHMENT 19b

1. Yes

Year

2020

2021

2022

2.
No

A. Provide the test year estimate and methodology used to determine the forecast?

Did the Utility include any expenses related to accepting credit cards in the test year 
O&M forecast?  If not, does the Utility want to include such expenses in the current 
application?  If yes to either question, please provide further information on the 

City of West Bend Water Utility

Required Supplemental Information

E. Provide a breakdown of the cost per transaction and any other fees that are incurred by the Utility.

D. Identify either the vendor or the third party company used by the utility.

The customer currently pays the convenience fee of 2.75% for credit card transactions.

Does not apply - customer pays the credit card fee.

0

0

0

CREDIT CARD FEES

Does the Utility currently offer credit card billing?  If yes, provide the following:

A. Does the Utility or customer currently pay the transaction fee?

$

No credit card transaction fees are paid by the Utility. 

2024

C. Provide the most recent three years of credit card fee expense.

On January 25, 2019, the PSC sent communication to all municipal utilities outlining recent decisions to allow utilities 
to recover credit card processing fees through rates.  As stated in that letter, municipal utilities may now request 
recovery of credit cards fees in a conventional rate case.   If the Utility currently allows customers to pay utility bills 
using a credit card, please answer Question #1.  If the Utility currently wants to include the cost to process credit 
cards payments in the estimated test year O&M expenses, please answer Question #2

B. What expense account(s) does the Utility use to record credit card fees?

Payment Service Network (PSN)

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



B. Provide the allocation percentage(s) and methodology used to allocate credit card fees across utilities or shared services.

H. Has the utility worked with vendor(s) to negotiate lower fees?
H1:  Identify utility efforts to minimize fees.

          H2:  Provide name of vendor(s) contacted.
          H3:  Provide quoted amount(s) from each vendor contacted.

C. What O&M account did the Utility use for the test year estimate?

D. Identify the vendor the Utility will be using.

G. Does the Utility expect more customers to use credit cards if this payment option is offered at no charge to the
customer?  If so, what percentage of customers do you estimate will pay by credit card?

E. Provide a breakdown of the cost per transaction and any other fees that will be incurred by the Utility.

F. What percentage of customers currently pay by credit card?

DRAFT 4.24.245.b

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 W

at
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 -

 T
es

t 
Y

ea
r 

20
24

 -
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

W
at

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

 

 

Sewer Utility 

 

 

 
DATE: May 1, 2024 

TO: Board of Public Works 

FROM: Ruth Mueller, Utility Director 

SUBJECT: Sewer Utility Rate Review 

 

In accordance with the City of West Bend Sewer Use Ordinance, Baker Tilly recently completed 

a comprehensive rate study for the Sewer Utility to determine the adequacy of the current rates.  

The study concluded that a rate increase is necessary to meet both operational and capital needs.  

The key factors contributing to the need for this increase are outlined below: 

 

• Sand Filter Rehabilitation Project:  Compliance with Wisconsin Department of Natural 

Resources (DNR) regulations requires a substantial investment of $6.43 million in the 

Sand Filter Rehabilitation Project for Phosphorus Removal.  The Sewer Utility has 

followed the DNR established nine-year compliance schedule which includes 

investigating options for phosphorus removal, economic impact, and pilot studies. This 

project serves as the primary driving force behind the proposed rate increase and has been 

discussed and on the horizon for over 15 years.   

• Maintain and Upgrade Aging Plant:  The Wastewater Treatment Plant was constructed in 

1980, designed with a 25-year life. Major repairs and replacements have taken place in 

recent years to maintain operational efficiency and compliance standards.   

• Infrastructure Maintenance:  Ongoing maintenance and upgrades to aging infrastructure 

include recent sewer main replacement projects on Laurel Drive South and Pennsylvania 

Avenue. Upcoming projects include Maplewynde Road, Butternut Street and Hawthorn 

Drive sewer main replacements.  

• Operating Costs:  Anticipated increases in operating costs, attributed to inflation, health 

insurance expenses and labor/benefits, further contribute to the need for a rate 

adjustment.  

• City Hall Administrative and General Costs:  City Hall costs due to additional operational 

and health care costs have increased dramatically over the past few years. 

 

The information provided by Baker Tilly gives options for the following rates of return (ROR) - 

0%, 2% and 4%.   

 

Assuming the rate change occurs in 2024, the two-step projected rate increases are as follows: 

 

6

Packet Pg. 73



    2024    2025 

 0% ROR 11.50% increase in rates 5.71% increase in rates  

 2% ROR 20.99% increase in rates 6.85% increase in rates 

 4% ROR  30.48% increase in rates 7.83% increase in rates 

 

If the rate increase does not occur until 2025, the proposed rate increase is as follows: 

 

0% ROR 17.85% increase in rates   

   2% ROR 29.24% increase in rates  

   4% ROR  40.62% increase in rates  

 

 

The last rate increase occurred on January 1, 2020, with an 11.91% increase with a 2% ROR.  

Prior to that increase, rates were increased by 4% in December, 2006.  We propose that any 

approved rate increase be effective immediately. 

6

Packet Pg. 74



West Bend Sewer Utility
Test Year 2024 and 2025 Rate Study Summary

 - Forecast/rate study based on historical trends.
 - 2024 and 2025 based on management's capital and operating budgets and best estimates.
 - Rates last changed in 2020, based on the 2018 test year.

 - Several large upcoming projects, including the sand filter rehabilitation project, routine main replacement projects.

TY2018
2% ROR 0% ROR 2% ROR 4% ROR 0% ROR 2% ROR 4% ROR 0% ROR 2% ROR 4% ROR

Plant in service 32,310,295$    59,730,537$    59,730,537$    59,730,537$   64,398,179$   64,398,179$   64,398,179$   64,398,179$     64,398,179$   64,398,179$   
Accumulated depreciation (13,156,003)     (32,909,202)     (32,909,202)     (32,909,202)    (34,139,604)   (34,139,604)   (34,139,604)   (34,139,604)      (34,139,604)   (34,139,604)   
Contributions in aid of construction -                   (9,864,205)       (9,864,205)       (9,864,205)      (9,864,205)     (9,864,205)     (9,864,205)     (9,864,205)        (9,864,205)     (9,864,205)     

Net rate base 19,154,292$    16,957,130$    16,957,130$    16,957,130$   20,394,370$   20,394,370$   20,394,370$   20,394,370$     20,394,370$   20,394,370$   

Operating revenues 3,740,900$      4,470,900$      4,470,900$      4,470,900$     4,913,515$     5,252,615$     5,591,815$     4,502,215$       4,502,215$     4,502,215$     

Operating expenses
Operating & Maintenance 2,523,000        3,338,100        3,338,100        3,338,100       3,422,200       3,422,200       3,422,200       3,422,200         3,422,200       3,422,200       
Depreciation 1,246,400        1,544,100        1,544,100        1,544,100       1,719,523       1,719,523       1,719,523       1,719,523         1,719,523       1,719,523       

Total 3,769,400        4,882,200        4,882,200        4,882,200       5,141,723       5,141,723       5,141,723       5,141,723         5,141,723       5,141,723       

Operating income (28,500)$          (411,300)$        (411,300)$        (411,300)$       (228,208)$      110,892$        450,092$        (639,508)$         (639,508)$      (639,508)$      

Rate of return (ROR) -0.15% -2.43% -2.43% -2.43% -1.12% 0.54% 2.21% -3.14% -3.14% -3.14%

Benchmark rate of return 2.00% 0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 0.0% 2.0% 4.0%

Increase needed ($) 411,300           750,400           1,089,600      228,200         297,000         365,700         639,500           1,047,400      1,455,300      

Increase needed (%) 11.50% 20.99% 30.48% 5.71% 6.85% 7.83% 17.85% 29.24% 40.62%

$ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Current Rates 70.28$             per quarter Current Rates 70.28$            per quarter
0% Rate of Return 79.80               per quarter 9.52                13.55% 0% Rate of Return 84.48 per quarter 4.68                5.86%
2% Rate of Return 86.40               per quarter 16.12              22.94% 2% Rate of Return 92.48 per quarter 6.08                7.04%
4% Rate of Return 93.00               per quarter 22.72              32.33% 4% Rate of Return 100.38 per quarter 7.38                7.94%

Summary of Revenue Requirement Increase

TY2025 - w/ rate change in 2024TY2024 TY2025 - w/out rate change in 2024

TY2024 TY2025

Background

 - Increase in on-going operating and maintenance costs.

Key Factors

Average Residential Customer Impact per Quarter (Assuming Rate Change in 2024)

6.a

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
H

an
d

o
u

t 
4.

24
.2

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
West Bend, Wisconsin 

FORECASTED SEWER RATE STUDY 

Prepared as of 

May 6, 2024 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

 WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
 
Accountants' Compilation Report 1 
 
Management Information 2 – 4 
 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 5 
 
Summary of Significant Assumptions 6 – 7 
 
Schedules 
 
  Revenue Requirement 
 
 1 Revenue Requirement  8 
 2 Summary of Rates 9 
 3 Cash Flow – No Increase 10 
 3A Cash Flow – 0% Rate of Return 11 
 3B Cash Flow – 2% Rate of Return 12 
 3C Cash Flow – 4% Rate of Return 13 
 4 Comparative Revenues and Expenses 14 
 5 Rate of Return 15 
 6 Cost of Capital 16 
 
  Forecasted Operating Revenues 
 
 7 Consumer Analysis – Actual June 2022 – May 2023 17 
 7A Consumer Analysis – Wholesale – Actual June 2022 – May 2023 18 
 8 Consumer Analysis – Outside Haulers, Holding Tank – Actual June 2022 – May 2023 19 
 8A Consumer Analysis – Badger State, MJM, QR – Actual June 2022 – May 2023 20 
 8B Consumer Analysis – Badger State, MJM, QR – Forecasted 2024 and 2025 21 
 9 Sales Forecast 22 
 9A Biogas Revenues 23 
 10 Consumer Analysis – Forecasted 2023 24 
 11 Consumer Analysis – Forecasted 2024 25 
 12 Consumer Analysis – Forecasted 2025  26 
 
  Forecasted Operating Expenses 
 
 13 Operation and Maintenance Expenses – Actual 2020 – 2022 27 
 14 Operation and Maintenance Expenses – Actual 2023 – Forecasted 2025 28 
 
  Forecasted Plant and Related Schedules 
 
 15 Plant in Service 29 
 16 Plant Additions/Retirements – Actual 2022 30 
 16A Plant Additions/Retirements – Forecasted 2023 31 
 17 Plant Additions/Retirements – Forecasted 2024 32 
 18 Plant Additions/Retirements – Forecasted 2025 33 
 19 Depreciation Expense – Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025  34 
 20 Accumulated Depreciation and Contributions in Aid of Construction 35 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

 WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.) 
 

 
 
Schedules (cont.) 
 
  Step I Cost of Service 
 
 21 Summary of Cost of Service Study – 2024 36 
 22 Quarterly Bill Comparison – 2024 37 
 23 Calculation of Demand and Fixed Charge – 2024 38 
 24 Calculation of Unit Treatment Charge – 2024 39 
 25 Consumer Analysis – 2024 40 
 
  Step II Cost of Service 
 
 26 Summary of Cost of Service – 2025 41 
 27 Quarterly Bill Comparison – 2025 42 
 28 Calculation of Demand and Fixed Charge – 2025 43 
 29 Calculation of Unit Treatment Charge – 2025 44 
 30 Consumer Analysis – 2025 45 
 
  Cost of Service – Allocation Schedules 
 
 31 Allocation of Operation and Maintenance Expenses – 2025 46 
 32 Depreciation Allocation – 2025 47 
 33 Plant Allocation – 2025 48 
 
  Septage and Other Wastewater Charges 
 
 34 Operation and Maintenance Allocation Without Collection System – 2025 49 
 35 Plant Allocation Without Collection System – 2025 50 
 36 Summary of Cost of Service Study – 2025 51 
 37 Calculation of Hauler Rate 52 
 37A Consumer Analysis – Outside Haulers, Holding Tank – Forecast 2024 and 2025 53 
 38 Calculation of Sewer Deduct Meter Charge – 2024 and 2025 Rates 54 
 
Attachment 
 
 1 Debt Schedules 55 
 
 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



1 

 Accountants' Compilation Report 
 
 
 

To Management of the West Bend Sewer Utility 
West Bend, Wisconsin 

Management is responsible for the accompanying forecasted Schedules 1 through 38 (Schedules) as 
identified in the table of contents of the West Bend Sewer Utility, an enterprise fund of the City of West Bend, 
Wisconsin for the years ending December 31, 2024 and 2025, including the related summaries of significant 
assumptions and accounting policies in accordance with guidelines for the presentation of a forecast 
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). We have performed a 
compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services 
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not examine or review 
the forecasted Schedules nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or 
completeness of the information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a 
conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on this forecasted Schedules. 

The forecasted results may not be achieved, as there will usually be differences between the forecasted and 
actual results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and these differences 
may be material. We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after 
the date of this report. 

The accompanying supplementary information, identified as historical financial information for the years 
ended December 31, 2020 through April 30, 2023, Attachment 1 and non-financial information, contained in 
the Schedules is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the forecast. Such 
information is the responsibility of management. The supplementary information was subject to our 
compilation engagement. We have not examined or reviewed the supplementary information and do not 
express an opinion, a conclusion nor provide any assurance on such information. 

 
 
 
 
Madison, Wisconsin 
May 6, 2024 
 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



2 

 WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
 
 
PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

 
 BI-ANNUAL RATE REVIEW 
 
In order for the West Bend Sewer Utility (“the Utility”) to operate financially on a self-sustaining basis, the 
Utility must develop rates sufficient to meet operating and capital needs. The City Council has established 
an ordinance requiring a bi-annual review of sewer rates in order to assure rates reflect current cost of 
service. This report presents a study of the revenue needs of the sewer utility for the bi-annual period 
ending December 31, 2025. 
 
 RATE REVIEW PROCESS 
 
The process of developing rates in this report includes three steps: 
 
 1.  Analyzing prior costs and forecasting the expected financial results for future test years (ending 

December 31, 2024 and 2025) to determine the amount of revenue needed from rates. 

 2.  Preparing a cost of service study to determine the cost of each parameter of service and the 
related cost to serve each customer class. 

 3.  Designing rates based on the cost of service study and/or other management objectives. 
 
 UTILITY BASIS 
 
The revenue requirement is based on forecasted expenses for the test years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2025. The test year expenses are based on 2020 through 2022 actual and forecasted 2023 
expenses adjusted for inflation and changes as requested by Utility management. The Utility is not 
regulated by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW); however, this study has been 
completed using the "utility basis" of rate making which is the standard followed by the PSCW. 
 
The Utility basis of rate making includes the following revenue requirement components: 
 
 1.  Annual operation and maintenance expenses. 

 2.  Annual depreciation. 

 3.  Annual return on investment. 
 
 ASSUMPTIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The assumptions used in the forecast represent management’s estimate of the cost of operations, capital 
improvements and customer use statistics. This report includes a summary of significant accounting 
policies. Except as noted, this forecast applies the same accounting policies as the historical financial 
statements of the Utility. 
 
 RATE OF RETURN 
 
Based on the Utility's capital structure, cost of debt and past preferences of the board, a 2% rate of return 
has been used in this study. This rate of return is forecasted to result in an interest coverage adequate to 
enable the utility to meet the conditions of its loan covenants and provide a reasonable return on 
municipal equity. A 2.0% - 4.0% rate of return should provide adequate capital for the sewer utility to 
remain a self-sufficient enterprise fund of the city. Schedules 3-3C present the cash flow impact of 
alternative rates of return for analysis. 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



3 

 WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
 
 
PURPOSE AND SCOPE (cont.) 

 
 COST OF SERVICE ALLOCATION 
 
A cost of service study is an apportionment of the cost of providing sewer service to those parameters 
which cause the expense to be incurred. The study proceeds through the identification of cost by 
parameters, the calculation of unit costs for each parameter, and the development of rates which, when 
applied to the sewer utility volume and loadings, will produce the required revenues. 
 
Elements of the revenue requirement are assigned to components related to volume and strength of 
wastewater. The total revenue requirement has been allocated to seven parameters. These are: 
 
   – Flow (Volume) 

   – Strength or Loadings (BOD, Suspended Solids, Phosphorus and Nitrogen) 

   – Fixed (Demand and Customer Charge) 
 
Volume costs are defined as those costs which vary directly with the rate of flow reaching the plant and 
consist of the capital and operating costs related to systems facilities sized on the basis of wastewater 
flow. 
 
Wastewater strength costs represent capital and operating costs related to system facilities required for 
removal or reduction of BOD, suspended solids, phosphorus and nitrogen. 
 
Demand and customer costs are related to the average and maximum flows and are allocated to meter 
sizes to develop the quarterly fixed charge. 
 
 ALLOCATION OF PLANT AND DEPRECIATION ACCRUAL 
 
The estimated plant investment in the collecting and pumping system, treatment and disposal and 
general plant, and the related depreciation is shown on Schedules 15 through 19. 
 
The allocation of plant and related depreciation is the basic step in estimating customer responsibility for 
capital related costs and is shown on Schedules 32 and 33. 
 
 ALLOCATION OF OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
The allocation of operating expenses is shown on Schedule 31. Each operating expense was analyzed by 
major element such as payroll costs which include salaries, wages and direct fringe benefits, power 
supplies and materials, heating, transportation equipment and other expenses. 
 
 RATE DESIGN 
 
The objective of the rate design is to generate sufficient revenue to equal the revenue requirement. 
Domestic strengths used in the calculation of the volume charge are defined as less than or equal to 
250 Mg/l of BOD, 330 Mg/l of SS, 20 Mg/l of Phosphorus, and 15 Mg/l of Nitrogen. Meter charges are 
based on actual and equivalent meters.  
 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



4 

 WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
 
 
REVENUE REQUIREMENT SUMMARY 

 
A summary of the forecasted revenue requirement follows: 
 

  Forecasted   Forecasted   Forecasted 
  2024   2025   2025 
  Cost of   Cost of   Cost of  
  Service   Service   Service 
  Step I   Step II   Step II 
    w/ 2024  

rate change 
  w/o 2024  

rate change 
Operation and maintenance 

expenses and taxes $ 3,338,100 $ 3,422,200
 

$ 3,422,200 
Depreciation 1,544,100 1,719,500 1,719,500
Return – 2% 339,100 407,900 407,900

 Total Revenue Requirement 5,221,300 5,549,600 5,549,600
  
Less: Other revenues (895,600) (919,715) (919,715)
  

Amount Needed From Rates $ 4,325,700 $ 4,629,885 $ 4,629,885

Revenue from current rates $ 3,575,300 $ 4,332,900 $ 3,582,500
Annual Change  
 Amount $ 750,400 $ 296,985 $ 1,047,385
 Percent 20.99% 6.85% 29.24%

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



5 

WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 
NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
West Bend Sewer Utility is a separate enterprise fund of the City of West Bend, Wisconsin. The Utility is 
managed by the City Council and provides sewer service to properties within the City of West Bend, 
Wisconsin. The City Council has authority to set rates for the Utility. 
 
 
REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
Sewer revenues are recorded for service rendered based on water meter readings, with billings made to 
customers quarterly. The utility does not record unbilled revenues.  The Utility also records contractual 
service revenues from outside haulers based on gallons or loads hauled in.  Billings are made to the 
outside haulers on a monthly basis. 
 
 
EXPENSES 
 
Historical operation and maintenance expenses are reported on the accrual basis. Forecasted 2024 - 
2025 expenses also generally are reported on the accrual basis. 
 
 
PLANT 
 
Additions to and replacements of utility plant are recorded at original cost, which includes material, labor, 
overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction when significant. The cost of 
renewals and betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property 
replaced, retired or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from the plant accounts and, generally, together 
with removal costs less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation. 
 
 
DEPRECIATION 
 
The provision for depreciation shown in the financial statements results from the application of 
straight-line rates to original costs. Depreciation expense was derived from the utility’s Continuing 
Property Records updated through December 31, 2022. For a summary of depreciation expense, see 
Schedule 19. 
 
 
CONTRIBUTIONS IN AID OF CONSTRUCTION 
 
Contributions in aid of construction represent contributions received from developers and customers for 
construction of plant. The utility received DNR and EPA grants for the construction of the wastewater 
treatment plant. Grants are being amortized over 40 years, for ratemaking purposes. These amounts are 
not subject to repayment. The utility also received insurance proceeds related to flood damage at the 
wastewater treatment plant. This is included in contributions for rate study purposes.  
 
 
TAXES 
 
Taxes included in the forecast include social security taxes and a portion of the property tax equivalent on 
water meters. Municipal utilities are exempt from income taxes and therefore no income tax liability is 
recorded by West Bend Sewer Utility. 
  

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



6 

WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY 
 
 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 
NATURE OF THE FORECAST 

 
This financial forecast presents, to the best of management's knowledge and belief, the utility's expected 
results of operations for the forecast period. Accordingly, the forecast reflects its judgment as May 6, 
2024, the date of this forecast, of expected conditions and courses of action. The assumptions disclosed 
herein are those that management believes are significant to the forecast. There will be differences 
between the forecasted and actual results, because events and circumstances do not occur as expected, 
and those differences may be material. 
 
The following assumptions are based on discussions with utility management, analysis of historical data 
for 2019 through 2022, and expected changes for 2023 through 2025. 
 
 
TREATMENT CHARGES 

 
Forecasted treatment charges are based on average volume of flow per customer times the number of 
customers. The number of customers is forecasted based on known additions and analysis of prior years.  
 
The sales forecast included on Schedule 9 details the basis for the forecast of customers and volume of 
flow. 
 
 
OTHER REVENUES 

 
Other revenues are forecasted based on management's estimates. 
 
 
PLANT 

 
Forecasted plant balances are based on the assumption that the utility will complete several collecting 
system and interceptor main projects as well as structure and other equipment upgrades at the 
wastewater treatment plant in 2024 and 2025.  The Utility completed multiple projects in 2021 and 2022, 
with most of the additions resulting from street projects. projected plant additions and retirements are 
shown in detail on Schedules 15 through 18. 
 
 
DEBT 

 
Forecasted debt issues were determined by management and managements’ registered municipal 
advisor.  
 
  

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



7 

WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSES 

The 2024 and 2025 operation and maintenance expenses are forecasted based on the following: 

1. Historical trends from 2019 – 2022.

2. Labor expenses are forecasted to increase 2.0% each year in 2024 and 2025.

3. The 2023 utility budget approved by the city council.

4. Management’s estimate of known expenses to be incurred from 2023 – 2025.

5. A standard inflationary increase in non-labor costs.

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



REVENUE REQUIREMENT

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 1
Revenue Requirement
Test Year 2024 and 2025

4% Rate of Return 2% Rate of Return 0% Rate of Return
STEP I - Test Year 2024

Cost of Cost of Cost of
Service Service Service

Operation, Maintenance & Taxes 3,338,100$            3,338,100$             3,338,100$             
Depreciation:  Replacement 302,500 302,500 302,500

Other 1,241,600 1,241,600 1,241,600
Rate of Return 678,300 339,100 - 
Less:  Other Revenues (895,600) (895,600) (895,600)

  Total 4,664,900$            4,325,700$             3,986,600$             

  Revenues from current rates 3,575,300$            3,575,300$             3,575,300$             

  Increase (Decrease) 1,089,600$            750,400$  411,300$  

  Percentage Change 30.48% 20.99% 11.50%

STEP II - Test Year 2025
w/ 2024 rate change Cost of Cost of Cost of

Service Service Service

Operation, Maintenance & Taxes 3,422,200$            3,422,200$             3,422,200$             
Depreciation:  Replacement 304,000 304,000 304,000

Other 1,415,500 1,415,500 1,415,500
Rate of Return 815,800 407,900 - 
Less Other Revenues (919,715) (919,715) (919,715)

  Total 5,037,785$            4,629,885$             4,221,985$             

  Revenues from current rates 4,672,100$            4,332,900$             3,993,800$             

  Increase (Decrease) 365,685$  296,985$  228,185$  

  Percentage Change 7.83% 6.85% 5.71%

STEP II - Test Year 2025
w/o 2024 rate change Cost of Cost of Cost of

Service Service Service
Operation, Maintenance & Taxes 3,422,200$            3,422,200$             3,422,200$             
Depreciation:  Replacement 304,000 304,000 304,000

Other 1,415,500 1,415,500 1,415,500
Rate of Return 815,800 407,900 - 
Less Other Revenues (919,715) (919,715) (919,715)

  Total 5,037,785$            4,629,885$             4,221,985$             

  Revenues from current rates 3,582,500$            3,582,500$             3,582,500$             

  Increase (Decrease) 1,455,285$            1,047,385$             639,485$  

  Percentage Change 40.62% 29.24% 17.85%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions .
8

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 2
Summary of Rates
Test Year 2024 and 2025

Present 2024 2025
Customers Within City Limits Rates Step I Step II

Volume 2.44$       3.35$      3.59$       
BOD (Over 250 Mg/L) 0.30 0.47 0.50
Suspended Solids (Over 330 Mg/L) 0.16 0.29 0.31
Nitrogen (Over 15Mg/L) 1.46 3.10 3.35
Phosphorus (Over 20 Mg/L) 1.89 3.78 3.95

Fixed Charges

Unmetered 8.30 6.35 6.75
5/8" 16.60 12.70 13.50
3/4" 20.70 16.20 17.30
1" 28.70 23.10 24.80

1-1/4" 38.40 31.40 34.00
1-1/2" 48.90 40.50 43.80

2" 73.00 61.00 66.60
3" 130.00 110.00 119.70
4" 210.00 179.00 195.60
6" 412.00 353.00 385.30

Customer Charge 7.89 5.75 5.88
Demand Charge 6.80 6.94 7.59

Deduct Meter Charges

5/8" 6.46 3.90 4.40
3/4" 8.94 5.34 5.85
1" 13.89 8.23 8.74

1-1/4" 19.84 11.70 12.20
1-1/2" 26.28 15.45 15.95

2" 41.14 24.11 24.62
3" 75.82 44.33 44.83
4" 125.36 73.21 73.71
6" 249.21 145.40 145.91

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
9

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 3
Cash Flow  w/o Rate Increase
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Source of Cash 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Metered sales 3,849,913$            3,639,655$            3,570,100$         3,575,300$      3,582,500$      
Other revenues excluding amortization 635,266 746,778 872,880 895,600           919,715           
Salvage (17,833) - 5,000 5,000 5,000 
Proceeds from debt issue - - - - - 
Investments sold and matured (purchased) (2,780,640)            10,918 - - - 
Interest Income - unrestricted cash 3,192 83,530 77,422 66,853             16,954             
Interest Income - restricted & designated 39,058 36,236 52,300 45,800             35,100             
Transfers and advances from (to) other funds (623,233) 759,436 - - - 
Repayment of advances 116,349 141,692 129,021 129,021           129,021           

  Total Sources of Cash 1,222,072              5,418,245              4,706,723           4,717,573        4,688,290        

Uses of Cash
Operation and maintenance expenses 3,185,571              3,120,888              3,261,800           3,338,100        3,422,200        
Debt service 58,601 32,838 32,213 31,613             30,994             
Capital additions 628,344 1,531,484              1,267,000           9,305,750        842,350           

    Total Uses of Cash 3,872,516 4,685,210 4,561,013 12,675,463 4,295,544

    Cash Flow (2,650,444)$          733,035$  145,710$            (7,957,890)$     392,746$         

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Cash & Investment Balances 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Unrestricted Cash and Investments
 Beginning Balance 6,502,250$            6,649,613$            7,742,246$         6,685,294$      1,695,423$      
    Cash Flow (from above) (2,650,444) 733,035 1,027,710 (2,877,140) 1,210,096
    Transfers 3,473,060 1,209,678 (1,271,862) (1,304,930) (1,340,164)
    Required Deposits & Interest (675,253) (850,080) (812,800) (807,800) (798,600)
  Ending Balance 6,649,613              7,742,246              6,685,294           1,695,423        766,755           
Replacement Account
  Beginning balance 311,728 448,386 215,696 1,021,709        (1,878,238)       
    Annual Deposit 339,732 354,312 301,000 302,500           304,000           
    Interest - 1% 2,821 5,045 3,100 (7,400)              (17,500)            
    Transfers 205,895 592,047 616,913              632,953           650,042           
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (411,790) (1,184,094)            (115,000)             (3,828,000)       (50,000)            
  Ending Balance 448,386 215,696 1,021,709           (1,878,238)       (991,696)          
Designated Projects and Investments
  Beginning balance 4,650,939              4,497,114              4,359,288           4,755,937        4,687,865        
    Annual Deposit 296,463 459,532 459,500 459,500           459,500           
    Interest - 1% 36,237 31,191 49,200 53,200             52,600             
    Transfers 486,254 628,550 654,949              671,978           690,121           
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (972,779) (1,257,099)            (767,000)             (1,252,750)       (767,350)          
  Ending Balance 4,497,114 4,359,288 4,755,937 4,687,865 5,122,736

     Total Ending Cash & Investment Balances 11,595,113$          12,317,230$          12,462,940$       4,505,050$      4,897,795$      

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions .
10

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 3A
Cash Flow  w/ 0% Rate of Return
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Source of Cash 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Metered sales 3,849,913$      3,639,655$         3,570,100$         3,986,600$      4,626,085$      
Other revenues excluding amortization 635,266           746,778 872,880 895,600           913,512           
Salvage (17,833)            - 5,000 5,000 5,000 
Proceeds from debt issue - - - - - 
Investments sold and matured (purchased) (2,780,640)       10,918 - - - 
Interest Income - unrestricted cash 3,192 83,530 77,422 66,853             21,049             
Interest Income - restricted & designated 39,058             36,236 52,300 45,800             49,700             
Transfers and advances from other funds (623,233)          759,436 - - - 
Repayment of advances 116,349           141,692 129,021 129,021           129,021           

  Total Sources of Cash 1,222,072        5,418,245           4,706,723           5,128,873        5,744,367        

Uses of Cash
Operation and maintenance expenses 3,185,571        3,120,888           3,261,800           3,338,100        3,422,200        
Debt service 58,601             32,838 32,213 33,413             32,813             
Capital additions 628,344           1,531,484           1,267,000           9,305,750        842,350           

    Total Uses of Cash 3,872,516 4,685,210 4,561,013 12,677,263 4,297,363

    Cash Flow (2,650,444)$     733,035$            145,710$            (7,548,390)$     1,447,004$      

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Cash & Investment Balances 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Unrestricted Cash and Investments
 Beginning Balance 6,502,250$      6,649,613$         7,742,246$         6,685,294$      2,104,923$      
    Cash Flow (from above) (2,650,444) 733,035 1,027,710 (2,467,640) 2,264,354
    Transfers 3,473,060 1,209,678 (1,271,862) (1,304,930) (1,340,164)
    Required Deposits & Interest (675,253) (850,080) (812,800) (807,800) (3,733,200)
  Ending Balance 6,649,613 7,742,246 6,685,294 2,104,923        (704,087)          
Replacement Account
  Beginning balance 311,728 448,386 215,696 1,021,709        (1,878,238)       
    Annual Deposit 339,732 354,312 301,000 302,500           304,000           
    Interest - 1% 2,821 5,045 3,100 (7,400) (17,500)            
    Transfers 205,895.00      592,047 616,913 632,953 650,042
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (411,790) (1,184,094) (115,000) (3,828,000)       (50,000)            
  Ending Balance 448,386 215,696 1,021,709           (1,878,238)       (991,696)          
Designated Projects and Investments
  Beginning balance 4,650,939 4,497,114 4,359,288 4,755,937        4,687,865        
    Annual Deposit 296,463 459,532 459,500 459,500           3,379,500        
    Interest - 1% 36,237 31,191 49,200 53,200             67,200             
    Transfers 486,254 628,550 654,949 671,978 690,121
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (972,779) (1,257,099) (767,000) (1,252,750)       (767,350)          
  Ending Balance 4,497,114 4,359,288 4,755,937 4,687,865 8,057,336

     Total Ending Cash & Investment Balances 11,595,113$    12,317,230$       12,462,940$       4,914,550$      6,361,553$      

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

11

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 3B
Cash Flow  w/ 2% Rate of Return
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Source of Cash 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Metered sales 3,849,913$      3,639,655$         3,570,100$         4,325,700$      5,373,085$      
Other revenues excluding amortization 635,266           746,778 872,880 895,600           913,512           
Salvage (17,833)            - 5,000 5,000 5,000 
Proceeds from debt issue - - - - - 
Investments sold and matured (purchased) (2,780,640)       10,918 - - - 
Interest Income - unrestricted cash 3,192 83,530 77,422 66,853             24,440             
Interest Income - restricted & designated 39,058             36,236 52,300 45,800             49,700             
Transfers and advances from other funds (623,233)          759,436 - - - 
Repayment of advances 116,349           141,692 129,021 129,021           129,021           

  Total Sources of Cash 1,222,072        5,418,245           4,706,723           5,467,973        6,494,758        

Uses of Cash
Operation and maintenance expenses 3,185,571        3,120,888           3,261,800           3,338,100        3,422,200        
Debt service 58,601             32,838 32,213 33,413             32,813             
Capital additions 628,344           1,531,484           1,267,000           9,305,750        842,350           

    Total Uses of Cash 3,872,516 4,685,210 4,561,013 12,677,263 4,297,363

    Cash Flow (2,650,444)$     733,035$            145,710$            (7,209,290)$     2,197,395$      

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Cash & Investment Balances 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Unrestricted Cash and Investments
 Beginning Balance 6,502,250$      6,649,613$         7,742,246$         6,685,294$      2,444,023$      
    Cash Flow (from above) (2,650,444)       733,035 1,027,710           (2,128,540) 3,014,745
    Transfers 3,473,060        1,209,678           (1,271,862)          (1,304,930) (1,340,164)
    Required Deposits & Interest (675,253)          (850,080)             (812,800)             (807,800) (3,733,200)
  Ending Balance 6,649,613        7,742,246           6,685,294           2,444,023        385,404           
Replacement Account
  Beginning balance 311,728           448,386 215,696 1,021,709        (1,878,238)       
    Annual Deposit 339,732           354,312 301,000 302,500           304,000           
    Interest - 1% 2,821 5,045 3,100 (7,400) (17,500)            
    Transfers 205,895           592,047 616,913 632,953           650,042           
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (411,790)          (1,184,094)          (115,000)             (3,828,000)       (50,000)            
  Ending Balance 448,386           215,696 1,021,709           (1,878,238)       (991,696)          
Designated Projects and Investments
  Beginning balance 4,650,939        4,497,114           4,359,288           4,755,937        4,687,865        
    Annual Deposit 296,463           459,532 459,500 459,500           3,379,500        
    Interest - 1% 36,237             31,191 49,200 53,200             67,200             
    Transfers 486,254           628,550 654,949 671,978           690,121           
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (972,779)          (1,257,099)          (767,000)             (1,252,750)       (767,350)          
  Ending Balance 4,497,114        4,359,288           4,755,937 4,687,865 8,057,336

     Total Ending Cash & Investment Balances 11,595,113$    12,317,230$       12,462,940$       5,253,650$      7,451,044$      

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

12

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 3C
Cash Flow  w/ 4% Rate of Return
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Source of Cash 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Metered sales 3,849,913$      3,639,655$         3,570,100$         4,664,900$      6,120,185$      
Other revenues excluding amortization 635,266           746,778 872,880 895,600           913,512           
Salvage (17,833)            - 5,000 5,000 5,000 
Proceeds from debt issue - - - - - 
Investments sold and matured (purchased) (2,780,640)       10,918 - - - 
Interest Income - unrestricted cash 3,192 83,530 77,422 77,422             38,507             
Interest Income - restricted & designated 39,058             36,236 52,300 41,900             45,700             
Transfers and advances from other funds (623,233)          759,436 - - - 
Repayment of advances 116,349           141,692 129,021 129,021           129,021           

  Total Sources of Cash 1,222,072        5,418,245           4,706,723           5,813,843        7,251,925        

Uses of Cash
Operation and maintenance expenses 3,185,571        3,120,888           3,261,800           3,338,100        3,422,200        
Debt service 58,601             32,838 32,213 33,413             32,813             
Capital additions 628,344           1,531,484           1,267,000           9,305,750        842,350           

    Total Uses of Cash 3,872,516 4,685,210 4,561,013 12,677,263 4,297,363

    Cash Flow (2,650,444)$     733,035$            145,710$            (6,863,420)$     2,954,562$      

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Cash & Investment Balances 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Unrestricted Cash and Investments
 Beginning Balance 6,502,250$      6,649,613$         7,742,246$         7,742,246$      3,850,746$      
    Cash Flow (from above) (2,650,444)       733,035 1,027,710           (1,782,670) 3,771,912
    Transfers 3,473,060        1,209,678           (1,271,862)          (1,304,930) (1,340,164)
    Required Deposits & Interest (675,253)          (850,080)             (812,800)             (803,900) (3,729,200)
  Ending Balance 6,649,613        7,742,246           6,685,294           3,850,746        2,553,294        
Replacement Account
  Beginning balance 311,728           448,386 215,696 1,021,709        (1,878,238)       
    Annual Deposit 339,732           354,312 301,000 302,500           304,000           
    Interest - 1% 2,821 5,045 3,100 (7,400) (17,500)            
    Transfers 205,895           592,047 616,913 632,953           650,042           
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (411,790)          (1,184,094)          (115,000)             (3,828,000)       (50,000)            
  Ending Balance 448,386           215,696 1,021,709           (1,878,238)       (991,696)          
Designated Projects and Investments
  Beginning balance 4,650,939        4,497,114           4,359,288           4,359,288        4,287,316        
    Annual Deposit 296,463           459,532 459,500 459,500           3,379,500        
    Interest - 1% 36,237             31,191 49,200 49,300             63,200             
    Transfers 486,254           628,550 654,949 671,978           690,121           
    Capital Projects, Gains/Loss, Misc. (972,779)          (1,257,099)          (767,000)             (1,252,750)       (767,350)          
  Ending Balance 4,497,114        4,359,288           4,755,937 4,287,316 7,652,787

     Total Ending Cash & Investment Balances 11,595,113$    12,317,230$       12,462,940$       6,259,824$      9,214,385$      

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

13

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 4
Comparative Revenues and Expenses
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

OPERATING REVENUES
Treatment Charges

Residential Revenues 2,362,717$      2,313,067$     2,317,900       2,322,800$     2,329,700$         
Commercial Revenues 509,116           524,777 530,100          530,100 530,100
Industrial Revenues 278,390 292,977 134,300          134,300 134,300
Wholesale Revenues 66,426 121,178          123,000          123,000 123,000
Multi-Family Residential Revenues 333,351           337,617          338,200          338,200          338,200              
Interdepartmental sales 4,355 10,354            10,800            11,100            11,400 
Service to Public Authority 196,599           166,581 115,800          115,800 115,800

     Total Treatment Charges 3,750,954 3,766,551 3,570,100 3,575,300 3,582,500

Other Revenues
Contractual Services Revenue 482,895 602,324          726,163          745,000          765,115              
Biogas Revenues 113,636 101,756          106,000          108,800          111,700              
Late Payment Penalties 38,735 42,698 40,717            41,800            42,900 

     Total Other Revenues 635,266 746,778 872,880 895,600 919,715

            TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 4,386,220 4,513,329 4,442,980 4,470,900 4,502,215

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and Maintenance Expense

Operation 1,213,491 1,515,900 1,574,900 1,614,500 1,656,500
Maintenance 512,375 547,300 565,700 575,800 590,000
Customer Accounting and Collection 212,097 241,600 249,700 255,600 261,700
Administrative and General 1,092,602 764,300 789,500 808,100 827,600
Taxes 74,613 78,700 82,000 84,100 86,400

        Total Operation and Maintenance 3,105,178 3,132,504 3,261,800 3,338,100 3,422,200

Depreciation:   Replacement 298,000 299,500 301,000 302,500 304,000
Other 1,036,971 1,066,174 1,074,043 1,241,596 1,415,523

       Total Depreciation Expense 1,334,971 1,365,674 1,375,043 1,544,096 1,719,523

           TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 4,440,149 4,498,178 4,636,843 4,882,196 5,141,723

OPERATING INCOME (53,929)$          15,151$          (193,863)$      (411,296)$      (639,508)$          

Without Rate Change

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
14

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 5
Rate of Return
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Utility Plant in Service

   Balance - Beginning of year 53,001,748$     53,656,407$     54,800,109$     55,481,470$     63,979,603$     
   Balance - End of year 53,656,407 54,800,109 55,481,470 63,979,603 64,816,755

           Average Balance 53,329,078 54,228,258 55,140,790 59,730,537 64,398,179

Accumulated Depreciation

   Balance - Beginning of year 29,391,883 30,531,270 31,744,058 32,538,462 33,279,941
   Balance - End of year 30,531,270 31,744,058 32,538,462 33,279,941 34,999,266

           Average Balance 29,961,577 31,137,664 32,141,260 32,909,202 34,139,604

Contrib. in Aid of Construction

   Balance - Beginning of year 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205
   Balance - End of year 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205

           Average Balance 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205 9,864,205

     Average Net Investment Rate Base 13,503,296$     13,226,389$     13,135,325$     16,957,130$     20,394,370$     

Operating Income (53,929)$          15,200$           (193,900)$        (411,300)$        (639,500)$        

Rate of Return -0.40% 0.11% -1.48% -2.43% -3.14%

Targeted Rate of Return Option 1 4.00% 540,132$         529,100$         525,400$         678,300$         815,800$         

(Deficiency) / Excess (594,061)$        (513,900)$        (719,300)$        (1,089,600)$     (1,455,300)$     

Targeted Rate of Return Option 2 2.00% 270,066$         264,500$         262,700$         339,100$         407,900$         

(Deficiency) / Excess (323,995)$        (249,300)$        (456,600)$        (750,400)$        (1,047,400)$     

Targeted Rate of Return 0.00% -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

(Deficiency) / Excess (53,929)$          15,200$           (193,900)$        (411,300)$        (639,500)$        

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

15

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 6
Cost of Capital
Forecasted 2025

Forecasted Weighted
12/31/2025 Percent Cost Cost

Municipal Equity 17,836,794$     99.83% 4.00% 3.99%

Long-Term Debt 30,000 0.17% 3.31% 0.01%

    Total 17,866,794$     100.00% 4.00%

Interest Coverage 719.17

Forecasted Equity:

Equity 12/31/2022 18,793,702$ 

 2023 Operating Income (Without Rate Change) (193,900)       

 2023 Interest Income 129,722        

 2023 Interest Expense (2,813)           

Equity 12/31/2023 18,726,712   

 2024 Operating Income (Without Rate Change) (411,300)       
 2024 Interest Income 112,653        
 2024 Interest Expense (2,213)           

Equity 12/31/2024 18,425,852   

 2025 Operating Income (Without Rate Change) (639,500)       
 2025 Interest Income 52,054          
 2025 Interest Expense (1,613)           

Equity 12/31/2025 17,836,794   

Balance 2024 Balance 2025
Long-Term Debt 12/31/2024 Interest 12/31/2025 Interest Rate

2012B GO Bonds 60,000$            1,613            30,000$        994 3.31%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
16

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



FORECASTED OPERATING REVENUES

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 7
Consumer Analysis    
Actual June 2022 - May 2023  

 Residential Commercial Industrial Public Authority Multi-Family Total
  
     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF (new) $2.44 627,325    1,530,673$  179,232    437,326$    50,709      123,730$  40,547      98,935$    120,672    294,440$  1,018,485 2,485,103$ 
Lb's of BOD 0.30 -                -                   -                -                  -                -                -                -                -                -                -            -                -                  
Lb's of SS 0.16 -                -                   -                -                  -                -                -                -                -                -                -            -                -                  
Lb's of Nitrogen 1.46 -                -                   -                -                  -                -                -                -                -                -                -            -                -                  
Lb's of Phosphorus 1.89 -                -                   -                -                  -                -                -                -                -                -                -            -                -                  

     Sub-total 627,325    1,530,673    179,232    437,326       50,709      123,730     40,547      98,935       120,672    294,440     1,018,485 2,485,103   

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings

   5/8  16.60 10,737   42,948      712,937       428         1,712        28,419        35        140           2,324        13        52             863           2          8               133           11,215   44,860      744,676      
   3/4 20.70 651        2,604        53,903         88           352           7,286          11        44             911           1          4               83             8          32             662           759        3,036        62,845        
    1 28.70 153        612           17,564         140         560           16,072        18        72             2,066        5          20             574           49        196           5,625        365        1,460        41,902        
  1-1/4 38.40 -            -                -                   -              -                -                  -           -                -                -           -                -                -           -                -                -            -                -                  
  1-1/2 48.90 1            4               196              73           292           14,279        9          36             1,760        10        40             1,956        65        260           12,714      158        632           30,905        
    2 73.00 -            -                -                   60           240           17,520        3          12             876           20        80             5,840        46        184           13,432      129        516           37,668        
    3 130.00 -            -                -                   13           52             6,760          3          12             1,560        4          16             2,080        13        52             6,760        33          132           17,160        
    4 210.00 -            -                -                   3             12             2,520          1          4               840           5          20             4,200        3          12             2,520        12          48             10,080        
    6 412.00   -            -                -                   -              -                -                  -           -                -                1          4               1,648        1          4               1,648        2            8               3,296          
Unmetered charge 8.30       -            -                -                   -              -                -                  -           -                -                -           -                -                -           -                -                -            -                -                  
Customer charge 7.89 -            -                -                   -              -                -                  -           -                -                -           -                -                -           -                -                -            -                -                  

     Sub-total 11,542 46,168 784,600$     805 3,220 92,856$      80 320 10,338$    59 236 17,244$    187 748 43,494$    12,673 50,692 948,532$    

Calculated Revenues 2,315,273$  530,182$    134,068$  116,179$  337,934$  3,433,635$ 

Total Actual Revenues 2,288,797$  527,154$    133,693$  116,471$  337,229$  3,403,344$ 

  Difference 26,476$       3,028$        375$         (292)$        705$         30,291$      

  Percent Difference 1.16% 0.57%        0.28% -0.25% 0.21% 0.89%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
17

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY        Schedule 7A
Consumer Analysis - Wholesale  
Actual June 2022 - May 2023  

 Wallace Lake Sanitary District Silver Lake Sanitary District West Bend Landfill Total
  
     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF 2.44 17,314      42,246          9,596        23,414        21,596      52,694        48,506         118,354           
Lb's of BOD -                -                -                -              -                -              -                   -                   
Lb's of SS -                -                -                -              -                -              -                   -                   
Lb's of Nitrogen -                -                -                -              -                -              -                   -                   
Lb's of Phosphorus -                -                -                -              -                -              -                   -                   

     Sub-total 17,314      42,246          9,596        23,414        21,596      52,694        48,506         118,354           

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings

   5/8  16.60 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       
   3/4 20.70 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       
    1 28.70 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       
  1-1/4 38.40 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       
  1-1/2 48.90 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       
    2 73.00 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       
    3 130.00 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  1          2               260             1           2                  260                  
    4 210.00 1             4               840               -          -                -                  -          -                -                  1           4                  840                  
    6 412.00    -             -                -                    1          4               1,648          -          -                -                  1           4                  1,648               
Unmetered charge 8.30        1             4               33                 1          4               33               1          2               17               3           10                83                    
Customer charge 7.89 -             -                -                    -          -                -                  -          -                -                  -            -                   -                       

     Sub-total 2 8 873               2 8 1,681          2 4 277             6 20 2,831               

Calculated Revenues 43,119$        25,095$      52,971$      121,185$         

Total Actual Revenues 43,119$        25,095$      52,971$      121,185$         

  Difference -$                  -$                -$                -$                     

  Percent Difference 0%        0% 0% 0%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
18

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 8
Consumer Analysis - Outside Haulers, Holding tank, High Strength    
Actual May 2022 - April 2023

 
  
CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per 1,000 ga $1.74 4,609 8,019$        46             80$             220           383$           286           497$           11               20$             808            1,406$          61                 106$               8,082              14,063$          513                 893$           14,635          25,466$           
Lb's of BOD (2020) 0.35 10,327      3,615          1,989        696             1,079        378             1,401        490             604             211             2,193         767               288               101                 18,738            6,558              2,516              880             39,135          13,697             
Lb's of SS (2020) 0.22 34,669      7,627          645           142             4,461        981             5,788        1,273          139             31               9,062         1,994            1,189            261                 -                  -                  10,397            2,287          66,349          14,597             
Lb's of Nitrogen (2020) 2.10 7,590        15,940        27             56               490           1,029          636           1,336          3                 6                 1,474         3,095            134               281                 101,443          213,030          1,142              2,399          112,939        237,173           
Lb's of Phosphorus (2020) 2.57 768           1,975          18             46               55             142             72             185             3                 9                 154            396               15                 39                   674                 1,732              129                 332             1,889            4,856               

 57,964  37,176  2,724  1,020  6,306  2,914  8,182  3,781 761  277  13,691  7,658 1,686  788 128,937  235,383 14,697  6,791 234,949  295,788

FIXED CHARGE Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue Days Revenue

Administrative (2022) 17.38 184           3,198          8               139             51             886             34             591             1                 17               78              1,356            10                 174                 171                 2,972              50                   869             587               10,202             
Administrative (2023) 50.00 87             4,350          5               250             6               300             -           -              1                 50               30              1,500            -                -                  91                   4,550              10                   500             230               11,500             
Laboratory Charges 90.77     -               -                  -               -                  -               -                  -               -                  -                  -                  -                 -                    -                    -                      -                      -                      -                      -                  -                    -                       

      
     Sub-total  271            7,548           13.00         389              57.00         1,186           34.00         591             2.00             67                108.00        2,856            10.00             174                 262.00             7,522              60.00               1,369          817                21,702             

Total Calculated Revenues 44,723$      1,409$        4,100$        4,372$        344$           10,514$        962$               242,905$        8,160$        317,490$         

Total Actual Revenues 44,723$      1,409$        4,100$        4,372$        344$           10,514$        962$               242,905$        8,160$        317,489$         

  Difference 0                 (0.43)           0                 (0)                0                 (0)                  0                     0                     0                 1                      

  Percent Difference        0.00% -0.03% 0.00% 0.00% 0.14% 0.00% 0.03% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Arnolds United Septic Charnitz WI Pump & Sump East Central Pumping Schulteis Pumping Statewide Septic Advanced Disposal/Veolia Kons Septic Total

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

19

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 8A
Consumer Analysis - MJM, Quality Removal
Actual May 2022 - April 2023

 
CHARGE 5/1/2022 - 4/30/2023 Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per 1,000 gal $1.740 18,778        32,674$           -                  -$                      18,778        32,674$               
Lb's of BOD $0.350 424,017      148,406           -                  -                        424,017      148,406               
Lb's of SS $0.220 300,518      66,114             -                  -                        300,518      66,114                 
Lb's of Nitrogen $2.100 15,339        32,212             -                  -                        15,339        32,212                 
Lb's of Phosphorus $2.570 1,486          3,819               -                  -                        1,486          3,819                   
MJM Rate per gallon (Gehls) $8.500 1,595          13,558             -                  -                        1,595          13,558                 
Power Products HSW Rate per gallon $0.015 -              -                   -                  -                        -                  -                       
Quality Removal Rate per gallon $0.030 113,400      3,402                113,400      3,402                   

     Sub-total 761,733  296,783           113,400       3,402                875,133  300,185

MONTHLY FIXED CHARGE Days/Loads Revenue Days/Loads Revenue Days/Loads Revenue
Administrative (2022) 17.38 228             3,963$             -                  -$                      228             3,963$                 
Administrative (2023) 50.00 111             5,550$             -                  -                        111             5,550                   
MJM Load fee (Kerry Foods) 95.00 154             14,630             -                  -                        154             14,630                 
MJM Load fee (Schreiber Foods Whey) 103.00         22               2,266               -                  -                        22               2,266                   
MJM Load fee (Schreiber Foods Biosolids/Sludge) 240.00         342             82,080             -                  -                        342             82,080                 

     Sub-total 857              108,489           -                   -                        857              108,489               

Total Calculated Revenues 405,272$         3,402$              408,674$             

Total Actual Revenues 405,176           3,402                408,578               

  Difference 96                    -                    96                        

  Percent Difference       0.0%       0.0%       0.0%

MJM Quality Removal Total

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
20

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 8B
Consumer Analysis - MJM, Quality Removal
Forecasted 2024 and 2025

CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per 1,000 gal $1.740 18,778        32,674             -                  -$                      18,778        32,674                 
Lb's of BOD $0.350 424,017      148,406           -                  -                        424,017      148,406               
Lb's of SS $0.220 300,518      66,114             -                  -                        300,518      66,114                 
Lb's of Nitrogen $2.100 15,339        32,212             -                  -                        15,339        32,212                 
Lb's of Phosphorus $2.570 1,486          3,819               -                  -                        1,486          3,819                   
MJM Rate per gallon (Gehls) $8.500 1,595          13,558             -                  -                        1,595          13,558                 
Power Products HSW Rate per gallon $0.015 -                  -                       -                  -                        -                  -                           
Quality Removal Rate per gallon $0.030 -                  -                       113,400      3,402                113,400      3,402                   

     Sub-total 1,595  296,782 113,400  3,402 875,133  300,184

MONTHLY FIXED CHARGE Days/Loads Revenue Days/Loads Revenue Days/Loads Revenue

Administrative (2022) $17.38 228             3,963$             -                  -$                      228             3,963$                 

Administrative (2023) $50.00 111             5,550$             -                  -                        111             5,550                   
MJM Load fee (Kerry Foods) $95.00 154             14,630$           -                  -                        154             14,630                 
MJM Load fee (Schreiber Foods Whey) $103.00 22               2,266$             -                  -                        22               2,266                   
MJM Load fee (Schreiber Foods Biosolids/Sludge) $240.00 342             82,080$           -                  -                        342             82,080                 

     Sub-total 857              108,489           -                   -                        857              108,489               

Total Forecasted Revenues 405,271$         3,402$              408,673$             

MJM Quality Removal Total

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
21

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 9
Sales Forecast
Actual 2020 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
2020 2021 2022 2022 - 2023 Comments 2023 Comments 2024 Comments 2025 Comments

Residential

Volume (00 CF) 609,887       619,273       599,948       627,325          628,000    629,600       631,600       
Number of Customers 10,628         10,695         10,690         11,542            No change 11,557      Forecast 15 total 11,587         Forecast 30 total 11,617         Forecast 30 total
Ave Volume/Cust/Qtr 14.35 14.48 14.03 13.59 Actual last 4 13.59 Actual last 4 13.59 13.59

  quarters   quarters
Commercial

Volume (00 CF) 159,190       166,479       174,152       179,232          179,200    179,200       179,200       
Number of Meters 711              721              731              805                 No change 805           No change 805              No change 805              No change
Ave Volume/Cust/Qtr 55.97 57.73 59.56 55.66 Actual last 4 55.66 Actual last 4 55.66 55.66

  quarters   quarters

Multi-Family

Volume (00 CF) 115,447       118,262       120,206       120,672          120,800    120,800       120,800       
Number of Meters 182              182              182              187                 No change 187           No change 187              No change 187              No change
Ave Volume/Cust/Qtr 158.58 162.45 165.12 161.33 Actual last 4 161.33 Actual last 4 161              161              

  quarters   quarters

Industrial

Volume (00 CF) 94,915         116,725       114,964       50,709            50,800      50,800         50,800         
Number of Meters 74                75                74                80                   No change 80             No change 80                No change 80                No change
Ave Volume/Cust/Qtr 320.66 389.08 388.39 158.47 Actual last 4 158.47 Actual last 4 158.47 158.47

  quarters   quarters

Public Authority

Volume (00 CF) 37,458         41,548         46,222         40,547            40,400      40,400         40,400         
Number of Meters 61                60                59                59                   No change 59             No change 59                No change 59                No change
Ave Volume/Cust/Qtr 153.52 173.12 195.86 171.81 Actual last 4 171.81 Actual last 4 171.81 171.81

  quarters   quarters

Wholesale

Volume (00 CF) 99,879         100,000       48,503         48,506            48,400      48,400         48,400         
Number of Meters 10                10 10 6                     No change 6               No change 6                  No change 6                  No change
Ave Volume/Cust/Qtr 2,496.98      2,500.00      1,212.58      2021.08 Actual last 4 2021.08 Actual last 4 2021.08 2021.08

  quarters   quarters

Total

Volume (00 CF) 1,116,776    1,162,287    1,103,995    1,066,991       1,067,600 1,069,200    1,071,200    
Number of Meters 11,666         11,749         11,736         12,679            12,694      12,724         12,754         

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
22

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 9A
Biogas Revenues 
Actual 2022 - Forecast 2025

Rate/kWh kWh Revenues kWh Revenues kWh Revenues kWh Revenues
On-Peak 0.1550 371,640       57,604$      368,160       57,065$      368,160       58,548$       368,160       60,129$       
Off-Peak 0.0614 719,080       44,152        663,120       40,716        663,120       41,774         663,120       42,902         

Total Calculated Revenues 101,756$    97,780$      100,323$     103,031$     

Total Actual Revenues 101,756      

Difference (0)$              

Percent Difference 0%

Actual 2022 Forecast 2023 Forecast 2024 Forecast 2025

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
23

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY        Schedule 10
Consumer Analysis         

Forecasted 2023  

 Residential Commercial Industrial Total
  
     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF 2.44$     628,000 1,532,320$  179,200 437,248$   120,800 294,752$  50,800     123,952$    40,400 98,576$     48,400 118,096$   1,067,600 2,486,848$    
Lb's of BOD 0.30 -               -                  -                  -                -              -               -               -                 -               -                -               -                -                  -                    
Lb's of SS 0.16 -               -                  -                  -                -              -               -               -                 -               -                -               -                -                  -                    
Lb's of Nitrogen 1.89 -               -                  -                  -                -              -               -               -                 -               -                -               -                -                  -                    
Lb's of Phosphorus 1.46 -               -                  -                  -                -              -               -               -                 -               -                -               -                -                  -                    

 
     Sub-total  628,000    1,532,320      179,200        437,248       120,800    294,752     50,800      123,952        40,400      98,576        48,400      118,096     1,067,600     2,486,848      

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Billings

   5/8  16.60 10,737        42,948     712,937       428     1,712          28,419       2          8              133           35        140          2,324          13       52            863           -                -               -                44,860         744,676         
   3/4 20.70 651            2,604       53,903         88       352             7,286         8          32            662           11        44            911             1         4              83             -                -               -                3,036           62,845           
    1 28.70 153            612          17,564         140     560             16,072       49        196          5,625        18        72            2,066          5         20            574           -                -               -                1,460           41,902           
  1-1/4 38.40 -                 -               -                  -          -                  -                -           -              -               -          -               -                 -          -               -                -                -               -                -              -                    
  1-1/2 48.90 1                4              196              73       292             14,279       65        260          12,714      9          36            1,760          10       40            1,956         -                -               -                632             30,905           
    2 73.00 -                 -               -                  60       240             17,520       46        184          13,432      3          12            876             20       80            5,840         -                -               -                516             37,668           
    3 130.00 -                 -               -                  13       52               6,760         13        52            6,760        3          12            1,560          4         16            2,080         1               4              520           136             17,160           
    4 210.00 -                 -               -                  3         12               2,520         3          12            2,520        1          4              840             5         20            4,200         1               4              840           52               10,080           
    6 412.00 -                 -               -                  -          -                  -                1          4              1,648        -          -               -                 1         4              1,648         1               4              1,648         12               3,296             
Unmetered Charge 8.30       -                 -               -                  -          -                  -                -           -              -               -          -               -                 -          -               -                3               12            100           12               -                    
Customer Charge 8.58       -                 -               -                  -          -                  -                -           -              -               -          -               -                 -          -               -                -                -               -                -              -                    

     Sub-total 11,542        46,168      784,600       805     3,220          92,856        187       748           43,494      80        320           10,338        59        236           17,244       6                24             3,108          50,716          948,532         

Total Revenues Per Analysis 2,316,920$  530,104$   338,246$  134,290$    115,820$   121,204$   3,435,380$    

Multi-Family Public Authority Wholesale

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
24

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY              Schedule 11
Consumer Analysis        

Forecasted 2024  

 Residential Commercial   Industrial Public Authority
  
     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF 2.44$     629,600 1,536,224$    179,200 437,248$   120,800 294,752$  50,800 123,952$    40,400 98,576$      48,400 118,096$   1,069,200 2,608,848$      
Lb's of BOD 0.30 -                -                    -               -                -              -               -             -                 -             -                 -             -                -                 -                      
Lb's of SS 0.16 -                -                    -               -                -              -               -             -                 -             -                 -             -                -                 -                      
Lb's of Nitrogen 1.89 -                -                    -               -                -              -               -             -                 -             -                 -             -                -                 -                      
Lb's of Phosphorus 1.46 -                -                    -               -                -              -               -             -                 -             -                 -             -                -                 -                      

 
     Sub-total  629,600      1,536,224       179,200     437,248       120,800   294,752     50,800     123,952        40,400     98,576         16,800     118,096     1,069,200    2,608,848        

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings

   5/8  16.60 10,767        43,068       714,929        428        1,712        28,419       2           8             133           35          140         2,324         13          52          863             -             -             -                11,245     44,980       746,668           
   3/4 20.70 651            2,604         53,903          88          352           7,286         8           32           662           11          44          911            1            4            83               -             -             -                759         3,036         62,845             
    1 28.70 153            612            17,564          140        560           16,072       49         196         5,625        18          72          2,066         5            20          574             -             -             -                365         1,460         41,902             
  1-1/4 38.40 -                 -                -                    -             -               -                -           -              -               -             -             -                 -             -             -                 -             -             -                -          -             -                  
  1-1/2 48.90 1                4                196               73          292           14,279       65         260         12,714      9            36          1,760         10          40          1,956          -             -             -                158         632            30,905             
    2 73.00 -                 -                -                    60          240           17,520       46         184         13,432      3            12          876            20          80          5,840          -             -             -                129         516            37,668             
    3 130.00 -                 -                -                    13          52             6,760         13         52           6,760        3            12          1,560         4            16          2,080          1            4            520            34           133            17,680             
    4 210.00 -                 -                -                    3            12             2,520         3           12           2,520        1            4            840            5            20          4,200          1            12          2,520         13           49              12,600             
    6 412.00 -                 -                -                    -             -               -                1           4             1,648        -             -             -                 1            4            1,648          1            4            1,648         3             9                4,944              
Unmetered charge 8.30 -                 -                -                    -             -               -                -           -              -               -             -             -                 -             -             -                 3            20          166            3             3                166                 
Customer Charge 8.58       -                 -                -                    -             -               -                -           -              -               -             -             -                 -             -             -                 -             -             -                -          -             -                  

     Sub-total 11,572        46,288        786,592        805        3,220        92,856        187        748          43,494      80          320          10,338       59           236          17,244        6             40           4,854         12,709     50,818       955,378           

Total Revenues Per Analysis 2,322,816$    530,104$   338,246$  134,290$    115,820$    122,950$   3,564,226$      

Multi-Family Wholesale Total

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
25

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 12
Consumer Analysis  
Forecasted 2025

     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF 2.44$         631,600 1,541,104$    179,200 437,248$   120,800  294,752$  50,800 123,952$    40,400 98,576$    48,400 118,096$  1,071,200 2,495,632$   
Lb's of BOD 0.30 - - - - -               -  - - -               -  -  -  - -  
Lb's of SS 0.16 - - - - -               -  - - -               -  -  -  - -  
Lb's of Nitrogen 1.89 - - - - -               -  - - -               -  -  -  - -  
Lb's of Phosphorus 1.46 - - - - -               -  - - -               -  -  -  - -  

     Sub-total 631,600     1,541,104      179,200     437,248     120,800  294,752    #REF! 123,952      40,400    98,576      16,800      118,096    1,071,200   2,495,632     

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings Meters Billings

   5/8 16.60 10,797       43,188       716,921         428       1,712         28,419        2           8              133           35            140          2,324          13          52            863           -             -  -  11,275   45,100        748,660        
   3/4 20.70 651            2,604         53,903           88         352            7,286          8           32            662           11            44            911             1            4              83              -             -  -  759        3,036          62,845          
    1 28.70 153            612            17,564           140       560            16,072        49         196          5,625        18            72            2,066          5            20            574           -             -  -  365        1,460          41,902          
1-1/4 38.40 - - - -            - - -            -               -  -               - - -             -               -  -             -  -  -         -              - 
1-1/2 48.90 1 4 196 73         292            14,279        65         260          12,714      9              36            1,760          10          40            1,956        -             -  -  158        632             30,905          

2 73.00 - - - 60         240            17,520        46         184          13,432      3              12            876             20          80            5,840        -             -  -  129        516             37,668          
3 130.00 - - - 13         52 6,760          13         52            6,760        3              12            1,560          4            16            2,080        1            4 520           34          136             17,680          
4 210.00 - - - 3           12 2,520          3           12            2,520        1              4               840             5            20            4,200        1            12              2,520        13          60 12,600          
6 412.00 - - - -            - - 1           4              1,648        -               - - 1            4              1,648        1            4 1,648        3            12 4,944            

Fixed Charge 8.30 - - - -            - - -            -               -  -               - - -             -               -  3            20              166           3            20 166  
Customer Charge 8.58           - - - -            - - -            -               -  -               - - -             -               -  -             -  -  -         -              - 

     Sub-total 11,602       46,408       788,584         805       3,220         92,856        187       748          43,494      80            320          10,338        59          236          17,244      6            40              4,854        12,739   50,972        957,370        

Total Revenues Per Analysis 2,329,688$    530,104$   338,246$  134,290$    115,820$  122,950$  3,453,002$   

Customer Additions Residential Commercial
5/8" 30 -             
3/4" -             -             
1" -             -             
  Total Additions 30 -             

Wholesale TotalResidential Multi-Family Public AuthorityIndustrialCommercial

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

26

DRAFT 04/19/2024DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



 

 FORECASTED OPERATING EXPENSES 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 13
Operation and Maintenance Expense Analysis   
Actual 2020 - Actual 2022

Actual Actual Actual
Acct 2020 2021 2022
No Account Name Labor Other Total Labor Other Total Labor Other Total
Operation Expenses
820 Supervision and labor 225,558$      -$                225,558$        191,404$      -$                191,404$         211,953$      -$                211,953$        
821 Power and fuel for pumping -                    368,862          368,862          -                    351,398          351,398           -                    374,632          374,632          
822 Treatment charges -                    106,908          106,908          -                    109,224          109,224           -                    340,570          340,570          
824 Phosphorous removal chemicals -                    294,642          294,642          -                    278,944          278,944           -                    311,073          311,073          
826 Other chemicals/sewer treatment -                    59,394            59,394            -                    65,697            65,697             -                    74,488            74,488            
827 Laboratory -                    61,025            61,025            -                    67,567            67,567             -                    48,043            48,043            
827.1 Other operating supplies -                    82,714            82,714            -                    124,103          124,103           -                    124,317          124,317          
828 Transportation 697               9,671              10,368            112               25,042            25,154             279               30,560            30,839            

  Subtotal 226,255        983,216          1,209,471       191,516        1,021,975       1,213,491        212,232        1,303,683       1,515,915       
Maintenance Expenses
831 Maint. of sewage collection system 44,630          81,630            126,260          39,958          44,728            84,686             37,830          43,472            81,302            
832 Maint. collect sys. pump equip. 991               (54,341)           (53,350)           1,011            5,632              6,643               414               6,276              6,690              
833 Maint/treat dispos plant equip. 105,684        259,151          364,835          108,894        203,588          312,482           103,791        216,916          320,707          
834 General plant structures and equip. 23,598          77,730            101,328          30,773          77,791            108,564           63,353          75,265            138,618          

  Subtotal 174,903        364,170          539,073          180,636        331,739          512,375           205,388        341,929          547,317          
Customer Accounting & Collection Expense
840 Billing, collecting & accounting 44,571          22,841            67,412            45,321          23,036            68,357             53,281          24,939            78,220            
842 Meter reading 27,351          780                 28,131            22,265          -                      22,265             19,478          819                 20,297            
842.2 Joint metering costs - Depreciation -                    68,140            68,140            -                    68,977            68,977             -                    70,221            70,221            
842.3 Maintenance of meters 5,959            5,236              11,195            6,333            6,166              12,499             25,366          7,219              32,585            
857 Rents - Joint metering costs -                    42,872            42,872            -                    39,859            39,859             -                    40,371            40,371            
845 Uncollectible accounts -                    -                      -                      -                    140                 140                  -                    (56)                  (56)                  

  Subtotal 77,881          139,869          217,750          73,919          138,178          212,097           98,125          143,513          241,638          
Administrative and General Expenses:
850 Administrative & general salaries 229,665        -                      229,665          283,747        -                      283,747           313,331        -                      313,331          
851 Office supplies and expenses -                    46,435            46,435            -                    30,720            30,720             -                    37,639            37,639            
852 Outside services employed -                    76,175            76,175            -                    119,260          119,260           -                    92,728            92,728            
853 Insurance -                    67,512            67,512            -                    63,062            63,062             -                    62,740            62,740            
854 Employers pension and retirement 66,369          784,333          850,702          62,320          515,796          578,116           85,532          154,176          239,708          
855 Regulatory commission -                    5,242              5,242              -                    5,341              5,341               -                    6,011              6,011              
856 Miscellaneous general -                    39,271            39,271            -                    12,356            12,356             -                    12,138            12,138            
408 Taxes -                    72,892            72,892            -                    74,613            74,613             -                    78,679            78,679            

  Subtotal 296,034        1,091,860       1,387,894       346,067        821,148          1,167,215        398,863        444,111          842,974          
    Total 775,073$      2,579,115$     3,354,188$     792,138$      2,313,040$     3,105,178$      914,608$      2,233,236$     3,147,844$     

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
27

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 14
Operation and Maintenance Expense Analysis   
Forecasted 2023-2025

Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Acct 2023 (A) 2024 (A) 2025 (A)

No Account Name Labor (B) Other Total Labor (B) Other Total Labor (B) Other Total

Operation Expenses:
820 Supervision and labor 216,200$          -$                      216,200$          220,500$          -$                      220,500            224,900$          -$                      224,900$          
821 Power and fuel for pumping -                        390,400            390,400            -                        400,600            400,600            -                        411,400            411,400            
822 Treatment charges -                        354,900            354,900            -                        364,100            364,100            -                        373,900            373,900            
824 Phosphorous removal chemicals -                        324,100            324,100            -                        332,500            332,500            -                        341,500            341,500            
826 Other chemicals/sewer treatment -                        77,600              77,600              -                        79,600              79,600              -                        81,700              81,700              
827 Laboratory -                        50,100              50,100              -                        51,400              51,400              -                        52,800              52,800              
827.1 Other operating supplies -                        129,500            129,500            -                        132,900            132,900            -                        136,500            136,500            
828 Transportation 300                   31,800              32,100              300                   32,600              32,900              300                   33,500              33,800              

  Subtotal 216,500            1,358,400         1,574,900         220,800            1,393,700         1,614,500         225,200            1,431,300         1,656,500         
Maintenance Expenses
831 Maint. of sewage collection system 38,600              45,300              83,900              39,400              46,500              85,900              40,200              47,800              88,000              
832 Maint. collect sys. pump equip. 400                   6,500                6,900                400                   6,700                7,100                400                   6,900                7,300                
833 Maint/treat dispos plant equip 105,900            226,000            331,900            105,900            231,900            337,800            108,000            238,200            346,200            
834 General plant structures and equip. 64,600              78,400              143,000            64,600              80,400              145,000            65,900              82,600              148,500            

  Subtotal 209,500            356,200            565,700            210,300            365,500            575,800            214,500            375,500            590,000            
Customer Accounting & Collection Expense
840 Billing, collecting & accounting 54,300              26,000              80,300              55,400              26,700              82,100              56,500              27,400              83,900              
842 Meter reading 19,900              900                   20,800              20,300              900                   21,200              20,700              900                   21,600              
842.2 Joint metering costs - Depreciation -                        73,200              73,200              -                        75,100              75,100              -                        77,100              77,100              
842.3 Maintenance of meters 25,900              7,500                33,400              26,400              7,700                34,100              26,900              7,900                34,800              
857 Rents - Joint metering costs -                        42,100              42,100              -                        43,200              43,200              -                        44,400              44,400              
845 Uncollectible accounts -                        (100)                  (100)                  -                        (100)                  (100)                  -                        (100)                  (100)                  

  Subtotal 100,100            149,600            249,700            102,100            153,500            255,600            104,100            157,600            261,700            
Administrative and General Expenses:
850 Administrative & general salaries 319,600            -                        319,600            326,000            -                        326,000            332,500            -                        332,500            
851 Office supplies and expenses -                        39,200              39,200              -                        40,200              40,200              -                        41,300              41,300              
852 Outside services employed -                        96,600              96,600              -                        99,100              99,100              -                        101,800            101,800            
853 Insurance -                        65,400              65,400              -                        67,100              67,100              -                        68,900              68,900              
854 Employers pension and retirement 87,200              162,600            249,800            89,500              112,000            256,300            (C) 91,300              171,900            263,200            (C)
855 Regulatory commission -                        6,300                6,300                -                        6,500                6,500                -                        6,700                6,700                
856 Miscellaneous general -                        12,600              12,600              -                        12,900              12,900              -                        13,200              13,200              
408 Taxes -                        82,000              82,000              -                        84,100              84,100              -                        86,400              86,400              

  Subtotal 406,800            464,700            871,500            415,500            421,900            892,200            423,800            490,200            914,000            

    Total 932,900$          2,328,900$       3,261,800$       948,700$          2,334,600$       3,338,100$       967,600$          2,454,600$       3,422,200$       

(A) Based on prior year expenses with an inflationary increase.
(B) Labor is increased over prior year by 2% 
(C) Actual contain GASB 68 activity. Forecasted amounts are budgeted to cover required contributions.

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

28

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



 

 FORECASTED PLANT AND RELATED SCHEDULES 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 15
Plant in Service   
Actual 2022 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
12/31/21 Additions Retirements 12/31/2022 Additions Retirements 12/31/2023 Additions Retirements 12/31/2024 Additions Retirements 12/31/2025

Intangible
Lease asset 13,436$           -$                  -$                  13,436             -$                     -$                  13,436             -$                     -$                  13,436             -$                     -$                     13,436           

Collecting System
Land and land rights 26,039             -                    -                    26,039             -                       -                    26,039             -                       -                    26,039             -                       -                       26,039           
Collecting mains and accessories 21,109,897      792,024        12,129          21,889,792      767,000           7,401            22,649,391      1,252,750        7,089            23,895,052      767,350           5,198               24,657,204    
Interceptor mains and accessories 3,373,873        -                    -                    3,373,873        -                       -                    3,373,873        -                       -                    3,373,873        -                       -                       3,373,873      
Force mains and accessories 225,919           -                    -                    225,919           -                       -                    225,919           -                       -                    225,919           -                       -                       225,919         
Other collecting system equipment 157,566           -                    -                    157,566           -                       2,858            154,708           -                       -                    154,708           -                       -                       154,708         

Total Collection System 24,893,294      792,024         12,129           25,673,189       767,000           10,259          26,429,930      1,252,750        7,089            27,675,591      767,350           5,198               28,437,743    

Collecting System Pumping
Electric pumping equipment 388,144           -                    -                    388,144           -                       -                    388,144           -                       -                    388,144           -                       -                       388,144         

Total Collection System 388,144           -                     -                     388,144            -                       -                    388,144           -                       -                    388,144           -                       -                       388,144         

Treatment and Disposal Plant
Land and land rights 9,491               -                    -                    9,491               -                       -                    9,491               -                       -                    9,491               -                       -                       9,491             
Structures and improvements 12,151,922      -                    -                    12,151,922      -                       9,090            12,142,832      700,000           -                    12,842,832      50,000             -                       12,892,832    
Preliminary treatment equipment 637,214           452,921        176,431        913,704           115,000           427,017        601,687           40,000             35,980          605,707           -                       -                       605,707         
Primary treatment equipment 356,725           -                    -                    356,725           -                       -                    356,725           -                       -                    356,725           -                       -                       356,725         
Secondary treatment equipment 1,633,579        -                    -                    1,633,579        -                       -                    1,633,579        -                       -                    1,633,579        -                       -                       1,633,579      
Advanced treatment equipment 3,428,883        -                    -                    3,428,883        -                       -                    3,428,883        6,788,000        524,131        9,692,752        -                       -                       9,692,752      
Chlorination equipment 147,572           -                    -                    147,572           -                       -                    147,572           -                       -                    147,572           -                       -                       147,572         
Disinfecting equipment 626,444           -                    -                    626,444           -                       -                    626,444           -                       -                    626,444           -                       -                       626,444         
Sludge treatment and disposal 3,930,549        -                    9                   3,930,540        -                       -                    3,930,540        -                       -                    3,930,540        -                       -                       3,930,540      
Plant site piping 4,239,775        -                    -                    4,239,775        -                       -                    4,239,775        -                       -                    4,239,775        -                       -                       4,239,775      
Flow metering and monitoring equipment 185,418           -                    -                    185,418           -                       -                    185,418           -                       -                    185,418           -                       -                       185,418         
Other treatment equipment and disposal equip 113,756           36,821          -                    150,577           -                       -                    150,577           -                       -                    150,577           -                       -                       150,577         

Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 27,461,328      489,742        176,440        27,774,630      115,000           436,107        27,453,523      7,528,000        560,111        34,421,412      50,000             -                       34,471,412    

General Plant
Office furniture and equipment 42,994             48,587          5,708            85,873             60,000             -                    145,873           -                       -                    145,873           -                       -                       145,873         
Computer equipment 143,274           7,626            -                    150,900           25,000             65,323          110,577           25,000             -                    135,577           25,000             -                       160,577         
Transportation equipment 350,698           -                    -                    350,698           -                       -                    350,698           500,000           240,417        610,281           -                       -                       610,281         
Other general equipment 363,239           -                    -                    363,239           300,000           73,950          589,289           -                       -                    589,289           -                       -                       589,289         

Total General Plant 900,205           56,213          5,708            950,710           385,000           139,273        1,196,437        525,000           240,417        1,481,020        25,000             -                       1,506,020      

Total Sewer Plant in Service 53,656,407$    1,337,979$   194,277$      54,800,109$    1,267,000$      585,639$      55,481,470$    9,305,750$      807,617$      63,979,603$    842,350$         5,198$             64,816,755$  

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

29

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 16
Plant Additions/Retirements
Actual 2022

Additions Retirements

Description Amount Amount

Intangible
Lease asset -$                      -$                         

Collecting System
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Collecting mains 792,024            12,129                 
Interceptor mains -                        -                           
Force mains -                        -                           
Other Collection system equipment -                        -                           
Electric Pumping Equipment -                        -                           

Total Collecting Mains 792,024            12,129                 

Treatment and Disposal
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Structures and improvements -                        -                           
Preliminary treatment equipment 452,921            176,431               
Primary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Secondary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Advanced treatment equipment -                        -                           
Chlorination equipment -                        -                           
Disinfecting equipment -                        -                           
Sludge treatment and disposal equipment -                        9                          
Plant site piping -                        -                           
Flow metering and monitoring equipment -                        -                           
Other treatment and disposal equipment 36,821              -                           

Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 489,742            176,440               

General Plant
Office furniture and equipment 48,587              5,708                   
Computer equipment 7,626                -                           
Transportation equipment -                        -                           
Other general equipment -                        -                           

Total General Plant 56,213              5,708                   

Total 1,337,979$       194,277$            

Summary of Financing

       Collection System Replacement Fund 792,024$          
Replacement Fund 489,742            

       Utility Earnings 56,213              

Total Additions 1,337,979$       

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
30

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 16A
Plant Additions/Retirements
Forecasted 2023

Additions Retirements

Description Amount Amount

Intangible
Lease asset -$                      -$                         

Collecting System
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Collecting mains 767,000            7,401                   

Butternut - Main to Eder 20,000             -                          
Hawthorn Drive - Main to 7th 47,000             -                          
Laurel Drive South 340,000           -                          
Main Street (Downtown) 75,000             -                          
Maplewynde - Sylvan to Eder 35,000             -                          
Pennsylvania Avenue - Locust to Kilbourn 250,000           -                          

Interceptor mains -                        -                           
Force mains -                        -                           
Other Collection system equipment - portable TV inspection camera -                        2,858                   
Electric Pumping Equipment -                        -                           

Total Collecting Mains 767,000            10,259                 

Treatment and Disposal
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Structures and improvements - dehumidifier -                        9,090                   
Preliminary treatment equipment 115,000            427,017               

West grit washer and auger (emergency repair/replacement) 40,000             -                          
Step screens and washer compactors -                       344,928              
Modifications to step screen -                       4,852                  
New Auger modifications to step screens -                       13,199                
New step screen auger compactor -                       16,444                
Auger -                       5,929                  
Step screen -                       5,685                  
Grit dewatering screw assembly -                       35,980                
Waste activated sludge (WAS) valve automation 25,000             -                          
High voltage breaker upgrades 50,000             -                          

Primary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Secondary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Advanced treatment equipment -                        -                           
Chlorination equipment -                        -                           
Disinfecting equipment -                        -                           
Sludge treatment and disposal equipment -                        -                           
Plant site piping -                        -                           
Flow metering and monitoring equipment -                        -                           
Other treatment and disposal equipment -                        -                           

Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 115,000            436,107               

General Plant
Office furniture and equipment 60,000              -                           
Computer equipment 25,000              65,323                 

Annual upgrades to the security system 25,000             -                           
Computers - shared w/ City -                       44,565                
Computers - shared w/ Finance -                       6,442                  
Computers - shared w/ City -                       12,958                
Computers - shared w/ City -                       1,358                  

Transportation equipment -                        -                           
Other general equipment - TV inspection truck 300,000            73,950                 

Total General Plant 385,000            139,273               

Total 1,267,000$       585,639$            

Summary of Financing

       Collection System Replacement Fund 767,000$          
Replacement Fund 115,000            

       Utility Earnings 385,000            

Total Additions 1,267,000$       

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
31

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 17
Plant Additions/Retirements
Forecasted 2024

Additions Retirements

Description Amount Amount

Intangible
Lease asset -$                      -$                         

Collecting System
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Collecting mains 1,252,750         7,089                   

Butternut - Main to Eder 162,750           -                          
Hawthorn Drive - Main to 7th 280,000           -                          
Heather Drive 45,000             -                          
Kilbourn Avenue - River to Idlewood 30,000             -                          
Maplewynde - Sylvan to Eder 280,000           -                          
Sand Drive 455,000            -                          

Interceptor mains -                        -                           
Force mains -                        -                           
Other Collection system equipment -                        -                           
Electric Pumping Equipment -                        -                           

Total Collecting Mains 1,252,750         7,089                   

Treatment and Disposal
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Structures and improvements 700,000            -                           

Coat fiberglass covers on trickling filters 150,000           -                          
South digester sludge boiler 500,000           -                          
Digester cleanout 50,000             -                          

Preliminary treatment equipment - grit dewatering screw assembly 40,000              35,980                 
East grit washer and auger 40,000             -                          
Grit dewatering screw assembly -                       35,980                

Primary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Secondary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Advanced treatment equipment 6,788,000         524,131               

Phosphorus removal equipment 6,788,000        -                          
2 backwash pumps - tertiary filters -                       30,314                
Sand filtration equipment -                       493,817              

Chlorination equipment -                        -                           
Disinfecting equipment -                        -                           
Sludge treatment and disposal equipment -                        -                           
Plant site piping -                        -                           
Flow metering and monitoring equipment -                        -                           
Other treatment and disposal equipment -                        -                           

Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 7,528,000         560,111               

General Plant
Office furniture and equipment -                        -                           
Computer equipment - annual upgrades to the security system 25,000              -                           
Transportation equipment - international jet/vac 500,000            240,417               
Other general equipment -                        -                           

Total General Plant 525,000            240,417               

Total 9,305,750$       807,617$            

Summary of Financing

       Collection System Replacement Fund 1,252,750$       
Replacement Fund 3,828,000         

       Utility Earnings 4,225,000         

Total Additions 9,305,750$       

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
32

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 18
Plant Additions/Retirements
Forecasted 2025

Additions Retirements

Description Amount Amount

Intangible
Lease asset -$                      -$                         

Collecting System
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Collecting mains 767,350            5,198                   

Badger Lane - East & West 72,000             -                          
Crestview Drive 30,000             -                          
Heather Drive 324,000           -                          
Kilbourn Avenue - River to Idlewood 328,350           -                          
South River Road & Whitewater/Gatewood 13,000              -                           

Interceptor mains -                        -                           
Force mains -                        -                           
Other Collection system equipment -                        -                           
Electric Pumping Equipment -                        -                           

Total Collecting Mains 767,350            5,198                   

Treatment and Disposal
Land and land rights -                        -                           
Structures and improvements - digester cleanout 50,000              -                           
Preliminary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Primary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Secondary treatment equipment -                        -                           
Advanced treatment equipment -                        -                           
Chlorination equipment -                        -                           
Disinfecting equipment -                        -                           
Sludge treatment and disposal equipment -                        -                           
Plant site piping -                        -                           
Flow metering and monitoring equipment -                        -                           
Other treatment and disposal equipment -                        -                           

Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 50,000              -                           

General Plant
Office furniture and equipment -                        -                           
Computer equipment - annual upgrades to the security system 25,000              -                           
Transportation equipment -                        -                           
Other general equipment -                        -                           

Total General Plant 25,000              -                           

Total 842,350$          5,198$                 

Summary of Financing

       Collection System Replacement Fund 767,350$          
Replacement Fund 50,000              

       Utility Earnings 25,000              

Total Additions 842,350$          

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
33

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 19
Depreciation Expense   
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023 12/31/2024 12/31/2025
Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation

Description Rate ( C ) Expense (A) Expense (A) Expense (B) Expense (B) Expense (B)
   
Lease asset -$                 -$                     8,267$             -$                     -$                       -$                     

Land and land rights -                   -                       -                       -                       -                         -                       

Collecting mains and accessories 0.0130         270,857 279,498           289,505           302,539             315,590           

Interceptor mains and accessories 0.0130         43,860 43,860             43,860             43,860               43,860             

Force mains and accessories 0.0130         2,937 2,937               2,937               2,937                 2,937               

Other collecting system equipment 0.0670         10,557 10,557             10,461             10,366               10,366             

Electric pumping equipment 0.0300         11,644 11,644             11,644             11,644               11,644             

Land and land rights -                   -                       -                       -                   -                     -                   
.

Structures and improvements 0.0290         352,406 352,406           352,274           362,292             373,167           

Preliminary treatment equipment 0.0400         25,489 31,098             30,387             24,228               24,308             

Primary treatment equipment 0.0400         14,269 14,190             14,190             14,190               14,190             

Secondary treatment equipment 0.0400         65,343 65,343             65,343             65,343               65,343             

Advanced treatment equipment 0.0400         135,008 137,155           137,155           262,432             387,710           

Chlorination equipment 0.0667         9,843 9,843               9,843               9,843                 9,843               

Disinfecting equipment -               -                       -                       -                   -                     -                   

Sludge treatment and disposal 0.0400         158,170 157,222           157,222           157,222             157,222           

Plant site piping 0.0250         105,994 105,994           105,994           105,994             105,994           

Flow metering and monitoring equipment 0.0400         7,303 7,417               7,417               7,417                 7,417               

Other treatment equipment and disposal equip 0.0670         7,622 8,855               10,089             10,089               10,089             

Office furniture and equipment 0.1000         4,050 6,443               11,587             14,587               14,587             

Transportation equipment 0.1500         51,958 52,605             52,605             72,074               91,542             

Computer equipment 0.2670         36,593 39,272             34,907             32,861               39,536             

Other general equipment 0.0580         21,068 21,068             27,623             34,179               34,179             

     Total 1,334,971$       1,365,674$      1,375,043$      1,544,096$        1,719,523$      

2021 Ending balance 1,334,971$       1,334,971$      1,334,971$      1,334,971$        1,334,971$      

2022 Ending balance -                       1,365,674        1,365,674        1,365,674          1,365,674        
2023 Activity -                       -                       9,369               9,369                 9,369               
2024 Activity -                       -                       169,053             169,053           
2025 Activity -                       -                       -                       -                         175,427           

Depreciation Expense 1,334,971$       1,365,674$      1,375,043$      1,544,096$        1,719,523$      

(A) Depreciation expense at year-end is derived from the 2021 and 2022 audit files.  
   Depreciation Expense incorporates fully depreciated assets which were updated for the current rate study.

(B) Represent additional depreciation added for each year based on Schedules 17-18.  

(C) Depreciation rate is based on composite rate used in the audited financial statements for corresponding
plant accounts.

Please refer to Accountant's Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

34

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 20
Accumulated Depreciation and Contributions in Aid of Construction
Actual 2021 - Forecasted 2025

Actual Actual Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23 12/31/24 12/31/25

Accumulated Depreciation
  Balance - Beginning of Year 29,391,883$    30,531,270$     31,744,058$     32,538,462$     33,279,941$     
    Credits During Year
      Accruals charged to dep'n. expense 1,334,971        1,365,674         1,375,043         1,544,096         1,719,523         
      Salvage 17,833             -                       5,000                5,000                5,000                
        Total Credits 1,352,804        1,365,674         1,380,043         1,549,096         1,724,523         
    Debits During Year
      Book cost of plant retired 213,417           194,277            585,639            807,617            5,198                
      Cost of removal -                      (41,391)            -                       -                       -                       

        Total Debits 213,417           152,886            585,639            807,617            5,198                

          Balance - End of Year 30,531,270$    31,744,058$     32,538,462$     33,279,941$     34,999,266$     

Contributions in Aid of Construction
  Customers
   Balance - Beginning of Year 9,864,205$      9,864,205$       9,864,205$       9,864,205$       9,864,205$       
    Credits During Year
      Insurance Proceeds -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       
      Special Assessments -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       

          Total CIAC Customers 9,864,205$      9,864,205$       9,864,205$       9,864,205$       9,864,205$       

 

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
35

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



 

 STEP I COST OF SERVICE 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 21
Summary of Cost of Service Study
Test Year 2024

Allocation Forecasted  
Basis 2024 Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen Cust. Cost Demand

O M & R

  Operation, maint & taxes expense Detailed schedule 31 3,338,100$     829,019$        608,953$       534,090$       532,885$       203,076$       398,566$       231,511$       

  Replacement depreciation Detailed schedule 32 302,500          115,675          58,383          43,772          17,636          25,713          -                    41,322           

  Contractual service & biogas revenues Detailed schedule 34 (834,963)         (177,417)        (168,473)       (148,450)       (125,545)       (53,053)         (99,596)         (62,429)         

  Less other revenues Above allocation (60,637)           (15,736)          (11,115)         (9,625)           (9,169)           (3,811)           (6,638)           (4,544)           

     Subtotal 2,745,000       751,541          487,748        419,787        415,807        171,925        292,332        205,860         

Capital Costs

  Rate of return Plant allocation 339,100          130,258          54,879          32,953          16,165          33,110          -                    71,734           

  Other depreciation Detailed schedule 32 1,241,600       474,787          239,629        179,660        72,385          105,536        -                    169,603         

     Subtotal 1,580,700       605,045          294,508        212,613        88,550          138,646        -                    241,337         

Revenue required from STEP I rates 4,325,700$     1,356,586$     782,256$       632,400$       504,357$       310,571$       292,332$       447,197$       

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
36

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 22
Quarterly Bill Comparison
Test Year 2024

Quarterly               Change
Customer Volume CF Meter Present Cost of Service Amount %

Small residential 300 5/8" 23.92$         22.75$             (1.17)$          -4.89%

Average residential 2,200 5/8" 70.28 86.40 16.12 22.94%

Large residential 4,300 3/4" 125.62 160.25 34.63 27.57%

Commercial 1,400 1" 62.86 70.00 7.14 11.36%

Commercial 4,800 1" 145.82 183.90 38.08 26.11%

Commercial 19,400 2" 546.36 710.90 164.54 30.12%

Commercial 40,000 2" 1,049.00 1,401.00 352.00 33.56%

Multi-family 3,800           3/4" 113.42 143.50 30.08 26.52%

Multi-family 52,700         3" 1,415.88 1,875.45 459.57 32.46%

Public authority 100 1" 31.14 26.45 (4.69) -15.06%

Public authority 294,000 2" 7,246.60 9,910.00 2,663.40 36.75%

Present Cost of Service %
Rates Step I Rates Change

Volume (per 100 cubic feet) 2.44$           3.35$               37.30%
BOD  (Over 250 Mg/L) 0.30 /lb. 0.47 /lb. 56.67%
Suspended Solids  (Over 330 Mg/L) 0.16 /lb. 0.29 /lb. 81.25%
Nitrogen  (Over 15 Mg/L) 1.46 /lb. 3.10 /lb. 112.33%
Phosphorus  (over 20 Mg/L) 1.89 /lb. 3.78 /lb. 100.00%

5/8" 16.60 /qtr 12.70 /qtr -23.49%
3/4" 20.70 16.20 -21.74%
1" 28.70 23.10 -19.51%

1-1/4" 38.40 31.40 -18.23%
1-1/2" 48.90 40.50 -17.18%

2" 73.00 61.00 -16.44%
3" 130.00 110.00 -15.38%
4" 210.00 179.00 -14.76%
6" 412.00 353.00 -14.32%

Customer Charge 7.89 5.75 -27.10%
Demand Charge 6.80 6.94 2.10%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

37

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 23
Calculation of Demand and Fixed Charge 
Test Year 2024

Quarterly Quarterly Computed Cost of Service
Meter Demand Equivalent Demand Fixed Quarterly Cost of Service Annual Demand
Size Customers Ratio Meters Charge Charge Charge Charge Revenue Charge

5/8" 11,245 1.0 11,245 6.94$           5.75$           12.69$         12.70$            571,246$       6.95$               
3/4" 759 1.5 1,139 10.41 5.75 16.17 16.20              49,183 10.45
1" 365 2.5 913 17.36 5.75 23.11 23.10 33,726 17.35

1-1/4" 0 3.7 -               25.69 5.75 31.44 31.40 -                 25.65
1-1/2" 158 5.0 790 34.71 5.75 40.47 40.50 25,596 34.75

2" 129 8.0 1,032 55.54 5.75 61.29 61.00 31,476 55.25
3" 34 15.0 510 104.14 5.75 109.89 110.00 14,960 104.25
4" 13 25.0 325 173.57 5.75 179.32 179.00 9,308 173.25
6" 3 50.0 150 347.14 5.75 352.89 353.00 4,236 347.25

Totals 12,706 16,103 739,731$       

Total Demand Related Costs 447,197$     / 16,103 / 4 = 6.94$              

Total Customer Costs 292,332$     / 12,706 / 4 = 5.75$              

          Total Fixed Costs 739,529$     

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

38

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY      Schedule 24
Calculation of Unit Treatment Charge
Test Year 2024

2024 (B)
Est. Cost Estimated Unit
of Service Loadings Cost

Volume  1,356,586$     799,762 1.696$         /1,000 GAL
BOD 782,256 1,667,503 0.469 /LB
Suspended Solids 632,400 2,201,104 0.287 /LB
Phosphorus 504,357 133,400 3.781 /LB
Nitrogen 310,571 100,050 3.104 /LB

     Total 3,586,170$     

Calculated Domestic Strength Rates 

Volume 1.696$          
BOD 250 x 0.00834 x 0.469 0.978
Suspended Solids 330 x 0.00834 x 0.287 0.791
Phosphorus 20 x 0.00834 x 3.781 0.631
Nitrogen 15 x 0.00834 x 3.104 0.388

     Rate per 1,000 gallons (Domestic) 4.484$         /1,000 GAL

Conversion to CCF 4.484 x 7.48 = 3.35             /CCF

Summary of Rates
Calculated Rates Rates Used

Volume 3.35 3.35 /CCF
BOD      over 250 mg/l 0.47 0.47 /lb
Suspended Solids      over 330 mg/l 0.29 0.29 /lb
Nitrogen      over 15 mg/l 3.10 3.10 /lb
Phosphorus      over 20 mg/l 3.78 3.78 /lb

 Average Strength of Wastewater Characteristics Received at Treatment Plant

  BOD (LBS) 1,667,503 / 799,762 / 0.00834 = 250
  SS (LBS) 2,201,104 / 799,762 / 0.00834 = 330
  Phosphorus (LBS) 133,400 / 799,762 / 0.00834 = 20
  Nitrogen (LBS) 100,050 / 799,762 / 0.00834 = 15

(B)  Estimated Loadings

  Volume 1,069,200 ccf x 7.48 799,762
  BOD (LBS) 799,762 x 250 x 0.00834 = 1,667,503
  SS (LBS) 799,762 x 330 x 0.00834 = 2,201,104
  Phosphorus (LBS) 799,762 x 20 x 0.00834 = 133,400
  Nitrogen (LBS) 799,762 x 15 x 0.00834 = 100,050

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
39

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 25
Consumer Analysis   
Proposed Rates - Test Year 2024

 
  
     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue  Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF $3.35 629,600   2,109,160$    179,200 600,320$     120,800 404,680$    50,800 170,180$   40,400 135,340$   48,400 162,140$   1,069,200 3,581,820$            
Lb's of BOD $0.47 -                -                     -                -                    -               -                  -                -                  -                -                  -                -                 -                 -                             
Lb's of SS $0.29 -                -                     -                -                    -               -                  -                -                  -                -                  -                -                 -                 -                             
Lb's of Nitrogen $3.10 -                -                     -                -                    -               -                  -                -                  -                -                  -                -                 -                 -                             
Lb's of Phosphorus $3.78 -                -                     -                -                    -               -                  -                -                  -                -                  -                -                 -                 -                             

 
     Sub-total  629,600    2,109,160        179,200    600,320         120,800   404,680       50,800      170,180       40,400      135,340       48,400      162,140       1,069,200   3,581,820              

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue

   5/8  12.70 10,767      43,068     546,964         428     1,712        21,742         2           8              102             35        140           1,778          13        52             660             -           -                -                 11,245     44,980       571,246                 
   3/4 16.20 651           2,604        42,185           88        352           5,702           8           32            518             11        44             713             1          4               65               -           -                -                 759          3,036         49,183                   
    1 23.10 153           612           14,137           140     560           12,936         49         196          4,528          18        72             1,663          5          20             462             -           -                -                 365          1,460         33,726                   
  1-1/4 31.40 -                -                -                     -           -                -                    -            -               -                  -           -                -                  -           -                -                  -           -                -                 -               -                 -                             
  1-1/2 40.50 1               4               162                73        292           11,826         65         260          10,530        9          36             1,458          10        40             1,620          -           -                -                 158          632            25,596                   
    2 61.00 -                -                -                     60        240           14,640         46         184          11,224        3          12             732             20        80             4,880          -           -                -                 129          516            31,476                   
    3 110.00 -                -                -                     13        52             5,720           13         52            5,720          3          12             1,320          4          16             1,760          1          4               440            34            136            14,960                   
    4 179.00 -                -                -                     3          12             2,148           3           12            2,148          1          4               716             5          20             3,580          1          4               716            13            52              9,308                     
    6 353.00 -                -                -                     -           -                -                    1           4              1,412          -           -                -                  1          4               1,412          1          4               1,412         3              12              4,236                     
Customer Charge 5.75 -                -                -                     -           -                -                    -            -               -                  -           -                -                  -           -                -                  3          12             69              3              12              69                          
Demand Charge 6.94 -                -                -                     -           -                -                    -            -               -                  -           -                -                  -           -                -                  -           -                -                 -               -                 -                             

     Sub-total 11,572 46,288  603,448 805 3,220 74,715  187  748  36,182 80 320  8,380 59  236  14,439 6  24  2,637 12,709  50,836  739,800

Total Revenues Per Analysis 2,712,608$    675,035$     440,862$    178,560$   149,779$   164,777$   4,321,620$            

TotalResidential Commercial Industrial      Public Authority      WholesaleMulti-Family

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

40

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



 

 STEP II COST OF SERVICE 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 26
Summary of Cost of Service Study
Test Year 2025

Allocation Forecasted  
Basis 2025 Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen Cust. Cost Demand

O M & R

  Operation, maint & taxes expense Detailed schedule 31 3,422,200$      849,905$        624,295$     547,546$     546,311$           208,192$     408,607$        237,344$             

  Replacement depreciation Detailed schedule 32 304,000           116,250          58,672         43,989         17,723               25,840         -                      41,526                 

  Contractual service & biogas revenues Detailed schedule 34 (876,815)          (186,309)        (176,917)      (155,891)      (131,838)            (55,712)        (104,589)         (65,559)               

  Less other revenues Above allocation (42,900)            (11,123)          (7,863)          (6,810)          (6,494)               (2,694)          (4,704)             (3,211)                 

     Subtotal 2,806,485        768,723          498,187       428,834       425,702             175,626       299,314          210,100               

Capital Costs

  Rate of return Plant allocation 407,900           156,688          66,013         39,639         19,445               39,828         -                      86,289                 

  Other depreciation Detailed schedule 32 1,415,500        541,287          273,192       204,823       82,524               120,318       -                      193,357               

     Subtotal 1,823,400        697,975          339,205       244,462       101,969             160,146       -                      279,646               

Revenue required from STEP II rates 4,629,885$      1,466,698$     837,392$     673,296$     527,671$           335,772$     299,314$        489,746$             

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
41

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 27
Quarterly Bill Comparison
Test Year 2025

Quarterly Step I Step II               Change (A)
Customer Volume CF Meter Cost of Service Cost of Service Amount %

Small residential 300 5/8" 22.75$             24.27$              1.52$          6.68%

Average residential 2,200 5/8" 86.40 92.48 6.08 7.04%

Large residential 4,300 3/4" 160.25 171.67 11.42 7.13%

Commercial 1,400 1" 70.00 75.06 5.06 7.23%

Commercial 4,800 1" 183.90 197.12 13.22 7.19%

Commercial 19,400 2" 710.90 763.06 52.16 7.34%

Commercial 40,000 2" 1,401.00 1,502.60 101.60 7.25%

Multi-family 3,800 3/4" 143.50 153.72 10.22 7.12%

Multi-family 52,700 3" 1,875.45 2,011.63 136.18 7.26%

Public authority 100 1" 26.45 28.39 1.94 7.33%

Public authority 294,000 2" 9,910.00 10,621.20 711.20 7.18%

Present Cost of Service % Cost of Service %
Rates Step I Rates Change Step II Rates Change

Volume 2.44$          3.35$               37.30% 3.59$                7.16%
BOD 0.30 0.47 56.67% 0.50 6.38%
Suspended Solids 0.16 0.29 81.25% 0.31 6.90%
Nitrogen 1.46 3.10 112.33% 3.35 8.06%
Phosphorus 1.89 3.78 100.00% 3.95 4.50%

5/8" 16.60 12.70 -23.49% 13.50 6.30%
3/4" 20.70 16.20 -21.74% 17.30 6.79%
1" 28.70 23.10 -19.51% 24.80 7.36%

1-1/4" 38.40 31.40 -18.23% 34.00 8.28%
1-1/2" 48.90 40.50 -17.18% 43.80 8.15%

2" 73.00 61.00 -16.44% 66.60 9.18%
3" 130.00 110.00 -15.38% 119.70 8.82%
4" 210.00 179.00 -14.76% 195.60 9.27%
6" 412.00 353.00 -14.32% 385.30 9.15%

Customer Charge 7.89 5.75 -27.10% 5.88 2.15%
Demand Charge 6.80 6.94 2.10% 7.59 9.31%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

42

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 28
Calculation of Demand and Fixed Charge 
Test Year 2025

Quarterly Quarterly Computed Cost of Service Cost of Service
Meter Demand Equivalent Demand Fixed Quarterly Quarterly Annual Demand
Size Customers Ratio Meters Charge Charge Charge Charge Revenue Charge

5/8" 11,275 1.0 11,275 7.59$                5.88$           13.46$         13.50$            608,850$         7.62$             
3/4" 759 1.5 1,139 11.38 5.88 17.26 17.30 52,523 11.42
1" 365 2.5 913 18.97 5.88 24.85 24.80 36,208 18.92

1-1/4" 0 3.7 -              28.08 5.88 33.96 34.00 -                   28.12
1-1/2" 158 5.0 790 37.95 5.88 43.82 43.80 27,682 37.92

2" 129 8.0 1,032 60.71 5.88 66.59 66.60 34,366 60.72
3" 34 15.0 510 113.84 5.88 119.71 119.70 16,279 113.82
4" 13 25.0 325 189.73 5.88 195.61 195.60 10,171 189.72
6" 3 50.0 150 379.46 5.88 385.34 385.30 4,624 379.42

Totals 12,736 16,133 790,702$         

Total Demand Related Costs 489,746$          16,133 / 4 = 7.59$              

Total Customer Costs 299,314            12,736 / 4 = 5.88$              

          Total Fixed Costs 789,060$          

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
43

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY      Schedule 29
Calculation of Unit Treatment Charge
Test Year 2025

2025 (B)
Est. Cost Estimated Unit
of Service Loadings Cost

Volume  1,466,698$         801,258 1.830$      /MGAL
BOD 837,392 1,670,622 0.501 /LB
Suspended Solids 673,296 2,205,221 0.305 /LB
Phosphorus 527,671 133,650 3.948 /LB
Nitrogen 335,772 100,237 3.350 /LB

     Total 3,840,829$         

Calculated Domestic Strength Rates 

Volume 1.830$       
BOD 250 x 0.00834 x 0.501 1.045
Suspended Solids 330 x 0.00834 x 0.305 0.840
Phosphorus 20 x 0.00834 x 3.948 0.659
Nitrogen 15 x 0.00834 x 3.350 0.419

     Rate per 1,000 gallons (Domestic) 4.794$      /MGAL

4.794 x 7.48 = 3.586$      /CCF

Summary of Rates
Volume 3.59 /CCF
BOD      over 250 mg/l 0.50 /lb
Suspended Solids      over 330 mg/l 0.31 /lb
Nitrogen      over 20 mg/l 3.35 /lb
Phosphorus      over 15 mg/l 3.95 /lb

 Average Strength of Wastewater Characteristics Received at Treatment Plant

  BOD (LBS) 1,670,622 / 801,258 / 0.00834 = 250
  SS (LBS) 2,205,221 / 801,258 / 0.00834 = 330
  Phosphorus (LBS) 133,650 / 801,258 / 0.00834 = 20
  Nitrogen (LBS) 100,237 / 801,258 / 0.00834 = 15

(B)  Estimated Loadings

  Volume 1,071,200 ccf x 7.48 801,258
  BOD (LBS) 801,258 x 250 x 0.00834 = 1,670,622
  SS (LBS) 801,258 x 330 x 0.00834 = 2,205,221
  Phosphorus (LBS) 801,258 x 20 x 0.00834 = 133,650
  Nitrogen (LBS) 801,258 x 15 x 0.00834 = 100,237

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
44

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 30
Consumer Analysis    
Proposed Rates - Test Year 2025

 
  
     VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue Volume Revenue  Volume Revenue

Rate per CCF $3.59 631,600 2,267,444$         179,200 643,328$          120,800 433,672$        50,800 182,372$    40,400 145,036$    48,400 173,756$    1,071,200 3,845,608$      
Lb's of BOD $0.50 -                -                           -                   -                         -               -                      -                -                   -                -                   -                -                   -                  -                       
Lb's of SS $0.31 -                -                           -                   -                         -               -                      -                -                   -                -                   -                -                   -                  -                       
Lb's of Nitrogen $3.35 -                -                           -                   -                         -               -                      -                -                   -                -                   -                -                   -                  -                       
Lb's of Phosphorus $3.95 -                -                           -                   -                         -               -                      -                -                   -                -                   -                -                   -                  -                       

 
     Sub-total  631,600    2,267,444             179,200        643,328              120,800   433,672           50,800      182,372         40,400      145,036         48,400      173,756         1,071,200    3,845,608        

 QUARTERLY FIXED CHARGE Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue Meters Billings Revenue

   5/8  13.50 10,797    43,188     583,038               428     1,712           23,112               2           8              108                 35        140           1,890           13        52             702              -           -                -                   11,275    45,100        608,850           
   3/4 17.30 651         2,604        45,049                 88        352              6,090                 8           32            554                 11        44             761              1          4               69                -           -                -                   759          3,036          52,523             
    1 24.80 153         612           15,178                 140     560              13,888               49         196          4,861              18        72             1,786           5          20             496              -           -                -                   365          1,460          36,208             
  1-1/4 34.00 -              -                -                           -           -                   -                         -            -               -                      -           -                -                   -           -                -                   -           -                -                   -               -                  -                       
  1-1/2 43.80 1             4               175                      73        292              12,790               65         260          11,388            9          36             1,577           10        40             1,752           -           -                -                   158          632             27,682             
    2 66.60 -              -                -                           60        240              15,984               46         184          12,254            3          12             799              20        80             5,328           -           -                -                   129          516             34,366             
    3 119.70 -              -                -                           13        52                6,224                 13         52            6,224              3          12             1,436           4          16             1,915           1          4               479              34            136             16,279             
    4 195.60 -              -                -                           3          12                2,347                 3           12            2,347              1          4               782              5          20             3,912           1          4               782              13            52               10,171             
    6 385.30 -              -                -                           -           -                   -                         1           4              1,541              -           -                -                   1          4               1,541           1          4               1,541           3              12               4,624               
Customer Charge 5.88 -              -                -                           -           -                   -                         -            -               -                      -           -                -                   -           -                -                   3          12             71                3              12               71                    

     Sub-total 11,602 46,408  643,440 805 3,220 80,435  187  748  39,278 80 320  9,032 59  236  15,716 6  24  2,873 12,739  50,956  790,773

Total Revenues Per Analysis 2,910,884$         723,763$          472,950$        191,404$    160,752$    176,629$    4,636,381$      

TotalResidential Commercial Industrial      Public Authority       Wholesale              Multi-Family

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

45

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



 

 COST OF SERVICE – ALLOCATION SCHEDULES

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 31
Allocation of Operation and Maintenance Expenses
Test Year 2025

Forecasted
2025   Allocation Percentages Allocated Costs

Acct Total Vol BOD SS Phos NH3 CC DEM Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen  Cust. Csts    Demand

Operation Expenses
820.0   Supervision and labor 224,900$          30 30 30 5 5 0 0 67,470$          67,470$            67,470$           11,245$            11,245$     -$                 -$                  
821.0   Power for pumping 411,400 34 32 10 6 18 0 0 139,876          131,648            41,140             24,684             74,052      -                   -                    
822.0   Treatment charges 373,900 10 30 50 5 5 0 0 37,390            112,170            186,950           18,695             18,695      -                   -                    
824.0   Phos. removal chemicals 341,500 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 -                      -                       -                      341,500            -                -                   -                    
826.0   Other chemicals/sewer treatment 81,700 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 81,700            -                       -                      -                       -                -                   -                    
827.0   Laboratory 52,800 34 21 15 7 8 15 0 17,952            11,088             7,920               3,696               4,224        7,920            -                    
827.1   Other operating supplies 136,500 34 21 15 7 8 15 0 46,410            28,665             20,475             9,555               10,920      20,475          -                    
828.0   Transportation 33,800             28 18 12 6 7 18 11 9,464              6,084               4,056               2,028               2,366        6,084            3,718             

1,656,500         400,262          357,125            328,011           411,403            121,502     34,479          3,718             
Maintenance Expenses

831.0   Maint of collection system 88,000 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 44,000            -                       -                      -                       -                44,000          -                    
832.0   Maint. of coll sys pump equip 7,300 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,300              -                       -                      -                       -                -                   -                    
833.0   Maint of treatment/disp plant equip 346,200 34 21 15 7 8 15 0 117,708          72,702             51,930             24,234             27,696      51,930          -                    
834.0   Maint. of general plant 148,500 28 18 12 6 7 18 11 41,580            26,730             17,820             8,910               10,395      26,730          16,335           

Total Maintenance Expenses 590,000 210,588          99,432             69,750             33,144             38,091      122,660        16,335           
Customer Accounts Expenses

840.0   Billing and collecting 83,900 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                83,900          -                    
842.0   Meter reading labor 21,600 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                21,600          -                    
842.2   Joint metering costs - Depreciation 77,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                -                   77,100           
842.3   Maintenance of meters 34,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                -                   34,800           
857.0   Rents - Joint metering costs 44,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                -                   44,400           
845.0   Uncollectible accounts (100) 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                (100)             -                    

Total Customer Accounts Expenses 261,700 -                      -                       -                      -                       -                105,400        156,300         
Administrative and General Expenses

850.0   Admin and general salaries 332,500 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 86,450            59,850             53,200             56,525             19,950      33,250          23,275           
851.0   Office supplies and expenses 41,300 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 10,738            7,434               6,608               7,021               2,478        4,130            2,891             
852.0   Outside services 101,800 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 26,468            18,324             16,288             17,306             6,108        10,180          7,126             
853.0   Insurance expense 68,900 26 19 17 4 5 23 6 18,147            12,932             11,608             2,886               3,107        15,890          4,331             
854.0   Employee pensions and benefits 263,200 26 19 17 4 5 23 6 69,322            49,400             44,341             11,024             11,867      60,702          16,544           
855.0   Regulatory expense 6,700 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 1,742              1,206               1,072               1,139               402           670               469                
856.0   Miscellaneous general expenses 13,200 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 3,432              2,376               2,112               2,244               792           1,320            924                
408.0   Taxes 86,400 26 19 17 4 5 23 6 22,756            16,216             14,556             3,619               3,896        19,926          5,431             

Total Admin and Gen Exp 914,000 239,054          167,738            149,785           101,764            48,599      146,068        60,991           

Total Oper. and Maint. Exp 3,422,200$       849,904$        624,295$          547,546$         546,311$          208,192$   408,607$      237,344$       

100.00% 24.84% 18.24% 16.00% 15.96% 6.08% 11.94% 6.94%

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

46

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY  Schedule 32
Depreciation Allocation  

Test Year 2025

   Allocated Costs
Forecasted

2025 V BOD SS Phos NH3 D Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen Demand

Collection System
  Collection mains 1,458,000$    50 0 0 0 0 50 729,000$      -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  729,000$      
  Interceptor mains 219,300 100 0 0 0 0 0 219,300        -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
  Force mains 14,700 50 0 0 0 0 50 7,350            -                    -                    -                    -                    7,350            
  Other collecting system equipmen 52,300 50 0 0 0 0 50 26,150          -                    -                    -                    -                    26,150          

    Total Collection System 1,744,300 981,800        -                    -                    -                    -                    762,500        

Collecting System Pumping
  Electric pumping equipmen 58,200 100 0 0 0 0 0 58,200          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
    Total Collecting System Pumping 58,200 58,200          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Treatment and Disposal Plant
  Land and land rights  0 40 24  19  7  9  1 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
  Structures and improvements 1,792,500 40 24  19  7  9  1 717,000        430,200        340,575        125,475        161,325        17,925          
  Preliminary treatment equipment 135,500 75 0 0 0 0 25 101,625        -                    -                    -                    -                    33,875          
  Primary treatment equipment 71,000 0 30 70 0 0 0 -                    21,300          49,700          -                    -                    -                    
  Secondary treatment equipment 326,700 0 75 20 0 0 5 -                    245,025        65,340          -                    -                    16,335          
  Advanced treatment equipment 1,059,500 2 39 7 9 39 4 21,190          413,205        74,165          95,355          413,205        42,380          
  Chlorination equipment 49,200 75 0 0 0 0 25 36,900          -                    -                    -                    -                    12,300          
  Disinfecting equipment 0 0 25 54 21 0 0 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
  Sludge treatment and disposa 787,100 0 25 54 21 0 0 -                    196,775        425,034        165,291        -                    -                    
  Plant site piping 530,000 96 1 1 0 1 1 508,800        5,300            5,300            -                    5,300            5,300            
  Flow metering and monitoring equipmen 37,000 36 24 21 8 11 0 13,320          8,880            7,770            2,960            4,070            -                    
  Other treatment equipment 46,700 38 23  21  8  10  0 17,746          10,741          9,807            3,736            4,670            -                    

    Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 4,835,200 1,416,581      1,331,426      977,691         392,817         588,570         128,115        

General Plant
  Office furniture and equipment 51,300 50 12  12  5  5  16 25,650          6,156            6,156            2,565            2,565            8,208            
  Computer equipment 320,800 50 12  12  5  5  16 160,400        38,496          38,496          16,040          16,040          51,328          
  Transportation equipment 183,200 50 12  12  5  5  16 91,600          21,984          21,984          9,160            9,160            29,312          
  Other general equipment 138,100 50 12  12  5  5  16 69,050          16,572          16,572          6,905            6,905            22,096          

    Total General Plant 693,400 346,700        83,208          83,208          34,670          34,670          110,944        

      Total Wastewater Plant in Service 7,331,100$    2,803,281$   1,414,634$   1,060,899$   427,487$      623,240$      1,001,559$   
 

Allocation Percentages 100.00% 38.24% 19.30% 14.47% 5.83% 8.50% 13.66%

 

      Allocation Percentages

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

47

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY  Schedule 33
Plant Allocation    

Test Year 2025

   Allocated Costs
Forecasted

2025 V BOD SS Phos NH3 D Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen Demand

Collection System
  Land 26,039$                0 0 0 0 0 100 -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      26,039$            
  Collection mains 24,657,204 50 0 0 0 0 50 12,328,602       -                        -                        -                        -                        12,328,602       
  Interceptor mains 3,373,873 100 0 0 0 0 0 3,373,873         -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
  Force mains 225,919 100 0 0 0 0 0 225,919            -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
  Other collecting system equipment 154,708 50 0 0 0 0 50 77,353              -                        -                        -                        -                        77,354              

    Total Collection System 28,437,743 16,005,747       -                        -                        -                        -                        12,431,995       

Collecting System Pumping

  Electric pumping equipment 388,144 100 0 0 0 0 0 388,144            -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

    Total Collecting System Pumping 388,144 388,144            

Treatment and Disposal Plant
  Land and land rights  9,491 23 30  18  9  18  2 2,183                2,847                1,708                854                   1,708                190                   
  Structures and improvements 12,892,832 23 30  18  9  18  2 2,965,351         3,867,850         2,320,710         1,160,355         2,320,710         257,857            
  Preliminary treatment equipment 605,707 75 0 0 0 0 25 454,279            -                        -                        -                        -                        151,427            
  Primary treatment equipment 356,725 0 30 70 0 0 0 -                        107,018            249,708            -                        -                        -                        
  Secondary treatment equipment 1,633,579 0 75 20 0 0 5 -                        1,225,184         326,716            -                        -                        81,679              
  Advanced treatment equipment 9,692,752 2 39 7 9 39 4 193,854            3,780,173         678,493            872,348            3,780,173         387,710            
  Chlorination equipment 147,572 75 0 0 0 0 25 110,679            -                        -                        -                        -                        36,893              
  Disinfecting equipment 626,444 0 25 54 21 0 0 -                        156,611            338,280            131,553            -                        -                        
  Sludge treatment and disposal 3,930,540 0 25 54 21 0 0 -                        982,636            2,122,491         825,413            -                        -                        
  Plant site piping 4,239,775 96 1 1 0 1 1 4,070,185         42,398              42,398              -                        42,398              42,398              
  Flow metering and monitoring equipment 185,418 36 24 21 8 11 0 66,751              44,500              38,938              14,833              20,396              -                        
  Other treatment equipment 150,577 38 23  21  8  10  0 57,219              34,633              31,621              12,046              15,058              -                        

    Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 34,471,412 7,920,501          10,243,850        6,151,063          3,017,402          6,180,443          958,154            
General Plant
  Office furniture and equipment 145,873 38 16  10  5  10  21 56,034 23,608 14,176 6,954 14,243 30,859
  Computer equipment 160,577 38 16  10  5  10  21 61,682 25,987 15,604 7,655 15,679 33,969
  Transportation equipment 610,281 38 16  10  5  10  21 234,427 98,766 59,305 29,092 59,589 129,101
  Other general equipment 589,289 38 16  10  5  10  21 226,364 95,369 57,266 28,092 57,539 124,660

    Total General Plant 1,506,020 578,507 243,730 146,351 71,793 147,050 318,589

      Total Wastewater Plant in Service 64,803,319$         24,892,899$     10,487,580$     6,297,414$       3,089,195$       6,327,493$       13,708,738$     
 

Allocation Percentages 100.00% 38.41% 16.18% 9.72% 4.77% 9.76% 21.15%

 

 

 

      Allocation Percentages

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

48

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



 

 SEPTAGE AND OTHER WASTEWATER CHARGES 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 34
Septage and Other Wastewater Charges
Operation and Maintenance Allocation Without Collection System
Test Year 2025

Forecasted
2025 Allocation Percentages Allocated Costs

Acct Total Vol BOD SS Phos NH3 CC DEM Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen  Cust. Csts    Demand

Operation Expenses
820.0   Supervision and labor 224,900$                30 30 30 5 5 0 0 $ 67,470           $ 67,470         $ 67,470          $ 11,245           $ 11,245           $ -                 $ -                   
821.0   Power for pumping 411,400 34 32 10 6 18 0 0 139,876         131,648       41,140          24,684           74,052           -                 -                   
822.0   Sludge hauling 373,900 10 30 50 5 5 0 0 37,390           112,170       186,950        18,695           18,695           -                 -                   
824.0   Phos. removal chemicals 341,500 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 -                     -                   -                    341,500         -                    -                 -                   
826.0   Other chemicals/sewer treatment 81,700 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 81,700           -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 -                   
827.0   Laboratory 52,800 34 21 15 7 8 15 0 17,952           11,088         7,920            3,696             4,224             7,920         -                   
827.1   Other operating supplies 136,500 34 21 15 7 8 15 0 46,410           28,665         20,475          9,555             10,920           20,475       -                   
828.0   Transportation expense 33,800 28 18 12 6 7 18 11 9,464             6,084           4,056            2,028             2,366             6,084         3,718           

1,656,500               400,262         357,125       328,011        411,403         121,502         34,479       3,718           
Maintenance Expenses

831.0   Maint of collection system 88,000 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 44,000           -                   -                    -                    -                    44,000       -                   
832.0   Maint. of coll sys pump equip 7,300 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,300             -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 -                   
833.0   Maint of treatment/disp plant equip 346,200 34 21 15 7 8 15 0 117,708         72,702         51,930          24,234           27,696           51,930       -                   
834.0   Maint. of general plant 148,500 28 18 12 6 7 18 11 41,580           26,730         17,820          8,910             10,395           26,730       16,335         

Total Maintenance Expenses 590,000 210,588         99,432         69,750          33,144           38,091           122,660     16,335         
Customer Accounts Expenses

840.0   Billing and collecting 83,900 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    83,900       -                   
842.0   Meter reading labor 21,600 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    21,600       -                   
842.2   Joint metering costs - Depreciation 77,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 77,100         
842.3   Maintenance of meters 34,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 34,800         
857.0   Rents 44,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    -                 44,400         
845.0   Uncollectible accounts (100) 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    (100)           -                   

Total Customer Accounts Expenses 261,700 -                     -                   -                    -                    -                    105,400     156,300       
Administrative and General Expenses

850.0   Admin and general exp 332,500 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 86,450           59,850         53,200          56,525           19,950           33,250       23,275         
851.0   Office supplies and expenses 41,300 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 10,738           7,434           6,608            7,021             2,478             4,130         2,891           
852.0   Outside services 101,800 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 26,468           18,324         16,288          17,306           6,108             10,180       7,126           
853.0   Insurance expense 68,900 26 19 17 4 5 23 6 18,147           12,932         11,608          2,886             3,107             15,890       4,331           
854.0   Employee pensions and benefits 263,200 26 19 17 4 5 23 6 69,322           49,400         44,341          11,024           11,867           60,702       16,544         
855.0   Regulatory expense 6,700 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 1,742             1,206           1,072            1,139             402                670            469              
856.0   Miscellaneous general expenses 13,200 26 18 16 17 6 10 7 3,432             2,376           2,112            2,244             792                1,320         924              
408.0   Taxes 914,000 26 19 17 4 5 23 6 240,729         171,549       153,982        38,283           41,211           210,795     57,452         

Total Admin and Gen Exp 1,828,000 457,028         323,071       289,210        136,428         85,914           336,937     199,412       

Total Oper. and Maint. Exp 4,336,200 $ 1,067,878      $ 779,628       $ 686,971        $ 580,975         $ 245,507         $ 599,476     $ 375,765       

Less: Collection System (A) (472,311)                 (246,863)        -                   -                    -                    -                    (138,582)    (86,866)        

Net w/o collection system 3,863,889$             $ 821,015         $ 779,628       $ 686,971        $ 580,975         $ 245,507         $ 460,894     $ 288,899       

Percentage attributed to treatment system 89.11% 76.88% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 76.88% 76.88%

Proposed Rate $ 3.59               $ 0.50             $ 0.31              $ 3.35               $ 3.95               
Percent OM&R to Total Cost 52.41% 59.49% 63.69% 80.68% 52.31%

Subtotal 1.88               0.30             0.20              2.70               2.07               
Percent attributed to treatment system (from above) 76.88% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Total OM&R charge for treatment system only 1.45               0.30             0.20              2.70               2.07               

Total Capital Cost charge for treatment system only (from Schedule 35) 0.68               0.20             0.11              0.65               1.88               

Total Septage and Other Wastewater Charges $ 2.13               $ 0.50             $ 0.31              $ 3.35               $ 3.95               

Treatment related allocation factor 21.25% 20.18% 17.78% 15.04% 6.35% 11.93% 7.48%

(A) Collection System includes account numbers 831.0, 832.0, 842.0, 842.2, 842.3 plus an allocation of administrative and general.

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

49

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY  Schedule 35
Septage and Other Wastewater Charges
Plant Allocation Without Collection System  
Test Year 2025

   Allocated Costs
Forecasted

2025 V BOD SS Phos NH3 D Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen Demand

Collection System
  Land $ 26,039 0 0 0 0 0 100 $ -                       $ -                     $ -                    $ -                   $ -                     $ 26,039          
  Collection mains 24,657,204 33 0 0 0 0 67 8,136,877         -                     -                    -                   -                     16,520,327    
  Interceptor mains 3,373,873 100 0 0 0 0 0 3,373,873         -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    
  Force mains 225,919 100 0 0 0 0 0 225,919            -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    
  Other collecting system equipment 154,708 50 0 0 0 0 50 77,353              -                     -                    -                   -                     77,354          

    Total Collection System 28,437,743 11,814,022       -                     -                    -                   -                     16,623,720    

Collecting System Pumping

  Electric pumping equipment 388,144 100 0 0 0 0 0 388,144            -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    

    Total Collecting System Pumping 388,144 388,144            

Treatment and Disposal Plant
  Land and land rights  9,491 22 30  18  9  18  3 2,088                2,847             1,708            854               1,708              285               
  Structures and improvements 12,892,832 22 30  18  9  18  3 2,836,423         3,867,850       2,320,710      1,160,355     2,320,710       386,785        
  Preliminary treatment equipment 605,707 69 0 0 0 0 31 417,939            -                     -                    -                   -                     187,768        
  Primary treatment equipment 356,725 0 30 70 0 0 0 -                       107,018         249,707         -                   -                     -                    
  Secondary treatment equipment 1,633,579 0 76 20 0 0 5 -                       1,233,485       324,857         -                   -                     75,237          
  Advanced treatment equipment 9,692,752 1 39 7 9 39 5 52,126              3,815,402       693,521         827,901        3,784,884       518,921        
  Chlorination equipment 147,572 69 0 0 0 0 31 101,825            -                     -                    -                   -                     45,747          
  Disinfecting equipment 626,444 0 25 54 21 0 0 -                       154,316         337,660         134,468        -                     -                    
  Sludge treatment and disposal 3,930,540 0 25 54 21 0 0 -                       968,236         2,118,602      843,702        -                     -                    
  Plant site piping 4,239,775 94 1 1 0 1 2 4,003,473         57,781           54,784           -                   22,541            101,196        
  Flow metering and monitoring equipment 185,418 36 24 21 8 11 0 66,749              44,503           38,938           14,831          20,397            -                    
  Other treatment equipment 150,577 37 23  21  8  10  0 55,968              34,896           32,346           11,943          15,424            -                    

    Total Treatment and Disposal Plant 34,471,412 7,536,591  10,286,334  6,172,833  2,994,054  6,165,664  1,315,939

General Plant
  Office furniture and equipment 145,873 31 16  10  5  10  29 45,221 23,340 14,587 7,294 14,587 42,303
  Computer equipment 160,577 31 16  10  5  10  29 49,779 25,692 16,058 8,029 16,058 46,567
  Transportation equipment 610,281 31 16  10  5  10  29 189,186 97,645 61,028 30,514 61,028 176,981
  Other general equipment 589,289 31 16  10  5  10  29 182,679 94,286 58,929 29,464 58,929 170,894

    Total General Plant 1,506,020 466,865 240,963 150,602 75,301 150,602 436,745

      Total Wastewater Plant in Service $ 64,803,319 $ 20,205,622 $ 10,527,297 $ 6,323,435 $ 3,069,355 $ 6,316,266 $ 18,376,404
 

Less: Collection System (28,825,887) (12,202,166)      -                     -                    -                   -                     (16,623,720)  

Net Plant Allocation without collection system $ 35,977,432      $ 8,003,456         $ 10,527,297     $ 6,323,435      $ 3,069,355     $ 6,316,266       $ 1,752,684     

     Percentage attributed to treatment system 55.52% 39.61% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 9.54%

     Proposed Rate  $ 3.59                  $ 0.50               $ 0.31              $ 3.35              $ 3.95               
     Percent Capital Costs to Total Costs  47.59% 40.51% 36.31% 19.32% 47.69%

   Subtotal 1.71                  0.20               0.11              0.65              1.88               
     Percent attributed to treatment system only (from above) 39.61% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Total Capital Costs charge for treatment system only $ 0.68                  $ 0.20               $ 0.11              $ 0.65              $ 1.88               

      Allocation Percentages

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

50

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 36
Septage and Other Wastewater Charges
Summary of Cost of Service Study
Test Year 2025

Allocation Forecasted  
Basis 2025 Volume BOD SS Phosphorus Nitrogen Cust. Cost Demand

O M & R

  Operation, maint & taxes expense Detailed schedule 3,422,200$      849,905$        624,295$        547,546$         546,311$         208,192$         408,607$         237,344$         

  Replacement depreciation Detailed schedule 304,000 116,250          58,672            43,989             17,723             25,840             -                      41,526             

  Less other revenues Above allocation (919,715) (197,432)         (184,780)         (162,701)          (138,332)          (58,406)            (109,293)          (68,770)            

     Subtotal 2,806,485        768,723          498,187          428,834           425,702           175,626           299,314           210,100           

     Percentage of OM&R to total COS 52.41% 59.49% 63.69% 80.68% 52.31%

Capital Costs

  Rate of return Plant allocation 407,900 156,688          66,013            39,639             19,445             39,828             -                      86,289             

  Other depreciation Detailed schedule 1,415,500 541,287          273,192          204,823           82,524             120,318           -                      193,357           

     Subtotal 1,823,400 697,975          339,205          244,462           101,969           160,146           -                      279,646           

     Percentage of Capital Costs to total COS 47.59% 40.51% 36.31% 19.32% 47.69%

     Total allocated costs
        required from rates 4,629,885$      1,466,698$     837,392$        673,296$         527,671$         335,772$         299,314$         489,746$         

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

51

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 37
Calculation of Hauler Rate
Test Year 2024

Calculated High Strength Rates 

Conversion  CCF to Gallons Volume 2.13             / 7.48 = 2.84$           /1,000 Gallons
BOD 0.500 /lb
Suspended Solids 0.310 /lb
Phosphorus 3.350 /lb
Nitrogen 3.950 /lb

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
52

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 37A
Consumer Analysis - Outside Haulers, Holding Tank 
Forecast 2024 and 2025

 
  
VOLUME CHARGE Volume Revenue

Rate per 1,000 gal $1.74 14,635          25,466$           
Lb's of BOD 0.35                     39,135          13,697             
Lb's of SS 0.22                     66,349          14,597             
Lb's of Nitrogen 2.10                     112,939        237,173           
Lb's of Phosphorus 2.57                     1,889            4,856               

234,949  295,788

FIXED CHARGE Days

Administrative (2022) 17.38 587               10,202             
Administrative (2023) 50.00 230               11,500             

     Sub-total  817                21,702             

Total Calculated Revenues 317,490$         

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
53

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY Schedule 38
Calculation of Sewer Deduct Meter Charge
2024 and 2025 Rates

2024 Rates
Cust. costs Demand costs

Billing costs  (per sch 34)* 105,400              156,300                
Total costs (per sch 34) 599,476              375,765                

18% 42%

Calculated fixed costs ( per sch 2) 5.75                    6.94                      
Allocated costs per above ratio 1.01                    2.89                      

Meter size Demand ratio Cust. charge Demand charge Qtrly meter charge
5/8" 1.0                       1.01$                  2.89$                    3.90$                           
3/4" 1.5                       1.01                    4.33                      5.34                             

1" 2.5                       1.01                    7.22                      8.23                             
1-1/4" 3.7                       1.01                    10.69                    11.70                           
1-1/2" 5.0                       1.01                    14.44                    15.45                           

2" 8.0                       1.01                    23.10                    24.11                           
3" 15.0                     1.01                    43.32                    44.33                           
4" 25.0                     1.01                    72.20                    73.21                           
6" 50.0                     1.01                    144.39                  145.40                         

2025 Rates

Cust. costs Demand costs
Billing costs  (per sch 31) 105,400              156,300                
Total costs (per sch 31) 408,607              237,344                

26% 66%

Calculated fixed costs ( per sch 2) 5.88                    7.59                      
Allocated costs per above ratio 1.52                    5.00                      

Meter size Demand ratio Cust. charge Demand charge Qtrly meter charge
5/8" 1.0                       1.52$                  2.89$                    4.40$                           
3/4" 1.5                       1.52                    4.33                      5.85                             

1" 2.5                       1.52                    7.22                      8.74                             
1-1/4" 3.7                       1.52                    10.69                    12.20                           
1-1/2" 5.0                       1.52                    14.44                    15.95                           

2" 8.0                       1.52                    23.10                    24.62                           
3" 15.0                     1.52                    43.32                    44.83                           
4" 25.0                     1.52                    72.20                    73.71                           
6" 50.0                     1.52                    144.39                  145.91                         

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.
54

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

 ATTACHMENT 

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



Attachment 1

WEST BEND SEWER UTILITY
Debt Schedules

Debt Service obligations to maturity are as follows:

Year Ending 2012B GO Debt
December 31, Principal Interest Total

2023 30,000$              2,213$  32,213$             
2024 30,000 1,613 31,613 
2025 30,000 994 30,994 
2026 30,000 338 30,338 

Totals 120,000$            5,156$  125,156$           

Please refer to Accountants' Report, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Significant Assumptions.

55

DRAFT 04/24/2024 6.b

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

B
en

d
 S

ew
er

 U
ti

lit
y 

F
o

re
ca

st
ed

 R
at

e 
S

tu
d

y 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

IN
A

L
 D

R
A

F
T

 0
42

42
02

4 
 (

S
ew

er
 U

ti
lit

y 
R

at
e 

R
ev

ie
w

)



 

 

 

Engineering 

 

 

 
DATE: May 1, 2024 

TO: Board of Public Works 

FROM: Max Marechal, City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Relocation Order (Revised Plat) - Safety Improvement at 3 signalized 

intersections along STH "33" 

 

Could you place an item on the agenda for the May 06, 2024, meetings of the Board of Public 

Works and Common Council to consider a recommendation to adopt a Relocation Order for a 

project to install upgrades for safety improvement at three existing signalized intersections? 

 

This project is for installation of upgrades to improve safety at the following three intersections: 

 

1. Washington Street and 7th Avenue/Main Street 

2. Washington Street and 18th Avenue 

3. Washington Street and River Road 

 

The City approved a relocation order on February 19, 2024 for this project.  However, after 

further review of the plat, WisDOT is asking small revisions to correct utility names on the map 

(WEPCO to WE Energies; Wisconsin Bell to AT&T) and to remove some lines from the map 

(City-owned storm sewer, privately-owned lines not marked in the field). 

 

In order to move forward with the project, the City needs to adopt a new relocation order with 

the revised plat. 

 

The detailed description of acquisitions needed for the project in your packet includes road right 

of way, easements, and conveyance of rights. 

 

We recommend the Board and Council adopt this Relocation Order, so the real estate acquisition 

stage can proceed. 

 

If you have any questions or comments, please call me at (262) 335-5130. 

7

Packet Pg. 143



RESOLUTION NO. 5 

2024-2025 COMMON COUNCIL 

 

Relocation Order (Revised Plat) - Safety Improvement at 3 signalized intersections along STH 

"33" 

 

 

(Washington Street and 7th Avenue/Main Street - Washington Street and 18th Avenue - 

Washington Street and River Road) 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

 The Common Council of the City of West Bend, Washington County, Wisconsin do 

RESOLVE as follows: 
 

1. This Resolution is a Relocation Order in accordance with sec. 32.05(1), Stats. for 

the purpose of the public improvement project described within and it is also a 

determination of necessity for the project in accordance with sec. 32.07(2), Stats. 
 

2. The City of West Bend has determined that it is necessary and a public purpose to 

improve the signalized intersections listed below, as illustrated on the proposed 

relocation plat attached as Exhibit 1, which is hereby incorporated and made a 

part hereof. 
 

1. Washington Street and 7th Avenue/Main Street 

2. Washington Street and 18th Avenue 

3. Washington Street and River Road 
 

3. The City of West Bend will acquire five (5) fee simple interest for road right of 

way from five (5) properties with their tax key numbers listed below, as shown on 

the attached Exhibit 1.  Said lands to be acquired are further called by legal 

description in the attached Exhibit 2 which is hereby incorporated and made a part 

hereof.  

1119-113-0065 1119-142-0125 1119-151-0063 

1119-114-0034 1119-131-0003  
 

4. The City of West Bend will acquire Temporary Limited Easements from twelve 

(12) properties with their tax key numbers listed below, as shown in the attached 

Exhibit 1.  Easement areas are further called by legal description in the attached 

Exhibit 2. 

1119-104-0044 1119-113-0065 1119-142-0125 

1119-151-0063 1119-114-0034 1119-141-0205 

1119-141-0201 1119-124-0021 1120-073-0061 

1120-182-0010 1119-131-0001 1119-131-0003 
 

5. The City of West Bend will execute Conveyance of Rights over properties as 

shown on the attached Exhibit 1. 
 

6. Pursuant to sec. 62.22(4)(d), Stats., it is declared necessary to condemn the 

property and the City Attorney is directed to prosecute condemnation proceedings 

7

Packet Pg. 144



therefore. 

 

Passed and Approved the 6th day of May, 2024 

 

 

Introduced by Ald.   ________________________________ 

 

______________________________ 

Joel Ongert, Mayor 

________________________________ 

Attest: Jilline Dobratz, City Clerk 

7

Packet Pg. 145



M
AI

N
 S

T7T
H

 A
VE

SI
LV

ER
BR

O
O

K 
DR

S 
18

TH
 A

VE

E DECORAH RD

CHESTNUT ST

COUNTY

45

CITY OF WEST BEND

TOWN OF WEST BEND

33

7T
H

 A
VE

S 
RI

VE
R 

RD

M
AI

N
 S

T

G

Milwaukee

45

BEGIN RELOCATON ORDER 1410-11-22

STA. 104+00

Y = 185570.749

X = 356946.588

STA. 114+00

END RELOCATION ORDER 1410-11-22

T-11-N

R-19-E

R-19-E

T-11-N

PROJECT LOCATIONS

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

25 MPH
 

BEGIN RELOCATION ORDER 1410-11-21

STA. 150+00

Y = 185466.575

X = 361545.044 

STA. 156+00

END RELOCATION ORDER 1410-11-21

BEGIN RELOCATION ORDER 1410-11-23

STA. 212+00

Y = 185432.503

X = 367744.418

STA. 222+00

END RELOCATION ORDER 1410-11-23

R/W PROJECT NUMBER

PLOT NAME :  S:\5168916\DWG\1410-11-21\PLAT\TITLE SHEET.DWGFILE NAME : 4/9/2024 7:09 AMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : RATZBURG, MICHAEL

City of West Bend

DATE:
(Signature)

APPROVED FOR THE CITY OF WEST BEND

FEDERAL PROJECT NUMBER

SHEET

NUMBER

TOTAL

SHEETS

PLAT OF RIGHT OF WAY REQUIRED FOR

WASHINGTON

1 6

REVISION DATE
LAYOUT

SCALE
0

TOTAL NET LENGTH OF CENTERLINE = 

0.5MI

CONSTRUCTION PROJECT NUMBER

ACCESS RESTRICTED BY ACQUISITION

NO ACCESS (BY STATUTORY AUTHORITY)

ACCESS RESTRICTED (BY PREVIOUS
 PROJECT OR CONTROL)

BRIDGE

PARCEL NUMBER UTILITY NUMBER25 40

SIXTEENTH CORNER MONUMENT

18

9

23 24
26 25

#1-25

N

W

TEMPORARY LIMITED
   EASEMENT AREA

LOT, TIE & OTHER
   MINOR LINES

GEODETIC SURVEY MONUMENT

SECTION
CORNER
SYMBOL

TO BE REMOVED

SECTION
CORNER
MONUMENT

(TO BE SET)

(1-INCH UNLESS NOTED)

SLOPE INTERCEPT

CONVENTIONAL SYMBOLS

W

SECTION LINE

QUARTER LINE

SIXTEENTH LINE
NEW REFERENCE LINE

NEW R/W LINE

CORPORATE LIMITS

UNDERGROUND FACILITY

NEW R/W (FEE OR HE)
(HATCHING VARIES BY OWNER)

(COMMUNICATIONS, ELECTRIC, ETC)

EXISTING R/W OR HE LINE

PROPERTY LINE

R/W MONUMENTT

R NON-MONUMENTED
 R/W POINT

FOUND IRON PIN IP

(TYPE)

P.L.

SIGN
OFF-PREMISE
SIGN

SIGN
SIGN

EASEMENT AREA
 (PERMANENT LIMITED OR
 RESTRICTED DEVELOPMENT)

BUILDING

TRANSMISSION STRUCTURES

ELECTRIC POLE
TELEPHONE POLE
PEDESTAL (LABEL TYPE)
 (TV, TEL, ELEC, ETC.)

COMPENSABLE     NON-COMPENSABLE

PARALLEL OFFSETS

NO ACCESS (NEW HIGHWAY)

CULVERT

W

G

T

OH

E

TV

FO

SAN

SS

CONVENTIONAL UTILITY SYMBOLS
WATER
GAS
TELEPHONE
OVERHEAD TRANSMISSION LINES
ELECTRIC
CABLE TELEVISION
FIBER OPTIC
SANITARY SEWER
STORM SEWER
ELECTRIC TOWER

ACCESS RIGHTS AR
ACRES AC
AHEAD AH
ALUMINUM ALUM
AND OTHERS ET AL
BACK BK
BLOCK BLK
CENTERLINE C/L
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP CSM
CONCRETE CONC
COUNTY CO
COUNTY TRUNK HIGHWAY CTH
DISTANCE DIST
CORNER COR
DOCUMENT NUMBER DOC
EASEMENT EASE
EXISTING EX
GAS VALVE GV
GRID NORTH GN
HIGHWAY EASEMENT HE
IDENTIFICATION ID
LAND CONTRACT LC
LEFT LT
MONUMENT MON
NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY NGS
NUMBER NO
OUTLOT OL
PAGE P
POINT OF TANGENCY PT
PERMANENT LIMITED PLE
     EASEMENT
POINT OF BEGINNING POB
POINT OF CURVATURE PC

POINT OF COMPOUND CURVE PCC
POINT OF INTERSECTION PI
PROPERTY LINE PL
RECORDED AS (100')
REEL / IMAGE R/I
REFERENCE LINE R/L
REMAINING REM
RESTRICTIVE DEVELOPMENT RDE
     EASEMENT
RIGHT RT
RIGHT OF WAY R/W
SECTION SEC
SEPTIC VENT SEPV
SQUARE FEET SF
STATE TRUNK HIGHWAY STH
STATION STA
TELEPHONE PEDESTAL TP
TEMPORARY LIMITED TLE
     EASEMENT
TRANSPORTATION PROJECT PLAT TPP
UNITED STATES HIGHWAY USH
VOLUME V

CONVENTIONAL ABBREVIATIONS

CURVE DATA ABBREVIATIONS

/DELTA

LONG CHORD LCH
LONG CHORD BEARING LCB
RADIUS R
DEGREE OF CURVE D
CENTRAL ANGLE
LENGTH OF CURVE L
TANGENT T
DIRECTION AHEAD DA
DIRECTION BACK DB

3.50' S & 594.9' W
OF THE
NE COR OF SEC.
15, T11N, R19E

Y = 185555.585

X = 357946.344

18.67' S & 404.87' E
OF THE
NW COR OF SEC.
14, T11N, R19E

38.69' S & 1363.41' E
OF THE
NE COR OF SEC.
14, T11N, R19E

Y = 185450.696

X = 362144.825 

54.57' S & 1963.19' E
OF THE
NE COR OF SEC.
14 , T11N, R19E

Y = 185434.139

X = 368744.377 

7.05' S & 650.60' E
OF THE
NW COR OF SEC.
18 , T11N, R20E

8.69' S & 349.36' W
OF THE
NE COR OF SEC.
13 , T11N, R19E NOTES:

POSITIONS SHOWN ON THIS PLAT ARE WISCONSIN COORDINATE REFERENCE SYSTEM

COORDINATES (WISCRS), WASHINGTON COUNTY, NAD83 (2011) IN US SURVEY FEET. VALUES

SHOWN ARE GRID COORDINATES, GRID BEARINGS, AND GRID DISTANCES. GRID DISTANCES

CAN BE USED AS GROUND DISTANCES.

ALL NEW RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENTS WILL BE TYPE 2 (TYPICALLY 

3

4

" X 24" IRON REBARS),

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, AND WILL BE PLACED PRIOR TO THE COMPLETION OF THE

PROJECT, UNDER THE DIRECTION OF WISDOT SE REGION.

RIGHT-OF-WAY BOUNDARIES ARE DEFINED WITH COURSES OF THE PERIMETER OF THE

HIGHWAY LANDS REFERENCED TO THE U.S. PUBLIC LAND SURVEY SYSTEM OR OTHER

"SURVEYS" OF PUBLIC RECORD.

FOR THE CURRENT ACCESS/DRIVEWAY INFORMATION, CONTACT THE PLANNING UNIT OF THE

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION OFFICE IN WAUKESHA.

DIMENSIONING FOR THE NEW RIGHT-OF-WAY IS MEASURED ALONG AND PERPENDICULAR TO

NEW REFERENCE LINES.

A TEMPORARY LIMITED EASEMENT (TLE) IS A RIGHT FOR CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES, AS

DEFINED HEREIN, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO OPERATE NECESSARY EQUIPMENT THEREON,

THE RIGHT OF INGRESS AND EGRESS, AS LONG AS REQUIRED FOR SUCH PUBLIC PURPOSE,

INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO PRESERVE, PROTECT, REMOVE, OR PLANT THEREON ANY

VEGETATION THAT THE HIGHWAY AUTHORITIES MAY DEEM DESIRABLE. ALL (TLEs) ON THIS

PLAT EXPIRE AT THE COMPLETION OF THE CONSTRUCTION PROJECT FOR WHICH THIS

INSTRUMENT IS GIVEN.

PROPERTY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAT FOR PROPERTIES BEING IMPACTED ARE DRAWN

FROM DATA DERIVED FROM FILED/RECORDED MAPS AND DOCUMENTS OF PUBLIC RECORD.

THIS PLAT MAY NOT BE A TRUE REPRESENTATION OF EXISTING PROPERTY LINES,

EXCLUDING RIGHT-OF-WAY, AND SHOULD NOT BE USED AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR AN

ACCURATE FIELD SURVEY.

INFORMATION FOR THE BASIS OF EXISTING HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY POINTS OF REFERENCE

AND ACCESS CONTROL ARE LISTED ON DETAIL SHEETS.

R-20-E

R-20-E

1410-11-71, 1410-11-72 , 1410-11-73

STH 33

S.18TH AVE. TO N. RIVER RD.

STH 33

1410-11-21, 1410-11-22 , 1410-11-23

1410-11-71, 1410-11-72 , 1410-11-73

0.000 MI

EXHIBIT  1    -    PAGE  1  OF  6 
Relocation Order REV 01 with REVISED PLAT (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23)  Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.a

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

1 
(P

la
t)

  (
R

el
o

ca
ti

o
n

 O
rd

er
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 P
la

t)
-S

af
et

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

at
 3

 in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n
s 

al
o

n
g

 S
T

H
 "

33
")



WISDOT/CADDS SHEET 75

GRID FACTOR E
HWY:

COUNTY: CONSTRUCTION PROJECT NUMBER

STATE R/W PROJECT NUMBERDATEREVISION DATE

0

SCALE, FEET

PS&E
PLOT NAME :  7TH AVENUE.DWGFILE NAME : 4/12/2024 8:00 AMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : RATZBURG, MICHAEL

44

PLAT SHEET    4.

SHEET   
PLOT SCALE :

STH 33 - WASHINGTON ST.

WASHINGTON 1410-11-73

1410-11-21, 1410-11-22 1410-11-23_____________

____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

______
_____

LAYOUT NAME - 4.02

02
1410-11-71, 1410-11-72

02/02/2404/08/24

EXHIBIT  1    -    PAGE  2  OF  6 
Relocation Order REV 01 with REVISED PLAT (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23)  Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.a

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

1 
(P

la
t)

  (
R

el
o

ca
ti

o
n

 O
rd

er
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 P
la

t)
-S

af
et

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

at
 3

 in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n
s 

al
o

n
g

 S
T

H
 "

33
")



PLOT SCALE :
WISDOT/CADDS SHEET 75

GRID FACTOR E
HWY:

COUNTY: CONSTRUCTION PROJECT NUMBER

STATE R/W PROJECT NUMBERDATEREVISION DATE

0

SCALE, FEET

PS&E
PLOT NAME :  LOCATION MAP.DWGFILE NAME : 2/8/2024 11:14 AMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : RATZBURG, MICHAEL

44

PLAT SHEET    4.

SHEET   

GN

STH 33 - WASHINGTON ST.

WASHINGTON 1410-11-73

1410-11-21, 1410-11-22 1410-11-2302/02/24

____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

1000500
_____

LAYOUT NAME - 4.03 LOCATION MAP

03

N
. 7

TH
 A

VE

E. WASHINGTON STW. WASHINGTON ST

W. WASHINGTON ST

N
. 1

8T
H

 A
VE

N
. R

IV
ER

 R
D

S.
 R

IV
ER

 R
D

1 2

3

4

6

7

8
9

11
1213

SW-SW

NW-NW

NE-NE

SE-SE

SE-SE

NE-NE

NW-NW

SW-SWSE-SE

NE-NE

CITY OF WEST BEND

BEGIN PROJECT 1410-11-72

STA 104+00

Y: 185570.749

X: 356946.588

END PROJECT 1410-11-72

STA 114+00

Y: 185555.585

X: 357946.344

END PROJECT 1410-11-71

STA 156+00

Y: 185450.696

X: 362144.825

BEGIN PROJECT 1410-11-71

STA 150+00

Y: 185466.575

X: 361545.044

BEGIN PROJECT 1410-11-73

STA 212+00

Y: 185432.503

X: 367744.418

END PROJECT 1410-11-73

STA 222+00

Y: 185434.139

X: 368744.377

1410-11-71, 1410-11-72

5

0.99999733

EXHIBIT  1    -    PAGE  3  OF  6 
Relocation Order REV 01 with REVISED PLAT (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23)  Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.a

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

1 
(P

la
t)

  (
R

el
o

ca
ti

o
n

 O
rd

er
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 P
la

t)
-S

af
et

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

at
 3

 in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n
s 

al
o

n
g

 S
T

H
 "

33
")



65
.4

1'

EASEMENT TO
WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC
DOC.471143
V.837 P.410

EXISTING WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC EASEMENT
DOC.435173 V.749 P.13

NO VEHICULAR ACCESS AS SHOWN ON CSM 2270

NO DIRECT VEHICULAR ACCESS
 AS SHOWN ON CSM 7175

WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC
EASEMENT
DOC. 484571
VOL. 872
PG. 117

WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC
EASEMENT DOC.
472686 VOL. 841
PG. 418 50' 50'

40
'

50
'

50'

W WASHINGTON STREET(STH33)

W WASHINGTON STREET(STH33)

N
 1

8T
H

 A
VE

N
U

E
N

 1
8T

H
 A

VE
N

U
E

SEC LN=S88°53'39"E

SE
C 

LN
=S

00
°2

0'
12

"E

SEC LN=S88°30'12"E

SE
C 

LN
=S

00
°0

1'
30

"E
26

38
.3

4'
26

45
.3

6'

LOT 2
CSM 3176
DOC. 523083
V.11 P.230

LOT 1
CSM 6320
DOC.1231784 V.47
P.276

LOT 1
CSM 2270
VOL 12, PG 36
DOC. 428167

59
'

60
'

P.L.

R/L=S88°26'43"E

P.
L.

2646.88'
2641.06'

100

100

R/L INTERSECT SEC LN
STA:109+95.02

X:357541.48
Y:185558.60

R/L=S88°49'30"E

*WIDTH VARIES*

25.00' EASE. TO ROW

50'

STA:109+99.94(STH33)
15+77.19(18TH)
X:357546.40
Y:185558.51

12.00'

3.00'

50.00'
S89°58'30"W

R/L=S88°54'17"E 94.32' 101

103

100

S0
1°

29
'4

8"
W

50
.0

0'

92.80'

S89°39'48"W
50.00'

94
.1

5' 50.00'
N89°39'48"E

P.
L.

P.L.

P.
L.

P.
L.

P.
L. P.L.

P.
L.

P.L.

EASEMENT TO
WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC
DOC.607167
V.1215 P.284

EASEMENT TO WE
ENERGIES ELECTRIC
DOC.472693 V.841
P.438

EASEMENT TO WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC DOC.472711 V.841
P.487

EASEMENT TO WE
ENERGIES ELECTRIC  DOC.
472695 V.841 P.442

STA:15+92.80
X:357546.38
Y:185574.12

R/L=S88°27'43"ER/L=N88°47'43"E

10
.0

' E
AS

E.
 T

O
 R

O
W

101 100

GGG

GG

G

G

E

G G G G

E

E
EE

A B

C

D

P.
L.

P.
L.

P.L.

P.L.
SLOPE INTERCEPT

P.L.

P.
L.

P.L.

PI:109+57.38 PI:110+23.94 PI:111+92.55
PI:113+53.17

103

AT&T
EASEMENT
DOC. 284319

WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC
DOC. 384766

WISDOT/CADDS SHEET 75

GRID FACTOR E
HWY:

COUNTY: CONSTRUCTION PROJECT NUMBER

STATE R/W PROJECT NUMBERDATEREVISION DATE

0

SCALE, FEET

PS&E
PLOT NAME :  18TH AND RIVER.DWGFILE NAME : 4/11/2024 12:25 PMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : YANG, FLASCHE

44

PLAT SHEET    4.04

SHEET   

GN

PLOT SCALE :

18TH AVE. & WASHINGTON ST.

WASHINGTON COUNTY 1410-11-72

1410-11-2202/02/24

____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

5025
_____

LAYOUT NAME - 4.04

Δ

Δ

Δ

Δ

NW-NW

SW-SW

SE-SE

NE-NE

LOT 1
CSM 7175
DOC NO. 1548589
V.55  P.171

DETAIL A
NOT TO SCALE

G

G

DETAIL B
NOT TO SCALE

WASHINGTON STREET

N
 1

8T
H

 A
VE

N
U

E

109
110

111

112

113
114

W WASHINGTON STREET

N
 18TH

 AVEN
U

E

118

T157

T156

DETAIL C
NOT TO SCALE

W WASHINGTON STREET

N
 1

8T
H

 A
VE

N
U

E

122

121

DETAIL D
NOT TO SCALE

102

101

T151
T150

N
 1

8T
H

 A
VE

N
U

E

WASHINGTON STREET

G

G

T158

T159

EASEMENT TO
WE ENERGIES

ELECTRIC
DOC.484571
V.872 P.116

8.0'

8.
0'

101

101

EASEMENT TO
WE ENERGIES
ELECTRIC
DOC.607167
V.1215 P.284

EASEMENT
TO WE
ENERGIES
ELECTIC
DOC.471143
V.837 P.410

SLOPE INT.

SLOPE INT.

117

SLOPE
 INT.

SLOPE INT.

128

129

130

131

124

125

8.
00

'
EA

SE
.T

O
 R

O
W

0.99999733

CITY OF WEST BEND

04/08/24

S
:\
5
1
6
8
9
1
6
\
D
w
g
\
1
4
1
0
-
1
1
-
2
1
\
P
la
t\
1
4
1
0
-
1
1
-
2
2
\
1
8
TH
 
a
n
d
 
R
IV
E
R
.d
w
g
, 
4
.0
4
, 
4
/
1
1
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:2
5
:4
7
 
P
M
, 
F
N
Y

EXHIBIT  1    -    PAGE  4  OF  6 
Relocation Order REV 01 with REVISED PLAT (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23)  Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.a

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

1 
(P

la
t)

  (
R

el
o

ca
ti

o
n

 O
rd

er
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 P
la

t)
-S

af
et

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

at
 3

 in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n
s 

al
o

n
g

 S
T

H
 "

33
")



SEC LN=S88°37'39"E  2640.19'

S89°39'33"W
37.34'

W. WASHINGTON ST(STH 33)

N
. 7

TH
 A

VE

N
. 7

TH
 A

VE

W. WASHINGTON ST(STH33)

203

209

STA 152+76.65 (STH 33) =
34+90.32 (7TH AVE)

X: 361821.597
Y: 185459.369

TO SEC LN:
N00°20'27"W 6.60'

STA 33+49.98
X: 361822.431
Y: 185319.030

STA 152+15.98
X: 361760.958
Y: 185461.283

TO SEC LN:
N01°22'21"E 6.14'

STA 153+97.54
X: 361942.427
Y: 185455.696
TO SEC LN:
N01°22'21"E 7.38'

R/L = S88°35'45"E
R/L = S87°37'54"E R/L = S88°35'06"E

R/
L 

= 
N

00
°2

0'
27

"W

S89°39'33"W
42.66'

S0
1°

22
'2

1"
W

62
.8

5'

100

N. M
AIN ST

S0
1°

22
'2

1"
W

50
.0

0'

49
.2

1'
S0

1°
22

'2
1"

W

PI:152+51.24 PI:153+17.99

PI:156+48.96

STA 33+64.72
X: 361822.344
Y: 185333.769

EL

E

P.
L.

P.L.

SL
O

PE
IN

TE
RC

EP
T

P.L.

BLOCK 3
ORIGINAL PLAT
OF WEST BEND

WISDOT/CADDS SHEET 75

GRID FACTOR E
HWY:

COUNTY: CONSTRUCTION PROJECT NUMBER

STATE R/W PROJECT NUMBERDATEREVISION DATE

0

SCALE, FEET

PS&E
PLOT NAME :  7TH AVENUE.DWGFILE NAME : 4/11/2024 12:27 PMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : YANG, FLASCHE

44

PLAT SHEET    4.

SHEET   
PLOT SCALE :

N.7TH AVE. & WASHINGTON ST.

WASHINGTON COUNTY 1410-11-71

1410-11-2102/02/24

____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

5025
_____

LAYOUT NAME - 4.05

05

CITY OF WEST BEND

Δ

Δ

Δ

SE-SE

NE-NE

R/L = S88°02'09"E

80'
80'

878.71'

1579.93'

28.68'

PARCEL 1
CSM 7131
DOC.1535963
V.55 P.11

8

7

6

5

BLOCK 2

WEIL'S ADD'N

20 10

9

8

7

6
16

17

18

19

3

2

1

6

7

5

4

3

BLOCK 2
ORIGINAL PLAT OF

WEST BEND

BLOCK 3
ORIGINAL PLAT OF

WEST BEND

E

E

204

T254T255

T256T257

T258

100

SLOPE
INTERCEPT

205

N
. 7

 T
H

 A
VE

W. WASHINGTON ST
T250

T253

T252

200

201

T251

W. WASHINGTON ST

N. M
AIN ST

SLOPE
INTERCEPT

GN

SLOPE INT.

210

211

212

213

214

215

BP:30+00.00
X: 361824.513
Y: 184969.057

216
217

218

0.99999733

EP:37+37.00
X: 361820.129
Y: 185706.048

EL

DETAIL NOT TO
SCALE

DETAIL NOT TO
SCALE

DETAIL NOT TO
SCALE

219

220

04/08/24

EXHIBIT  1    -    PAGE  5  OF  6 
Relocation Order REV 01 with REVISED PLAT (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23)  Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.a

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

1 
(P

la
t)

  (
R

el
o

ca
ti

o
n

 O
rd

er
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 P
la

t)
-S

af
et

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

at
 3

 in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n
s 

al
o

n
g

 S
T

H
 "

33
")



100 105

LOT 1
CSM 6219
DOC.1181923
V.46 P.287

LOT 1
CSM 6547
DOC.1355043
V.50 P.15

N
. R

IV
ER

 R
D

E. WASHINGTON ST.(STH33)

S.
 R

IV
ER

 R
D

E. WASHINGTON ST(STH33)

VARIES*

STA 217+03.03
X: 368247.431
Y: 185430.532
TO SEC LN:
N00°18'40"E 9.82'

STA 53+13.02
X: 368096.018
Y: 185182.686
TO SEC LN:
S89°32'36"W 0.16'

A

B

25.00'

40.00'

N89°39'00"E
61.86'

N89°39'00"E

N
00

°1
8'

40
"

9.
82

'

42
.6

9'
N

00
°1

8'
40

"EC

D

64
.8

'
N

00
°1

8'
40

"E

N
00

°0
0'

55
"E

57
.3

4'

STA:215+49.43(STH33) (SEC LN)
X:368093.85
Y:185432.65

E

68.93'

EL

WV

MH

E

E

T
T

T
T

T

T T T T T T

T
T

T
T

T

T T T T T T

VARIES*
*WIDTH

STA 57+71.57(RIVER)
X:368100.275
Y:185441.154

33.01'
S89°32'36"W

25
8.

51
'

STA 56+78.11
X:368099.867
Y:185547.700
TO SEC LN:
S89°39'00"W 6.74'

STA:214+12.77(STH33)
X:367957.187
Y:185432.337
TO SEC LN:
N00°00'55"E 8.89'

*WIDTH

PI:57+50.14

PI:56+94.75

PI:215+67.71

PI:217+08.28

PI:219+57.07

PI:212+75.11

PI:53+71.00

WISDOT/CADDS SHEET 75

GRID FACTOR E
HWY:

COUNTY: CONSTRUCTION PROJECT NUMBER

STATE R/W PROJECT NUMBERDATEREVISION DATE

0

SCALE, FEET

PS&E
PLOT NAME :  18TH AND RIVER.DWGFILE NAME : 4/11/2024 12:30 PMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : YANG, FLASCHE

44

PLAT SHEET    4.06

SHEET   

GN

PLOT SCALE :

S.RIVER RD. & WASHINGTON ST.

WASHINGTON COUNTY 1410-11-73

1410-11-2302/02/24

____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

_____________
_____________
_____________
_____________

5025
_____

LAYOUT NAME - 4.06

Δ

Δ

Δ

Δ

Δ

Δ

Δ

Δ

SW-SW

NW-NW
NE-NE

SE-SE

100'

R/L=N89°52'08"ER/L=N89°52'08"E R/L=S89°05'07"E R/L=N89°16'40"E R/L = N89°16'40"E

153.71'

10
1.

32
'

R/
L 

= 
N

00
°3

9'
23

"W
R/

L 
= 

N
01

°4
3'

13
"E

R/
L 

= 
N

00
°1

3'
10

"W

R/
L 

=
N

07
°4

0'
59

"W

R/
L 

= 
N

00
°1

3'
10

"W

SEC LN= S89°41'20"E 2723.63'SEC LN =  N89°59'05"W 2633.31'

SE
C 

LN
 =

  S
00

°2
7'

34
"E

 2
65

3.
48

'
MILWAUKEE RIVER

MILWAUKEE RIVER

DETAIL A
NOT TO SCALE

315

314

T3
67

T366

DETAIL B
NOT TO SCALE

304305

306

T354
T355

T356

T358307

T357

P.L.

P.L.

P.
L.

P.L.

PL

PL

DETAIL C
NOT TO SCALE

DETAIL D
NOT TO SCALE

311
310

309

T363
T362

T364T365

301

302

100105

T350

T351 T352
T353

TT

T

EE

EASEMENT AS
SHOWN ON
CSM 6219, WE
ENERGIES
ELECTRIC, AT&T
SPECTRUM
DOC.818632

PERM. LIMITED
EASEMENT
DOC. 795950

SLO
PE

INT.

SLOPE
INT.

SLOPE INT.

317P.L.

P.
L.

0.99999733

SE
C 

LN
 =

  N
00

°2
1'

00
"W

 2
64

8.
81

'

CITY OF WEST BEND
DETAIL E
NOT TO SCALE

T308T369

368

T361

SLO
PE

INT.

T368
T361

136.59'

106.47'

P.L.

P.
L.

P.
L.

P.L.

P.L.

SLOPE
INTERCEPT

P.L.

P.L.

P.
L.

P.
L.

SLO
PE IN

T.

SLOPE
INTERCEPT

SLOPE
INTERCEPT

SLOPE
INTERCEPT

04/08/24

EXHIBIT  1    -    PAGE  6  OF  6 
Relocation Order REV 01 with REVISED PLAT (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23)  Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.a

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

1 
(P

la
t)

  (
R

el
o

ca
ti

o
n

 O
rd

er
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 P
la

t)
-S

af
et

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

at
 3

 in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n
s 

al
o

n
g

 S
T

H
 "

33
")



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 1 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 3176 recorded in Document No. 523083 
in the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 10, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Southeast corner of said Southeast 1/4; thence North 00°20’12” 
West, on and along the East line of said Southeast 1/4, 94.15 feet to a point; thence 
South 89°39’48” West, 50.00 feet to the east line o f said Lot 2 and the point of 
beginning; thence South 00°20’12” East, on and alon g said east line, 12.89 feet; thence 
South 45°24’29” West, on and along said east line, 27.92 feet to a point on the south 
line of said Lot 2; thence North 88°53’39” West, on  and along said south line, 12.90 feet; 
thence North 45°24’29” East, 45.92 feet to the poin t of beginning. 

This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 
This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0078 acres, more or less.  
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  1  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 2 
                                                        Page 1 of 2 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Fee Title in and to the following tract of land in Washington County, State of Wisconsin, 
described as follows: 
 
That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 6320 recorded in Document No. 1231784 
in the Southwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 11, Town 11 North, Range 19 
East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Southwest 1/4; thence North 00°20’12” 
West, on and along the West line of said Southwest 1/4, 65.41 feet to a point; thence 
North 89°39’48” East, 50.00 feet to a point on the West line of said Lot 2 and the point 
of beginning; thence South 53°17’21” East, 20.74 fe et to a point; thence South 
88°26’43” East, 146.64 feet to a point; thence Sout h 86°42’00” East, 70.86 feet to a 
point; thence South 79°34’30” East, 55.69 feet to a  point on the south line of said Lot 2; 
thence North 88°30’12” West, on and along said sout h line, 16.76 feet; thence North 
82°50’32” West, on and along said south line, 60.83  feet; thence North 88°30’12” West 
on and along said south line, 195.00 feet to a point on the southwest line of said Lot 2; 
thence North 53°17’21” West on and along said south west line, 20.76 feet to a point on 
the west line of said Lot 2; thence North 00°20’12”  West on and along said west line, 
5.01 feet to the point of beginning. 

This parcel contains 0.0290 acres, more or less, of land. 
 
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 6320 recorded in Document No. 1231784 
in the Southwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 11, Town 11 North, Range 19 
East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Southwest 1/4; thence North 00°20’12” 
West, on and along the West line of said Southwest 1/4, 65.41 feet to a point; thence 
North 89°39’48” East, 50.00 feet to a point on the West line of said Lot 2 and the point 
of beginning; thence North 00°20’12” West on and al ong said West line, 6.26 feet to a 
point; thence South 53°17’21” East, 14.24 feet to a  point; thence South 88°26’43” East, 
152.23 feet to a point; thence South 82°41’45” East , 71.57 feet to a point; thence South 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  2  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 2 
                                                        Page 2 of 2 

 

79°34’30” East, 82.92 feet to a point; thence Sorth  01°34’27” West, 0.76 feet to a point 
on the South line of said Lot 2; thence North 88°30 ’12” West on and along said South 
line, 27.37 feet to a point; thence North 79°34’30”  West on and along said South line, 
55.69 feet to a point; thence North 86°42’00” West on and along said South line, 70.86 
feet to a point; thence North 88°26’43” West on and  along said South line, 146.64 feet 
to a point; thence North 53°17’21” West, 20.74 feet  to the point of beginning. 

This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 
This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0568 acres, more or less.  
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  3  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 3 
                                                        Page 1 of 2 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Fee Title in and to the following tract of land in Washington County, State of Wisconsin, 
described as follows: 
 
That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 7175 recorded in Document No. 1548589 
in the Northwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 14, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of said Northwest 1/4; thence South 88°30’12” 
East, on and along the North line of said Northwest 1/4, 92.80 feet to a point; thence 
South 01°29’48” West, 50.00 feet to a point on the North line of said Lot 1 and also 
being the point of beginning; thence South 01°29’48 ” West, 4.00 feet to a point; thence 
North 88°30’12” West, 24.97 feet to a point on the Northwest line of said Lot 1; thence 
North 33°39’55” East on and along said Northwest li ne, 4.73 feet to a point on said 
North line; thence South 88°30’12” East, 22.45 feet  to the point of beginning. 

Also, 

Commencing at the Northwest corner of said Northwest 1/4; thence South 88°30’12” 
East, on and along the North line of said Northwest 1/4, 92.80 feet to a point; thence 
South 01°29’48” West, 54.00 feet to a point; thence  North 88°30’12” West, 24.97 feet to 
a point on the Northwest line of said Lot 1; thence South 33°39’55” East on and along 
said Northwest line, 22.32 feet to the point of beginning; thence South 00°01’30” East, 
24.55 feet to a point; thence South 89°58’30” West,  4.00 feet to a point on the West line 
of said Lot 1; thence North 00°01’30” West on and a long said West line, 18.55 feet to a 
point on said Northwest line; thence North 33°39’55 ” East on and along said Northwest 
line, 7.21 feet to the point of beginning. 

These parcels contain 0.0042 acres, more or less, of land. 
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 7175 recorded in Document No. 1548589 
in the Northwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 14, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  4  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 3 
                                                        Page 2 of 2 

 

Commencing at the Northwest corner of said Northwest 1/4; thence South 88°30’12” 
East, on and along the North line of said Northwest 1/4, 92.80 feet to a point; thence 
South 01°29’48” West, 54.00 feet to the point of be ginning; thence South 41°18’19” 
West, 56.54 feet to a point; thence North 00°01’30”  West, 24.55 feet to a point on the 
Northwest line of said Lot 1; thence North 33°39’55 ” East on and along said Northwest 
line, 22.32 feet to a point; thence South 88°30’12”  East, 24.97 feet to the point of 
beginning. 

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0159 acres, more or less.  
 
This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  5  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 4 
                                                        Page 1 of 2 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
 
Fee Title in and to the following tract of land in Washington County, State of Wisconsin, 
described as follows: 
 
That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 2270 recorded in Document No. 428167 
in the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 15, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Northeast 1/4; thence South 00°01’30” 
East, on and along the East line of said Northeast 1/4, 94.32 feet to a point; thence 
South 89°58’30” West, 50.00 feet to the East line o f said Lot 1 also being the point of 
beginning; thence North 43°43’34” West, 51.16 feet to a point on the North line of said 
Lot 1; thence South 88°53’39” East on and along sai d North line, 4.23 feet to a point on 
the Northeast line of said Lot 1; thence South 43°4 3’34” East on and along said 
Northeast line, 45.04 feet to a point on said East line; thence South 00°01’30” East on 
and along said East line, 4.34 feet to the point of beginning. 

This parcel contains 0.0033 acres, more or less.  
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 2270 recorded in Document No. 428167 
in the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 15, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Northeast 1/4; thence South 00°01’30” 
East, on and along the East line of said Northeast 1/4, 94.32 feet to a point; thence 
South 89°58’30” West, 50.00 feet to the point of be ginning; thence South 00°01’30” East 
on and along the East line of Lot 1, 7.24 feet to a point; thence North 43°43’34” West, 
61.37 feet to a point on the North line of said Lot 1; thence South 88°53’39” East on and 
along said North line, 7.05 feet to a point on the Northeast line of said Lot 1; thence 
South 43°43’34” East on and along said Northeast li ne, 51.16 feet to the point of 
beginning. 

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0065 acres, more or less. 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  6  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-22                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 4 
                                                        Page 2 of 2 

 

This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  7  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-21                                     02/02/20234 Parcel 5 
                                                        Page 1 of 2 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Fee Title in and to the following tract of land in Washington County, State of Wisconsin, 
described as follows: 
 
That part of Parcel 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 7131 recorded in Document No. 
1535963 in the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 11, Town 11 North, 
Range 19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Southeast corner of said Southeast 1/4; thence North 88°37’39” 
West, on and along the South line of said Southeast 1/4, 907.39 feet to a point; thence 
North 01°22’21” East, 62.85 feet to a point on the South line of said Parcel 1 and the 
point of beginning; thence North 23°28’10” West, on  and along said south line, 7.72 feet 
to the beginning of a curve; thence Southeasterly, on and along the arc of a curve 9.10 
feet, whose center lies to the Northeast and whose radius is 59.00 feet, and whose 
chord bears South 53°19’27” East, 9.09 feet to a po int on said South line; thence South 
68°34’43” West, 4.53 feet to the point of beginning . 
 
This parcel contains 0.0004 acres, more or less.  
 

A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including 
for such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Parcel 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 7131 recorded in Document No. 
1535963 in the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 11, Town 11 North, 
Range 19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Southeast corner of said Southeast 1/4; thence North 88°37’39” 
West, on and along the South line of said Southeast 1/4, 907.39 feet to a point; thence 
North 01°22’21” East, 62.85 feet to a point on the South line of said Parcel 1; thence 
North 23°28’10” West, 7.72 feet to the point of beg inning; thence North 23°28’10” West, 
25.38 feet on and along said South line; thence South 76°19’56” East, 199.32 feet to a 
point on the East line of said Parcel 1; thence South 23°34’40” East on and along said 
East line, 5.00 feet to a point on the South line of Parcel 1; thence North 88°37’50” West 
on and along said South line, 5.53 feet to a point; thence North 82°52’52” West on and 
along said South line, 66.54 feet to a point; thence North 84°39’55” West on and along 
said South line, 24.91 feet to a point; thence North 86°26’58” West on and along said 
South line, 4.74 feet to a point; thence North 72°0 5’48” West on and along said South 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  8  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-21                                     02/02/20234 Parcel 5 
                                                        Page 2 of 2 

 

line, 62.10 feet to a point; thence South 68°34’43”  West on and along said South line, 
19.44 feet to the beginning of a curve; thence Northwesterly, on and along the arc of a 
curve 9.10 feet, whose center lies to the Northeast and whose radius is 59.00 feet, and 
whose chord bears Nouth 53°19’27” Wast, 9.09 feet t o the point of beginning.  

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0597 acres, more or less.  
 
This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  9  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-21                                     02/02/20234 Parcel 6 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Block 3, Original Plat of West Bend in the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 
1/4 of Section 14, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington 
County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of said Northwest 1/4; thence South 88°37’39” 
East on and along the North line of said Northeast 1/4, 1579.93 feet to a point; thence 
South 01°22’21” West, 50.00 feet to a point on the North line of said Block 3; thence 
South 56°43’22” East on and along said North line, 29.57 feet to a point on the East line 
of Block 3; thence South 00°18’57” East on and alon g said East line, 17.66 feet to a 
point; thence North 89°00’15” West, 7.00 feet to a point; thence North 00°18’57” West, 
13.75 feet to a point; thence North 87°51’46” West,  18.03 feet to a point; thence North 
33°24’42” West, 23.56 feet to a point on the North line of said Block 3; thence South 
88°37’39” East on and along said North line,13.24 f eet to the point of beginning. 

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0118 acres, more or less.  
 
The above easement expires at the completion of the construction project for which this 
instrument is given.  
 
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  10  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-21                                     02/02/20234 Parcel 7 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Block 2, in the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 14, Town 11 
North, Range 19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as 
follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said ; thence North 88°37’39” West, on and 
along the North line of said Northeast 1/4, 878.71 feet to a point; thence South 
01°22’21” West, 49.21 feet to the Northwest line of  said Block 2 and point of beginning; 
thence South 23°34’40” East, 5.32 feet to the begin ning of a curve; thence 
Southwesterly, on and along the arc of a curve 70.62 feet, whose center lies to the 
Southeast and whose radius is 60.79 feet, and whose chord bears South 54°01’20” 
West, 66.72 feet; thence South 20°44’34” West, 7.83  feet to a point; thence North 
69°15’26” West, 5.00 feet to a point on said Northw est line; thence North 20°44’34” 
East, on and along said Northwest line of Block 2, 7.83 feet to the beginning of a curve; 
thence Northeasterly, on and along the arc of a curve of said Northwest line, 74.29 feet 
along the arc of said curve, whose center lies to the Southeast and whose radius is 
67.63 feet, and chord bears North 53°11’47” East 70 .61 feet to the point of beginning. 

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0089 acres, more or less.  
 
The above easement expires at the completion of the construction project for which this 
instrument is given.  
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  11  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-23                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 8 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including 
for such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 6219 recorded in Document No. 1181923 
in the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 12, Town 11 North, Range 19 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Southeast corner of said Southeast 1/4; thence North 00°21’00” 
West, on and along the East line of said Southeast 1/4, 101.32 feet to a point; thence 
South 89°39’00” West, 68.93 feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1 and the point 
of beginning; thence South 10°57’29” West, on and a long said East line 5.46 feet; 
thence South 44°17’38” West on and along said East line, 44.88 feet to a point on the 
South line of said Lot 1; thence South 83°29’57” We st, 4.75 feet to a point; thence North 
44°17’38” East, 53.12 feet to the point of beginnin g.  

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0034 acres, more or less.  
 
This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  12  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



 

1410-11-23                                     02/02/2024  Parcel 9 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including 
for such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 6547 recorded in Document No. 1355043 
in the Southwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 7, Town 11 North, Range 20 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Southwest 1/4; thence North 00°21’00” 
West, on and along the West line of said Southwest 1/4, 106.47 feet to a point; thence 
North 89°39’00” East, 61.86 feet to the West line o f said Lot 1 and point of beginning; 
thence South 44°12’44” East, 55.21 feet to a point;  thence North 89°49’21” East, 12.72 
feet to a point; thence South 00°10’39” East, 3.48 feet to a point on the South line of 
said Lot 1; thence South 89°49’21” West on and alon g said South line, 16.31 feet to a 
point; thence North 44°12’44” West on and along sai d South line, 45.47 feet to a point 
on the West line of Lot 1; thence North 17°02’50” W est, 10.95 feet to the point of 
beginning 

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0069 acres, more or less.  
 
This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  13  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-23                                     02/02/20234 Parcel 11 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including 
for such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

In the Northwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 18, Town 11 North, Range 20 East, 
in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of said Northwest 1/4; thence South 89°41’20” 
East, on and along the North line of said Northwest 1/4, 153.71 feet to a point; thence 
South 00°18’40” West, 52.51 feet to the south right -of-way line of West Washington 
Street and point of beginning; thence South 00°27’1 6” East, 5.02 feet to a point; thence 
South 84°18’32” West, 57.38 feet to a point on said  south right of way line; thence North 
44°44’28” East, on and along said south right of wa y line, 7.85 feet to a point; thence 
North 84°18’32” East, on and along said South line 51.79 feet to the point of beginning. 

Also, 

Commencing at the Northwest corner of said Northwest 1/4; thence South 89°41’20” 
East on and along the North line of said Northwest 1/4, 153.71 feet to a point; thence 
South 00°18’40” West, 52.51 feet to the South right -of-way line of West Washington 
Street; thence South 00°27’16” East, 5.02 feet to a  point; thence South 84°18’32” West, 
57.38 feet to a point; thence South 44°44’28” West,  57.16 feet to the point of beginning; 
thence South 14°50’01” West, 17.99 feet to a point;  thence North 86°11’09” West, 5.00 
feet to a point on the East right-of-way line of South River Road; thence North 04°47’59” 
East on and along said East line, 8.08 feet to a point; thence North 44°44’28” East, on 
and along said East line, 12.67 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0080 acres, more or less. 
 
All TLE's expire at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument is 
given. 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  14  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-23                                     02/02/2024  Parcel 12 
                                                        Page 1 of 1 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including 
for such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of City of West Bend in the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 13, 
Town 11 North, Range 19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, 
described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Northeast 1/4; thence South 00°27’34” 
East on and along the East line of said Northeast 1/4, 258.51 feet to a point; thence 
South 89°32’26” West, 33.01 feet to a point on the West right-of-way line of S. River 
Road; thence South 84°15’46” West, 5.00 feet to a p oint; thence North 05°44’14” West, 
141.91 feet to a point; thence North 88°13’30” East , 5.16 feet to a point on said West 
line; thence South 05°40’43” East on and along said  West right of way line, 141.56 feet 
to the point of beginning. 

This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0165 acres, more or less.  
 
This TLE expires at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument 
is given. 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  15  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-23                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 13 
                                                        Page 1 of 2 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Fee Title in and to the following tract of land in Washington County, State of Wisconsin, 
described as follows: 
 
That part of the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 13, Town 11 North, Range 
19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Northeast 1/4; thence North 89°59’05” 
West, on and along the North line of said Northeast 1/4, 136.59 feet to a point; thence 
South 00°00’55” West, 57.34 feet to a point on the south right-of-way line of West 
Washington Street and the point of beginning; thence South 87°13’56” East, on and 
along said south right of way line, 33.55 feet to a point; thence South 46°39’02” East, on 
and along said south right of way line, 5.91 feet to a point; thence North 81°27’46” West, 
38.23 feet to the point of beginning. 

This parcel contains 0.0015 acres, more or less, of land. 
 
 
A Temporary Limited Easement for the right to construct side slopes, including for 
such purpose the right to operate the necessary equipment thereon and the right of 
ingress and egress as long as required for such public purpose, including the right to 
preserve, protect, remove, or plant thereon any vegetation that the highway authorities 
may deem necessary or desirable, in and to the following tract of land in Washington 
County, State of Wisconsin, described as follows: 

That part of the Northeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 13, Town 11 North, Range 
19 East, in the City of West Bend, Washington County, described as follows: 

 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Northeast 1/4; thence North 89°59’05” 
West, on and along the North line of said Northeast 1/4, 136.59 feet to a point; thence 
South 00°00’55” West, 57.34 feet to a point on the South right-of-way line of West 
Washington Street also being the point of beginning; thence South 81°27’46” East, on 
and along said South right of way line, 38.23 feet to a point; thence South 46°39’02” 
East, 8.76 feet to a point; thence North 81°27’46” West, 60.14 feet to a point; thence 
North 00°34’05” West, 3.50 feet to a point on said South right-of-way line; thence South 
87°13’56” East on and along said South line 15.35 f eet to the point of beginning 

Also,  
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Northeast 1/4; thence North 89°59’05” 
West, on and along the North line of said Northeast 1/4, 136.59 feet to a point; thence 
South 00°00’55” West, 57.34 feet to a point on the South right-of-way line of 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  16  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g



1410-11-23                                     02/02/2023  Parcel 13 
                                                        Page 2 of 2 

 

Washington Street; thence South 81°27’46” East, on and along said South line, 38.23 
feet to a point; thence South 46°39’02” East on and  along said South line, 65.59 feet to 
the point of beginning; thence South 46°39’02” East  continuing along said South line, 
7.86 feet to a point on the West right-of-way line of South River Road; thence South 
05°40’43” East on and along said West line, 4.53 fe et to a point; thence South 88°13’30” 
West, on and along the Southeast property line of parcel 13, 5.16 feet to a point; thence 
North 05°44’14” West, 10.12 feet to the point of be ginning. 
 
This Temporary Limited Easement contains 0.0071 acres, more or less.  
 
All TLE's expire at the completion of the construction project for which this instrument is 
given. 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT  2    -    Legal Descriptions (there is no parcel 10)    -    PAGE  17  OF  17 
Relocation Order REV 01 (HSIP 02 - 1410-11-21, -22, -23) 

Safety Improvements at intersections along Washington Street (STH 33)

7.b

Packet Pg. 168

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
L

O
C

 O
R

D
E

R
 -

 2
02

4-
05

-0
6 

- 
E

xh
ib

it
 0

2 
(L

eg
al

s)
  (

R
el

o
ca

ti
o

n
 O

rd
er

 (
R

ev
is

ed
 P

la
t)

-S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
at

 3
 in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

s 
al

o
n

g


	Agenda Packet
	Call to Order
	Roll Call

	Approval of Minutes
	1. Minutes of Apr 15, 2024 6:25 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Apr 15, 2024 6:25 PM


	Agenda Items for Consideration
	2. Storm Water Maintenance Agreement - W24-01 - N Dulge
	Printout: Storm Water Maintenance Agreement - W24-01 - N Dulge
	a. W24-01 - SW Maintenance Agreement - Signed by Owner

	3. Award C24-09 Crack and joint filling of pavements
	Printout: Award C24-09 Crack and joint filling of pavements
	a. C24-09 - MAP
	b. C24-09 - Award - FORM

	4. Cabin -Ridge Run -Perm to Bid
	Printout: Cabin -Ridge Run -Perm to Bid

	5. Water Utility Rate Review
	Printout: Water Utility Rate Review
	a. West Bend Water Rate Study Handout 4.24.24
	b. West Bend Water Rate Study Report - Test Year 2024 - FINAL DRAFT 04242024

	6. Sewer Utility Rate Review
	Printout: Sewer Utility Rate Review
	a. West Bend Sewer Rate Study Handout 4.24.24
	b. West Bend Sewer Utility Forecasted Rate Study Report FINAL DRAFT 04242024

	7. Relocation Order (Revised Plat)-Safety Improvement at 3 intersections along STH "33"
	Printout: Relocation Order (Revised Plat)-Safety Improvement at 3 intersections along STH "33"
	a. RELOC ORDER - 2024-05-06 - Exhibit 01 (Plat)
	b. RELOC ORDER - 2024-05-06 - Exhibit 02 (Legals)


	Adjourn

	Appendix
	1 · Minutes of Apr 15, 2024 6:25 PM
	2 · Storm Water Maintenance Agreement - W24-01 - N Dulge
	2.a · W24-01 - SW Maintenance Agreement - Signed by Owner

	3 · Award C24-09 Crack and joint filling of pavements
	3.a · C24-09 - MAP
	3.b · C24-09 - Award - FORM

	4 · Cabin -Ridge Run -Perm to Bid
	5 · Water Utility Rate Review
	5.a · West Bend Water Rate Study Handout 4.24.24
	5.b · West Bend Water Rate Study Report - Test Year 2024 - FINAL DRAFT 04242024

	6 · Sewer Utility Rate Review
	6.a · West Bend Sewer Rate Study Handout 4.24.24
	6.b · West Bend Sewer Utility Forecasted Rate Study Report FINAL DRAFT 04242024

	7 · Relocation Order (Revised Plat)-Safety Improvement at 3 intersections along STH "33"
	7.a · RELOC ORDER - 2024-05-06 - Exhibit 01 (Plat)
	7.b · RELOC ORDER - 2024-05-06 - Exhibit 02 (Legals)



